### Players' Awareness of and Engagement with GameSense in Massachusetts Casinos

Michael J. A. Wohl

Gray E. Gaudett

Christopher G. Davis

Nassim Tabri

Carleton University

Reference as:

Wohl, M. J. A., Gaudett, G. E., Davis, C. G., & Tabri, N. (2023). Players' awareness of and engagement with GameSense in Massachusetts casinos [Report]. Massachusetts Gaming Commission.

# **Table of Contents**

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Responsible Gambling and Responsible Gambling Programing	3
1.2 Predicting Awareness and Engagement with GameSense: Disordered Gambling Symptomatology and Positive Play	5
2. Overview of Current Research	7
3. Methods & Results	9
3.1 Method and Results Structure	9
3.2 Recruitment	10
3.3 Sample Characteristics	11
3.4 Possible correlates of awareness and engagement with GameSense	12
3.4.1. Disordered Gambling Symptomology	12
3.4.2 Positive Play	13
3.4.3. Frequency of casino gambling in Massachusetts	14
3.4.4 Associations between measured variables and sample characteristics	15
4. Assessment of GameSense	15
4.1. GameSense Awareness	16
4.1.1 Perceived purpose of GameSense	17
4.2 Perceived target audience for GameSense	18
4.3 Engagement with GameSense	20
4.3.1 Reasons for visiting.	20
4.3.2 Reasons for not visiting	24
4.3.3 Comparison between those who visited and those who did not visit	29
4.4 Interactions with a GSA	30
5. Discussion	33
5.1 Awareness and Perceptions About GameSense	34
5.2 Engagement with GameSense	37
5.3 Recommendations	40
5.4 Limitations	43
5.5 Conclusion	44
References	46

Table 1. Demographic Characteristics. 11
Table 2. Proportion of Play on Different Games per Visit. 14
Table 3. Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations Between the Sample Characteristics
Variables
Table 4. Where Respondents Heard About GameSense. 16
Table 5. Comparison of Patrons who Were and Were not Aware of GameSense. 17
Table 6. Purposes of GameSense. 18
Table 7. Perceived Target Audience for GameSense. 19
Table 8. Reasons for Visiting a GSIC. 21
Table 9. Percent of Respondents who Affirmed Each Reason for Visiting a GSIC.      22
Table 10. Associations with Group Membership for Those who Visited a GSIC.    24
Table 11. Age Category by Group Membership Among Those who Visited a GSIC.    24
Table 12. Reasons for not Visiting a GSIC. 25
Table 13. Proportion of Respondents who Affirmed Each Reason for not Visiting a GSIC by Group.
Table 14. Between Group Differences Among Those who did not Visit a GSIC. 28
Table 15. Potential Reasons for Visiting a GSIC Among Those who had not yet Visited one29
Table 16. Perceived Outcome of Interacting with GSAs. 31
Table 17. Comparison of Patrons who had and had not Interacted with GameSense.    33

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Results of the Latent Class Analysis Examining Reasons for Visiting Ga	meSense with
Two Groups	23
Figure 2. Results of the Latent Class Analysis Examining Reasons for not Visiting	GameSense
with Three Groups	27

# List of Appendices

Appendix A: Supplemental Information about the Latent Class Analyses	.57
Appendix B: Recruitment Email and Survey	.59

### Authorship and acknowledgements

### Authorship

**Dr. Michael J. A. Wohl**, Professor of Psychology at Carleton University. Work in his Carleton University Gambling Laboratory (CUGL) focuses on, among other things, factors that predict disordered gambling (e.g., erroneous beliefs, financial focus), facilitators of responsible gambling (e.g., monetary limit setting and adherence), and means to overcome barriers to behavior change (e.g., nostalgia for life lived before the addictive behavior took hold). Members of CUGL also examine the potential pitfalls and possible harm-minimization utility of rewards program membership. Dr. Wohl is the lead author of this report.

**Gray E. Gaudett** is a Master's student in Psychology under the supervision of Dr. Michael Wohl. Their research interests include factors that predict and maintain recovery from an addictive behavior and effective treatment programming. They contributed to all sections of the report.

**Dr. Christopher G. Davis**, Professor of Psychology at Carleton University. Dr. Davis' research lies at the intersection of social, personality and health psychology. In general terms, he explores the social, contextual, and personality factors that influence our psychological health. Relevant to the present context, he studies the psychological factors that affect gambling and substance use behavior. With respect to this report, he was responsible for data analysis and the production tables and figures, editing drafts of the report, and provided analytic and other support.

**Dr. Nassim Tabri**, Associate Professor of Psychology at Carleton University. Work in his Mental Health and Addictions Laboratory focuses on transdiagnostic risk and maintenance factors for health-compromising behaviors, with a focus on disordered gambling and eating. Another focus of the Mental Health and Addictions Laboratory is on the role of money and financial success in the etiology and maintenance of disordered gambling. Dr. Tabri's contributions to this report included data analysis and the production tables and figures, reviewing drafts of the report, as well as providing analytic and other support.

### Acknowledgements

Financial support for this study comes from the Massachusetts Gaming Commission (RFR 20211222).

Data could not have been collected without the support and cooperation of all three casino operators in Massachusetts (MGM Resorts International, Wynn Resorts, & Penn Entertainment). Specific thanks go out to Daniel Miller (Director of Compliance, MGM Springfield), Lisa McKenny (Compliance Manager, Plainridge Park Casino), and Jacqui Krum (Senior Vice President and General Counsel, Encore Boston Harbor).

Special thanks to the Massachusetts Council on Gaming and Health (specific mention to Marlene Warner and Chelsea Turner) as well as all the GameSense Advisors (specific mention to Ray Fluettes) for reviewing the survey and all their feedback and assistance along the way.

Lastly, thank you to Bonnie Andrews, Long Banh, and Mark Vander Linden for all that you have done to ensure that this project was successful from start to finish. To say you three are responsible gambling champions is an understatement.

### **Executive Summary**

### What was the purpose of this evaluation of GameSense?

The study assessed awareness, perceptions, and engagement with the GameSense program in Massachusetts from the players' perspective. The focus was on players' 1) perceptions of the GameSense program (including its purpose and target audience), 2) engagement with GameSense via visits to GameSense Information Centers (GSICs), and 3) interactions with GameSense Advisors (GSAs). This executive summary provides a comprehensive overview of the key findings and implications of the study.

The current report presents the results of the first of four evaluations conducted by the current research team on awareness, perceptions, and engagement with GameSense. Subsequent reports focus on casino employees and GSAs, and the role they play in facilitating responsible gambling (RG) among players.

### How were data collected and analyzed?

**Recruitment.** A sample of 1109 regular patrons (i.e., people who visited one of the three casinos at least three times in the last three months and spent at least \$100) was recruited through email invitations sent to regular casino patrons enrolled in the rewards program. In contrast to previous evaluations of GameSense, we only recruited regular patrons because they more accurately represent patrons who are actively involved in the gambling environment and so have a higher likelihood of encountering RG initiatives. The survey was conducted from October 19 to December 2, 2022.

**Data analysis.** The study included two stages of analysis to examine awareness, perceptions, and engagement with the GameSense program. In the first stage, we describe the sample characteristics, including demographic information and frequency of visits to the casino. In the second stage, we evaluated the knowledge and uptake of GameSense among respondents. This included assessing awareness of GameSense, players' perceptions of the program (such as perceived purpose and target audience), and engagement with GameSense by way of visits to GSICs, reasons for visiting or not visiting, interactions with GSAs, and perceived impact of those interactions. Latent class analyses (LCAs) were conducted to identify distinct subgroups and explore their associations with disordered gambling symptoms, positive play, and frequency of visits. We also collected data that assessed disordered gambling symptomatology and positive play. We assessed the these as possible correlates of awareness, perceptions, and engagement with GameSense.

### What did we find?

Awareness and Perceived Purpose of GameSense. Most respondents (73.1%; n = 811) were aware of GameSense, with a clear majority of these respondents reporting that GameSense

helps educate players about RG (84.2%; n = 683), provides RG tools (70.4%; n = 571), and offers support for gambling-related problems (70.4%; n = 571). A lower percentage of respondents were aware of GameSense's role in helping players understand how games work (19.9%; n = 161) and dispelling gambling-related myths (25.8%; n = 209).

**Perceived Target Audience for GameSense.** Most respondents (71.7%; n = 728) believed GameSense was created for people who have trouble controlling their gambling. Just over half of the respondents (53.8%; n = 529) correctly considered GameSense to be relevant to all people who gamble.

**Engagement with GameSense Information Centers (GSICs).** A small percentage of respondents reported visiting a GSIC (17.6%; n = 195), with the most common reasons being stumbling upon it (55.5%; n = 106) or out of curiosity (47.1%; n = 90). Reasons for not visiting included already having knowledge about how games work (50.9%; n = 398), familiarity with PlayMyWay (50.5%; n = 395), and not being explicitly asked to visit (58.4%; n = 457). Importantly, a large proportion of respondents who did not visit expressed interest in visiting a GSIC to learn more about RG (48.2%; n = 387), PlayMyWay (42.7%; n = 340), and supports for problem gaming (40.7%; n = 324).

Through the LCA, we identified two distinct groups of patrons who visited a GSIC. The first group (N = 67) visited primarily because they were curious or for swag. Consequently, we labeled this group "Curiosity and Swag Inspired". Those in Group 2 (N = 124), the larger of the two groups, visited to get an array of information (about responsible gambling and problematic gambling). Consequently, we labeled this group "Information Seekers". Information Seekers tended to be older than those who were Curiosity and Swag Inspired.

A second LCA was conducted on those who had not visited a GSIC. This analysis identified three distinct groups of patrons. Those in Group 1 (N = 248) did not visit because they were not explicitly invited to do so. We labeled these patrons "Invitation-Responsive". Those in Groups 2 (N = 132) and 3 (N = 402) felt that they already understood all that GameSense had to offer. What distinguished those in Group 2 from those in Group 3 was that those in Group 2 also held negative view of GameSense and GSA's ability to help players with their gambling. Additionally, over 50% of those in Group 2 do not agree with the presence of GameSense at the casino. Consequently, we labeled those in Group 2 "Self-Assured Non-Believers" and those in Group 3 "Self-Assured". Importantly, the Self-Assured Non-Believers group was the smallest of the three groups, and there was near 0% endorsement of the idea that GameSense and GSAs don't help players among the Invitation-Responsive and Self-Assured respondents. Self-Assured respondents tended to score higher in all aspects of positive play (Gambling Literary, Personal Responsibility, Honesty and Control, And Pre-Commitment) and lower in disordered gambling symptoms compared to either Invitation-Responsive or Self-Assured Non-Believers. This result suggests that those who in the Self-Assured group may, in fact, both know about RG and engage in it, and thus, may have less need for GameSense than those in the other groups. There were no between group differences in the distribution of age or gender.

Of importance for the Massachusetts Gaming Commission (MGC) and GSAs for advancing engagement with GameSense will be differentiating between people who express that

they do not need GameSense because they are already positive players (as may be the case among the Self-Assured) and those who express a similar sentiment erroneously (as may be the case among the Self-Assured Non-Believers). In fact, the Self-Assured Non-Believers may be at the greatest risk for gambling-related problems yet may be the most reticent to engage with GameSense.

### Interactions with GameSense Advisors (GSAs) and Perceived Impact of

**Interactions.** Among respondents who had interacted with a GSA (16.3%; n = 181), most reported having simple interactions (i.e., a short, communication with a GSA about issues unrelated to gaming; 78.5%; n = 142), while fewer reported demonstrations (i.e., a longer, communication from a GSA about how a game, RG tool, or concept works; 34.3%; n = 62) or exchanges (i.e., a two-way communication with a GSA about RG or problem gaming; 28.7%; n = 52). Notably, respondents who had demonstrations or exchanges felt more informed about RG compared to those who had only simple interactions.

Interaction with GameSense, Disordered Gambling Symptomatology and Positive Play. Respondents who had engaged with GameSense (through a visit to a GSICs or interaction with a GSA) had higher scores on the disordered gambling symptomatology scale (Problem Gambling Severity Index [PGSI]) and visited a casino in Massachusetts more frequently compared to those who had no interaction. Respondents who interacted with GameSense tended to accept less personal responsibility for their gambling and were less likely to engage in precommitment (i.e., set a limit on the amount of money they are willing to lose prior to initiating a gambling session) than those who had not interacted with GameSense. It is possible that players who engage with GameSense are doing so to help them gamble more responsibly or to seek assistance with a gambling problem.

### What are some take home messages?

- 1. Although there is a high level of awareness about GameSense, there is still room for improvement and there is a need for increased education about the comprehensive functions of GameSense.
- 2. There is a potential gap in understanding the inclusive nature of GameSense and the importance of its services for all individuals engaged in gambling activities. Efforts should be made to address this misperception and ensure that the program reaches its intended target audience effectively.
- 3. There is potential for GSICs to serve as valuable educational and supportive resources for individuals engaged in gambling activities.
- 4. There is evidence that GSAs provide a valuable service, particularly when they engage directly with patrons one-on-one. Relative to respondents reporting only simple interactions or demonstrations, those who reported exchanges with GSAs

reported enhanced knowledge about RG and were more likely to encourage others to speak with a GSA.

- 5. The majority of respondents, whether they had already engaged with GameSense or had yet to do so, expressed a positive view of the program. Only a small proportion (12%) of those who had yet to engage with GameSense believed it was not a useful program. Of note, those who had engaged with GameSense visited a casino in Massachusetts more frequently than those who had not yet engaged with GameSense. This potentially suggests that greater exposure (passive, or active by of promotions) to GameSense increases engagement.
- 6. Respondents who engaged with GameSense had greater symptoms of disordered gambling than those who did not. This suggests that individuals seeking interactions with GameSense may already be experiencing some gambling-related problems and thus could benefit from the program's support services. Additionally, those who engaged with GameSense tended to score lower on the Personal Responsibility and precommitment subscales, suggesting a potential need for further intervention and education in these areas.
- 7. That respondents who interacted with GameSense tended to score lower on accepting personal responsibility for their gambling and engagement in precommitment behaviors (i.e., setting a money limit prior to initiating a gambling session) than those who had not interacted with GameSense may suggest that those who are most in need of positive play guidance are getting it.

### What do we recommend?

- 1. *Increase awareness about the benefits of GameSense*. Regular patrons are aware of GameSense but are less familiar with the range of tools available, and in many cases unaware of how the program may benefit them. A campaign that informs regular, low- and moderate-risk players about the benefits of the program may correct misunderstandings about the relevance of the program for them.
- 2. *Attract patrons through tailored RG messaging.* We recommend MGC embrace player segmentation to attract patrons. Older respondents were more likely to engage with GameSense for RG purposes. Thus, older people may be more receptive to RG-related messages about GameSense. To tap into the younger demographic, perhaps heightening curiosity about GameSense (e.g., campaigns that ask "What is GameSense") or offer swag that will be attractive to a younger demographic. Prior research has already shown the benefits of player segmentation.
- 3. *Normalize the use of GameSense.* By normalizing the use of GameSense tools and seamlessly integrating them into the gambling environment, players' attitudes can be positively influenced, dispelling the notion that GameSense is solely for those with

gambling problems. This approach has been shown to increase both players' adoption of GameSense and their overall usage of its resources. By leveraging GameSense to improve gambling literacy, the MGC can create a more informed and empowered player base, fostering a positive and responsible gambling culture.

- 4. *Enhance the role and perceptions of GSAs.* GSAs play a critical role in disseminating information about the program to patrons. The more they are able to interact with players, the greater their potential impact. Needed is a campaign that increases understanding that GameSense is for all players (not only for individuals with gambling problems). Doing so will help all players feel comfortable seeking help, regardless of their specific needs. This approach should not only help destigmatize the role of GSAs but also highlights their broader function in providing information, support, and resources to enhance the overall gaming experience for everyone.
- **5.** Add a designated, GameSense branded, "Play Break" Sitting Area Inside the GSIC. Given the recognized importance of play breaks in RG strategies and the fact that a fifth of respondents associated GSICs with taking breaks, we suggest introducing dedicated "Play Break" areas within GSICs. Such an area should be GameSense branded. This initiative would enable GSAs to engage players in informative interactions while promoting RG practices, creating a supportive environment that caters to player well-being.
- 6. *More research is required*. Additional research is required to better understand the short and long-term effects of interacting with GameSense on players' beliefs and behaviors. Specifically, a longitudinal study where players who do and players who do not engage with GameSense are assessed (by way of survey and player account data) both before and after engagement with GameSense.

### What have we learned?

The study findings provide valuable insights into the awareness, perceptions, and engagement with the GameSense program in Massachusetts. There is a high level of GameSense awareness among regular patrons; however, efforts are needed to increase understanding of the program's comprehensive purpose and target audience. Patron interactions with GSAs and GSICs demonstrated their potential to enhance knowledge about RG and promote positive play. However, further strategies should be implemented to reach a broader audience and address specific areas of concern related to disordered gambling and personal responsibility. By continuing to improve and promote GameSense, Massachusetts can effectively support RG behaviors and mitigate the potential harms associated with excessive gambling.

#### 1. Introduction

Although most people gamble in a responsible manner (i.e., they do not gamble excessively; Wood et al., 2017), a small but significant proportion of players will spend more time and money gambling than they can afford, resulting in interpersonal, financial, and physical and mental health problems (Blaszczynski et al., 2004; Browne & Rockloff, 2018). Consequently, researchers, policy makers, and the gambling industry have supported the creation and implementation of educational materials and tools that minimize gambling-related harms and facilitate Responsible Gambling (RG; see Tabri et al., 2021). For example, when people visit a gaming venue, they may see RG educational materials that explain how games work (e.g., Wohl et al., 2010), pop-up messages when playing Electronic Gaming Machines (EGMs) that inform them about the odds of winning or whether they have reached a pre-determined limit on the amount of time or money they spent gambling (see Auer et al., 2014; Gainsbury et al., 2018b; Stewart & Wohl, 2013; Tabri, Hollingshead, & Wohl, 2019), contact information for treatment services and programs should they believe their play is becoming (or has become) problematic (Blaszczynski et al., 2011; Dickson-Gillespie et al., 2008; Hing, 2004; Nower & Blaszczynski, 2010), and means to self-exclude from gambling should they think they need to abstain from play (Dickson-Gillespie et al., 2008; Hing, 2004; Nower & Blaszczynski, 2010). These initiatives are typically provided to players via organized and branded RG programming offered by the gambling industry.

In the current research, we assessed players' awareness and perceptions of, and engagement with, the GameSense RG program offered in casinos in Massachusetts. GameSense is a comprehensive and widely used RG program that was created by the British Columbia Lottery Corporation (BCLC) to educate players about how gambling games work (e.g., the odds

of winning) and promote RG-related beliefs (e.g., accurate understanding about the nature of gambling) and behaviors (e.g., pre-commitment to a money and time limit on gambling). Additionally, GameSense provides information about problem gambling and resources for players who think they may have a gambling problem (e.g., explain and help patrons enroll in a voluntary self-exclusion program). Ultimately, the aim of programs like GameSense is to help *all* players make informed decisions regarding their play and minimize the harms associated with gambling (see Blaszczynski et al., 2011). However, an assessment of the possible effect GameSense has on harm reduction was beyond the scope of the current assessment.

In most casinos that offer the GameSense program, GameSense Advisors (GSAs) provide information and support to individuals who visit on-site resource areas called GameSense Information Centers (GSICs). The primary role of GSAs is to engage with players and provide them with educational resources and tools to help them make informed decisions about their gambling activities. GSAs offer information about the risks associated with gambling and encourage players to set limits on their time and money spent gambling. Unfortunately, only a small proportion (1-10%) of players engage with RG resources that are available to them (see Nelson et al., 2008; Wohl et al., 2018). Programs such as GameSense can only be effective if players are aware of their existence, have accurate perceptions about the purpose of the program, and engage with the resources they offer. To this end, we surveyed regular players at the three casinos in MA. We did so to get a better understanding of the differences between those who and those who are not aware of GS, and between those who have engaged with GS and those who have not.

#### 1.1 Responsible Gambling and Responsible Gambling Programing

Although players hold the ultimate responsibility to gamble within their means, the Reno Model of Responsible Gambling (see Blaszczynski et al., 2004) states that all stakeholders in gambling, including governments, gambling providers, health services, and community and consumer groups share the responsibility to minimize gambling-related harms. The provider, however, has a unique legal and moral responsibility for the harms arising from gambling (Hing, 2010), and thus should offer an environment that prevents excessive and potentially harmful consumption wherever possible (Dickerson, 2003). Often lost in the discourse about RG is that it is not merely about preventing excessive or disordered gambling and providing resources should gambling become problematic; RG also encompasses the promotion of beliefs and behaviors in all players that keep gambling from becoming problematic (i.e., positive play; Hing et al., 2017; Wood et al., 2017; Wood & Griffiths, 2015).

With the Reno Model as a guide, most stakeholders have accepted a duty of care for players. To this end, in addition to providing resources about problem gambling to those who have developed a gambling problem (e.g., voluntary self-exclusion programs; Lubman et al., 2015; Matheson et al., 2019), RG policies and programs have been developed to minimize gambling-related harms for all players (Wohl et al., 2014). Consequently, among other things, materials have been developed that help educate players about the odds of winning (Blaszczynski et al., 2014; Wohl et al., 2010), and tools have been created and provided to players that help them set a limit on the amount of money and/or time they spend gambling (Auer & Griffiths, 2013; Kim et al., 2014; Ladouceur et al., 2012; Stewart & Wohl, 2013) and/or provide players with an alert should their play be determined to be risky or problematic (typically by way of a risk algorithm; Wood & Wohl, 2015).

Importantly, empirical research from academic laboratories has shown that these RG initiatives can help prevent problematic forms of gambling (Blaszczynski et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2014; Wohl & Stewart, 2012). Additionally, research using player-account data has shown that those who use RG tools report beliefs (e.g., being honest about their gambling with others) and engage in behaviors (e.g., limit setting and adherence) that are known to reduce the risk of developing gambling-related problems to a greater extent than those who do not use the tools (e.g., Auer & Griffiths, 2013; Wohl et al., 2017; Wood et al., 2017; however for contrary results see Wohl et al., in press). The net result has been a proliferation of organized and branded RG programming by gambling operators as part of their corporate social responsibility strategy (see Louderback et al., 2021; Wohl et al., 2014). For instance, in 2009, the BCLC developed a universal prevention program called GameSense to provide educational tools to players that are designed to facilitate safer gambling attitudes, perceptions, and behaviors (Louderback et al., 2014).

Despite the growing popularity of GameSense within the gambling industry, limited research has been conducted on players' awareness and perceptions of the program or its RG utility. Research that has been conducted shows that people who have engaged with the GameSense program (relative to those who have not done so) reported greater gambling knowledge, higher awareness of various gambling fallacies, and fewer immediate and long-term intentions to continue gambling (Zhou et al., 2019). However, as shown by Gray and colleagues (2020), use of the GameSense program is limited (i.e., there was very little direct engagement between players and GSAs). For instance, one study found that GSAs directly connected with only 0.67% of the daily patrons (see also Louderback et al., 2022b).

The alarmingly low use of GameSense mirrors research on the uptake of RG tools and demonstrates operators have been challenged to spark interest in RG programs (see Nelson et al., 2008; Schottler Consulting, 2009). Indeed, only 1% - 10% of players use the RG tools available to them (Nelson et al., 2008). Specifically, Schottler Consulting (2009) found that only 2% of Australian loyalty program members signed up to use RG tools. Similarly, Nelson and colleagues (2008) found that, throughout the 18-month study period, only 1% of players used the self-limit feature on *BWin*—an Internet sports betting site. Yet, little is known about why most players do not engage in RG programming, resulting in a call for research to better understand players' awareness of, and attitudes toward, RG programming (see Wohl, 2018)

# 1.2 Predicting Awareness and Engagement with GameSense: Disordered Gambling Symptomatology and Positive Play

Even though RG programming is created for the full spectrum of players (i.e., players who gamble solely at recreational levels to those who have developed a gambling disorder; Blaszczynski et al., 2004; Dickson-Gillespie et al., 2008), those who already gamble responsibly may not perceive a need to engage with RG (see Bagot et al., 2021; Delfabbro et al., 2020b; Wood et al., 2017). This is because people only tend to engage with RG programs when they believe that it will help control excessive gambling (see Gainsbury et al., 2020) and people tend to believe RG programs and tools are only relevant to players with gambling problems (e.g., Bagot et al., 2021; Gainsbury et al., 2020; Gray et al., 2020; Louderback et al., 2022a; Louderback et al., 2022b; Marko et al., 2022). Indeed, Bagot and colleagues (2021) found that players were more likely to implement RG strategies when their gambling became more severe and problematic. Similarly, Louderback and colleagues (2022b) found a positive correlation between players' engagement with GameSense and the frequency of their gambling. Given

gambling frequency is positively correlated with disordered gambling symptomatology (see LaPlante et al., 2011; Welte et al., 2004), awareness of, and engagement, with RG programs like GameSense may be a function of the extent to which a player has elevated symptoms of a gambling disorder.

In contrast, players who endorse beliefs and exhibit behaviors that allow them to maintain a fun, but safe level of gambling (i.e., positive play) may believe that RG programing is not directed toward their play experience. Positive players tend to believe it is important to be knowledgeable about the nature of gambling games (e.g., the odds of winning), take personal responsibility for their play, are honest about how much they gamble and in control of their gambling behavior, and set a limit on the amount of money and time they spend gambling (Delfabbro et al., 2020b; Wood et al., 2017). Indeed, Louderback and colleagues (2022b) found no relation between GameSense awareness and positive play beliefs or behavior outcomes. It is possible that individuals who engage in positive play already possess a high level of knowledge and understanding regarding responsible gambling practices. These individuals may have developed responsible gambling strategies on their own, without relying on external resources or programs. Consequently, they may perceive less need for additional support or may not be actively seeking out responsible gambling programs like GameSense. In this light, a strong correlation between positive play beliefs or behaviours and awareness of GS or use of GS tools shouldn't be expected. In the current research, we nevertheless assessed the relations between positive play and awareness and perceptions of GameSense, as well as engagement with the program.

#### 2. Overview of Current Research

The purpose of the current study was to assess awareness of the GameSense RG program among regular patrons of the three casinos in Massachusetts. We also assessed perceptions of the program and the RG materials and tools provided that aim to reduce gambling-related harms. Importantly, when assessing awareness of and engagement with a RG program like GameSense, in contrast to previous assessments of GameSense (e.g., Gray et al., 2020; Louderback et al., 2022a; Louderback et al., 2022b), we contend it is crucial to recruit regular patrons. This approach more accurately represents patrons who are actively involved in the gambling environment and have a higher likelihood of encountering RG initiatives. Regular patrons are more likely to have repeated exposure to the establishment's resources and RG messaging, providing them with the opportunity to become familiar with programs like GameSense. Their deeper understanding of the potential risks associated with gambling and higher motivation to engage with RG programs make them an ideal population to assess. By targeting regular patrons in our recruitment, we can gain insights that are more applicable to individuals who are actively involved in the gambling environment and enhance the validity and relevance of our findings.

In contrast, assessing infrequent patrons, including those who may have only visited the casino a single time, when measuring awareness and engagement with GameSense may present challenges. Infrequent patrons may have limited exposure to the RG initiatives offered by the establishment, leading to a lack of awareness regarding programs like GameSense. Their limited familiarity with the casino's environment and available resources may result in minimal or non-existent engagement with RG interventions. Additionally, self-reported measures of awareness and engagement may be unreliable or inflated among infrequent patrons due to their limited exposure to the programs in question. Furthermore, infrequent patrons may differ significantly

from regular patrons in terms of their gambling habits, motivations, and attitudes, potentially leading to different perceptions of RG initiatives. Including infrequent patrons alongside regular patrons in the assessment of awareness and engagement may confound the results and obscure meaningful associations. Therefore, focusing on regular patrons provides a more comprehensive and accurate understanding of the impact and effectiveness of RG programs like GameSense. The ultimate goal of the current research was to better understand factors that influence the perceived RG utility of GameSense and players' engagement with the program.

As background, when Massachusetts allowed gambling expansion across the state, it required all newly licensed gaming operators to allocate complimentary on-site space for an independent counselling service that addresses substance abuse, compulsive gambling, and mental health concerns. To fulfil this legal requirement, MGC chose the GameSense brand. One notable characteristic of the GameSense program implemented in Massachusetts casinos is its autonomy. Specifically, the hiring and supervision of GSAs are conducted by the Massachusetts Council on Gaming and Health (MACGH)—a state-wide independent non-profit organization that helps safeguard public health by addressing and minimizing the adverse effects of gambling on individuals and communities. The goal of the current assessment of the GameSense program in Massachusetts was to better understand why (or why not) players use the program. To this end, we examined whether awareness of, and engagement with, GameSense at the three casinos in Massachusetts is related to players' endorsement of beliefs and engagement in behaviors that help them to gamble in a safe and responsible manner (i.e., positive play; Wood & Griffiths, 2015; Wood et al., 2017). This is the first assessment of a larger evaluation of perceptions of and engagement with GameSense. Subsequent reports will focus on casino employees and GSAs,

and the role they play in facilitating RG among players. The current report should not be taken as implying that players are solely responsible for avoiding gambling-related harms.

The current research was approved by the Carleton University Research Ethics Board – B (certificate #117682).

#### 3. Methods & Results

#### 3.1 Method and Results Structure

The following section outlines the method and results structure used in this report. The analysis proceeded in two main stages: Sample Characteristics and GameSense Evaluation. In the first stage, we present descriptive information about the sample. Descriptive information included information about the age and gender composition of the sample as well as factors such as disordered gambling symptomatology, positive play beliefs and behaviors as well as the frequency with which respondents report visiting casinos in Massachusetts.

In the second stage, we directly evaluated knowledge about and uptake of GameSense. To this end, we assessed the proportion of players who were aware of GameSense and whether those who were aware versus not aware differ on the measured sample characteristics. Among those who reported being aware of GameSense, we examined the perceived purpose of the program. Thereafter, we assessed the perceived target audience for GameSense among all respondents (i.e., regardless of awareness). Importantly, before doing so, all participants were given a brief description of the program. Lastly, we assessed engagement with GameSense. We did so both in terms of visits to a GSIC and interactions with a GSA. Specifically, we examined the proportion of players who reported visiting a GSIC and their reasons for doing so (or their reason for not visiting a GSIC), the type of interactions respondents had with a GSA, and whether there were any differences between those who had interacted with GameSense and those

who had not in terms of the sample characteristics. Additionally, we report the results of two latent class analyses (LCAs): one that assessed reasons for visiting and the other that assessed reasons for not visiting.

A LCA is a statistical technique used to identify groups (called 'classes') within a sample based on observed (measured) variables. LCA was employed for several reasons. Firstly, it allows for the identification of distinct subgroups within a population, offering a more nuanced understanding. For example, we tested whether the reasons why people visited a GSIC can be meaningfully clustered or grouped together. It also allows us to examine whether sample characteristics differed between any groups, thus providing insights into distinct patterns and associations. Specifically, we assessed whether observed groups have predictive utility in terms disordered gambling symptomatology, positive play, and/or frequency of visits. This approach allowed for a systematic and informative examination of the associations of interest in the context of the study. A detailed description of model selection is provided in Appendix A.

#### **3.2 Recruitment**

To recruit respondents, an email was sent to regular patrons (i.e., those who had visited the casino at least three times in the prior three months and had spent at least \$100 according to their player account data; see Wohl et al., 2018) who had enrolled in the rewards program at one of the three casinos in Massachusetts. The email was sent via each casino's rewards program listserv. Potential respondents were told that the purpose of the study was to get their "thoughts about the GameSense brand, the GameSense Information Centers, and the GameSense Advisors" and that input was welcome even if the player had never heard about GameSense. They were offered a US\$10 Amazon.com gift card for participating in the survey. A link to the survey was provided in the body of the email, and those who accessed the link were directed to an online

consent form that provided further detail about the purpose of the study, compensation for participation, data security, and their right to withdraw. Those who consented to participate were directed to the online survey (see Appendix B for the survey).

Based in an a priori power analyses, with point estimates based on prior research by our team that assessed awareness of Ontario Lottery and Gaming's PlaySmart RG program, we aimed to recruit at least 800 patrons.

The study was launched on October 19, 2022 and closed on December 2, 2022.

#### **3.3 Sample Characteristics**

A total of 1239 regular casino patrons were recruited via the various loyalty program email distribution lists. Of these, 47 respondents did not consent to the study, 58 did not pass eligibility criteria (i.e., they were either less than 21 years of age or had not visited or gambled at any of the casinos in the past three months), and two respondents consented to participate but did not provide responses to the survey questions. Additionally, 24 responses were identified as duplicates and consequently removed (see Footnote 1). Thus, our analyses are based on a sample of 1109 individuals ( $M_{age} = 54.2$ , SD = 13.20), which is a sample size that exceeded the minimum sample required as determined by our power analysis. More details on the sample are provided in Table 1.

### Table 1

Demographic Characteristics

	п	%
Age		
21-24	8	0.7%
25-34	48	4.3
35-44	144	13.0
45-54	187	16.9
55-64	231	20.8
65 +	186	23.1
Did not indicate	305	27.5
Gender		
Man	371	33.5%
Woman	469	42.3
Other	4	0.3
Did not indicate	265	23.9

#### 3.4 Possible correlates of awareness and engagement with GameSense

The following variables were included to assess whether they are associated with awareness, perceptions of GameSense, and engagement with the program (i.e., why people engaged with GameSense or not).

*3.4.1. Disordered Gambling Symptomology.* Disordered gambling symptomology was assessed using the nine-item Problem Gambling Severity Index (PGSI; see Ferris & Wynne, 2001). The PGSI assesses problem gambling behaviors (e.g., "How often have you bet more than you could really afford to lose?") as well as the consequences of problem gambling (e.g., "How often has your gaming caused you any health problems, including stress or anxiety?"). Response options were anchored at 0 *(never)* to 3 *(always)*. Respondents' total PGSI scores were the sum of the nine items. Degrees of risk have been established based on scores on the PGSI, with those scoring 0 considered to be non-problematic gamblers, those scoring 1 or 2 considered to be "low

risk", those scoring 3 to 7 considered to be "moderate risk", and those scoring more than 7 as "problem gamblers".

A total of 224 patrons (20.2%) were categorized as a non-problem gambler, 226 (20.4%) as low-risk, 248 (22.4% as a moderate-risk, and 201 (18.1%) as a problem gambler. A risk category could not be calculated for 210 patrons (18.9%) due to missing data. Additionally, as noted in Table 3, mean levels of disordered gambling symptomatology (M = 4.61, SD = 5.65) places the sample as a whole in the middle of the "moderate risk" category. Given that we recruited only regular gamblers, this level of disordered gambling symptomatology is not unexpected. Increased frequency of gambling is known to be strongly associated with gambling-related problems (Young et al., 2022).

*3.4.2 Positive Play.* We used the Positive Play Scale (Wood et al., 2017) to assess the extent to which respondents were aware of gambling myths and fallacies (i.e., Gambling Literacy), assumed personal responsibility for their play behavior, were honest with family members and in control of their gambling, and set limits on their play. The Gambling Literacy subscale included three items ( $\alpha = .63$ ; e.g., "Gambling is not a good way to make money").The Personal Responsibility subscale included four items ( $\alpha = .89$ ) (e.g., "I should be able to walk away from gambling at any time").These belief subscales were anchored at 1 *(strongly disagree)* and 7 *(strongly agree)*. The third subscale was comprised of three items ( $\alpha = .88$ ) that measured the extent to which the participant was in control of and honest about their gambling (e.g., "In the last month I felt in control of my gambling behavior"). The final subscale consisted of four items ( $\alpha = .91$ ) designed to measure the player's pre-commitment (e.g., "I considered the amount of time I was willing to spend before I gambled"). Response options for the behavior subscales were anchored at 1 *(never)* and 7 *(always)*.

Mean scores were calculated for each subscale (and reported in Table 3), with higher scores representing higher endorsement of positive play beliefs and behaviors. Scores on all subscales were relatively similar, with means ranging from 5.44 (Honesty and Control) to 6.13 (Personal Responsibility) indicating high levels of both positive play beliefs and behavior. Yet, there is also opportunity for improvement.

*3.4.3. Frequency of casino gambling in Massachusetts.* Respondents were first asked how many times they visited one of the casinos in Massachusetts in the past three months. Responses were anchored at 1 (0 times) and 6 (5 or more times). Most (72.1%) reported visiting five or more times. Interestingly, despite participation being restricted (based on player account data) to those who had visited at least three times in the last three months, 2.7% reported visiting only once and 7.1% reported visiting only twice in the past 3 months. Respondents were then asked what proportion of their overall gambling took place in the Massachusetts casino through which they were contacted (in 25% increments). Of the 85.5% of respondents responding to this question, 34.4% indicated 100%, and 16.2% indicated 25% or less. Table 2 provides data on the estimated proportion of their play at their designated Massachusetts casino per visit involves slot machines, table games, video table games, and lottery.

#### Table 2

In the last 3 months, when you visited this casino, how often did you play:	Never (0%)	Rarely (1-33%)	Sometimes (34-66%)	Often (67- 99%)	Always (100%)
Slot machines	1.9%	3.6%	5.7%	16.0%	72.8%
Table games	66.1	13.9	6.2	4.0	9.8
Video table games	74.7	12.7	4.8	2.9	4.7
Lottery	72.6	16.1	6.6	2.8	1.8

#### Proportion of Play on Different Games per Visit

Note. Ns range from 887 to 962. Percentages based on number responding to item.

*3.4.4 Associations between measured variables and sample characteristics.* As observed in previous work (see Wood et al., 2017), disordered gambling symptomatology was negatively associated with all positive play subscales. The negative association with symptoms of disordered gambling was particularly strong for Honesty and Control as well as Pre-Commitment. Additionally, there was a small but positive association between disordered gambling symptomatology and frequency of visiting a casino in Massachusetts.<sup>1</sup> Perhaps unsurprisingly then, there was a small negative association between visit frequency and both Honesty and Control and Pre-Commitment. Personal Responsibility and Gambling Literacy were not associated with visit frequency but were moderately negatively associated with disordered gambling symptomatology.

#### Table 3

	М	SD	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.
1. Disordered Gambling	4.61	5.65	-	-	-	-	-
Symptomatology							
2. Personal Responsibility	6.13	1.12	34**	-	-	-	-
3. Gambling Literacy	5.65	1.19	27**	.36**	-	-	-
4. Honesty and Control	5.44	1.63	62**	.33**	.18**	-	-
5. Pre-Commitment	5.76	1.46	67**	.41**	.21**	.75**	-
6. Frequency of visits to the	5.40	1.09	.10**	.02	02	10**	09**
casino							

Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations between the Sample Characteristics Variables

*Note.* \* *p* < .01, \*\* *p* < .001.

#### 4. Assessment of GameSense

In this section, we report the extent to which respondents reported awareness of

GameSense and the perceived purpose of GameSense (among those who were aware). After

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Because the frequency of visits was highly negatively skewed, with 72.1% selecting the option '5 or more times', it is not surprising that the correlations of this variable with others are small in magnitude. Given the highly skewed nature of this variable, care should be taken in interpreting these correlations.

describing GameSense to all players, they were then asked to report who they think the target audience is for GameSense. Lastly, we assessed engagement with GameSense in terms of visits to a GSIC and interactions with a GSA.

#### 4.1. GameSense Awareness

To assess awareness of GameSense, respondents were first asked whether they had heard about the program. The 811 (73.1%) who indicated they heard of GameSense were then asked how they heard about it. The nine response options (plus an "other" category) are listed in Table 4, along with the percent who endorsed each option. Most of those who indicated "other" indicated that they first became aware of GameSense through ads or promotional material at a casino or on a gaming machine.

#### Table 4

Sources:	% agreement
Casino staff	32.3
Print advertisements	30.3
A GameSense Advisor	26.1
Social Media	16.5
Other players	10.9
Friends	10.2
MassGaming.com	9.9
TV advertisements	4.1
Radio advertisements	3.6
Other	19.6

#### Where Respondents Heard About GameSense

*Note.* N = 811. Percentages add to more than 100% because respondents could list more than one reasons.

Next, we assessed whether those who were aware of GameSense differed from those who were not aware of GameSense on sample characteristics (see Table 5). Those who were aware of

GameSense scored no differently on our measure of disordered gambling symptomatology (PGSI) than those who were not aware of it, p = .57, d = .04. Likewise, there were no differences in terms of positive play beliefs and behaviors as a function of whether respondents were aware of GameSense, ps > .14, ds < .12. However, those who were aware of GameSense tended to visit a casino in Massachusetts with more frequency than those who were not aware of GameSense, p = .003, d = .20.

#### Table 5

		Aware	of	No	ot aware	e of				
	0	GameSe	nse	G	ameSer	nse				
Measure	n	M	SD	п	M	SD	t	df	р	d
Disordered gambling symptomatology	676	4.73	5.71	223	4.48	5.59	.58	897	.565	.04
Personal Responsibility	691	6.15	1.09	230	6.06	1.18	1.07	919	.283	.08
Gambling Literacy	692	5.68	1.19	231	5.55	1.17	1.48	921	.140	.11
Honesty and Control	692	5.41	1.65	230	5.54	1.54	-1.15	920	.253	08
Pre-Commitment	686	5.75	1.46	230	5.79	1.44	33	914	.739	03
Frequency of visits to the casino	811	5.46	1.03	298	5.23	1.24	3.00	1107	.003*	.20

Comparison of Patrons Who Were and Were Not Aware of GameSense

*Note.* \* p < .05. Sample sizes vary due to missing data/non-responses.

### 4.1.1 Perceived purpose of GameSense. Respondents who indicated awareness of

GameSense were provided eight items that assessed the perceived purpose of GameSense (see Table 6). These items included six correct purposes and one incorrect purpose: "It offers a place where players can bet on sports". Also included was an item that asked whether "It offers a place where players can relax away from the gaming floor". Although initially included as an incorrect purpose, following data collection we learned that players may be using GSICs to take a break from the gaming floor (a known RG strategy). Because it was not known whether players were using it in such a manner, we ultimately coded this item as neither correct nor incorrect.

Results showed that most respondents correctly checked that GameSense helped educate players about RG (84.2%), provided RG tools (i.e., PlayMyWay; 70.4%), and offered supports for those who develop gambling related problems (70.4%), but a relatively low proportion of respondents (19.9%) knew that GameSense helps players understand how games work or helps dispel gambling-related myths (25.8%). Additionally, slightly less than half of all respondents were aware that GameSense helped facilitate voluntary self-exclusion (46.0%).

### Table 6

#### Purposes of GameSense

Purposes:	% agreement
It's a program that educates players about how to gamble responsibly (e.g., within an affordable money and/or time limit)	84.2
It's a program that includes PlayMyWay – a budgeting tool where you track your play and receive notifications as you get closer to the budget	70.4
It offers a place where players can find where to get support if they believe their gaming has become problematic	70.4
It's a program that allows players to voluntarily exclude themselves from the gaming floor at all casinos in Massachusetts	46.0
It's a program that helps dispel gaming-related myths	25.8
It's a program that teaches players how games work	19.9
It offers a place where players can bet on sports*	6.0
It offers a place where players can relax away from the gaming floor (i.e., a lounge)**	16.3

*Note.* \* indicates incorrect purpose. \*\* not scored as correct or incorrect. N = 811.

#### 4.2 Perceived target audience for GameSense

All respondents read the following brief description of the GameSense program:

GameSense is a comprehensive responsible gaming strategy. GameSense Advisors work

at a GameSense Info Center located at MGM Springfield/Encore Boston

Harbor/Plainridge Park Casino. GameSense Advisors receive extensive training in the

areas of responsible gaming techniques, problem gaming behavior and local resources for

help. Many GameSense Advisors come to the position with professional gaming

experience which is useful in understanding patrons' needs.

They were then asked to respond to five items that assessed the perceived target audience for

GameSense. These items, together with their means (on a 7-point Likert scale where 1 =

"strongly disagree" and 7 = "strongly agree") and the percentage agreeing (i.e., > than the

"neutral" midpoint) are provided in Table 4.

Although most respondents (72.7%) agreed that GameSense was created for people who have trouble controlling their gambling, a little over half of respondents (53.8%) believed GameSense was for all people who gamble. Relatedly, a little less than half of all respondents believed that GameSense was self-relevant.

#### Table 7

Donooinad	Tawaat	Andianaa	for	GameSense
rerceivea	Turgei	Audience	IOr	Gumesense
			,	

5.38 (1.74)	72.7
4.99 (1.64)	63.8
4.06 (1.71)	40.2
4.57 (1.84)	53.8
4.36 (1.65)	45.4
	4.57 (1.84)

*Note.* Ns range from 984 to 1020. Means are on a 7-point scale where 1 = "strongly disagree" and 7 = "strongly agreeing". Percent agreement was based on responds of 5 or higher on the scale.

Those who indicated an awareness of GameSense did not differ significantly from those who were unaware on the extent to which they agreed with the first three items ("People who have trouble controlling their gaming", "People who gamble on a regular basis", and "People

who gamble occasionally"; ps > .20; ds < .08), but agreed more that GameSense is for all people who gamble (p < .001; d = .29) and marginally more that GameSense was developed for players like me (p = .055, d = .13).

#### 4.3 Engagement with GameSense

We assessed engagement with GameSense in two ways. The first way was in terms of whether they had visited a GSIC. The second way was in terms of interactions with a GSA at either a GSIC or on the gaming floor.

*4.3.1 Reasons for visiting.* All respondents were asked, "Have you ever visited a GameSense Info Center at one of the three Massachusetts casinos?" A total of 195 respondents (17.6% of the full sample) indicated that they had. All those who reported they had visited a GSIC were asked to indicate why they visited the GSIC from a list of 10 reasons (plus an "other" option). Four respondents did not respond to any of the 10 reasons. Thus, analyses were conducted on a sample of 191 respondents.

No single reason stood out in terms of why a respondent visited a GSIC; however, the most reported reason for visiting was because they stumbled upon it (54.4%) or were curious (46.2%). Least often noted was visiting to learn about gambling-related myths (17.4%) or to learn about how games work (16.9%). The full list of reasons (and agreement to those reasons) is provided in Table 8.

#### Table 8

Reasons for Visiting a GSIC

Reasons:	% agreement
I stumbled upon one and was curious.	55.5
I heard about the Info Center and was curious.	47.1
To get swag (e.g., a lanyard).	40.8
To learn more about responsible gaming (e.g., within an affordable money and/or time limit).	33.5
To be better informed should I need to pass information to players.	30.9
To learn about and enroll in PlayMyWay (i.e., a money budgeting tool for your slot play that works with your rewards card).	30.4
To learn about supports for problem gaming.	23.6
To learn about gaming-related myths.	17.8
To learn about voluntary self-exclusion.	22.0
To learn more about how games work.	17.3
Other	4.7

*Note.* N = 191; Percentages add to more than 100 as respondents could endorse more than one reason.

To determine whether there were distinct groups of respondents who visited GSICs for different sets of reasons, we conducted a latent class analysis (LCA). The LCA looks for common response patterns in a sample. We determined that two groups could be identified (see Appendix A for details). Group 1 (with 67 respondents) included individuals who indicated that they visited a GSIC because they were curious (about what GameSense was all about) or to get swag (i.e., mostly for non-RG reasons). Consequently, we labeled this group "Curiosity and Swag Inspired". Those in Group 2 (with 124 respondents), the larger of the two groups, indicated that although attracted by the swag, they also indicated visiting for RG reasons. For instance, 89% of this second group indicated that they visited to learn more about responsible gambling (vs 9% of those in Group 1), 78% indicated that they visited to learn more about, and enroll in,

PlayMyWay (vs. 17% of Group 2 respondents), and 78% indicated that they visited to be better informed should they need to pass on information to others (vs. 18% of Group 1 respondents). For this reason, we labeled this group "Information Seekers". Table 9 provides the proportions indicating each reason for the two groups. Figure 1 provides a graphic description of these proportions. Specifically, the distance from the origin (middle) of the graph indicates the proportion of the respondents in that group that indicated that reason.

### Table 9

### Percent Who Affirmed Each Reason for Visiting a GSIC by Group

Reason	Group 1	Group 2
	"Curiosity	"Information
	and Swag	Seekers
	Inspired"	
I heard about the Info Center and was curious.	.38	.85
I stumbled upon one and was curious.	.63	.86
To learn more about how games work.	.02	.57
To learn more about responsible gaming (e.g., within an	.09	.89
affordable money and/or time limit).		
To learn about and enroll in PlayMyWay (i.e., a money	.17	.78
budgeting tool for your slot play that works with your rewards		
card).		
To get swag (e.g., a lanyard).	.50	.67
To learn about gaming-related myths.	.05	.55
To learn about supports for problem gaming.	.06	.73
To be better informed should I need to pass information to	.18	.78
players.		
To learn about voluntary self-exclusion.	.10	.64
e = 191.		

### Figure 1

Results of the Latent Class Analysis Examining Reasons for Visiting GameSense with two

#### Groups



To better understand the two groups, we examined whether they differed in terms of demographic variables (gender and age) and other player characteristics (e.g., PGSI score, positive play variables, frequency of visits). Information Seekers tended to be older. There was also no difference in terms of the proportions of men and women between Information Seekers and Curiosity and Swag Inspired players. There were no other differences between Information Seekers and Curiosity and Swag Inspired players (see Table 10 for complete list of variables assessed).

### Table 10

Dependent variable	n	Curiosity and	Information	d
		Swag Inspired	Seekers	
Age	152	3.96(1.19)	4.70(1.04)	.67**
Disordered gambling symptomatology	171	4.25(4.86)	5.92(6.20)	.29
Personal Responsibility	177	6.18(.90)	5.87(1.30)	26
Gambling Literacy	179	5.94(1.19)	5.36(1.24)	47
Honesty and Control	179	5.70(1.35)	5.33(1.56)	25
Pre-Commitment	176	5.75(1.23)	5.58(1.51)	12
Frequency of gambling at a casino in	191	5.49(.96)	5.89(.97)	10
Massachusetts			· · ·	

Associations With Group Membership for Those Who Visited a GSIC

*Note.* \*\* p < .01. Sample size varies by analysis because of missing responses.

Because the two groups differed by age, we broke down group by age category (see Table 11). Whilst 60.7% of the Curiosity and Swag Inspired respondents were in the 35-54 age range, most (65.7%) of the Information Seekers were 55+.

#### Table 11

	21-24	25-34	35-44	45-54	55-64	65+
Curiosity and Swag	1.8% (n=1)	5.4% (n=3)	32.1% (n=18)	28.6% (n=16)	19.6% (n=11)	12.5% (n=7)
Inspired Information Seekers	0% (n=0)	3.1% (n=3)	11.5% (n=11)	19.8% (n=19)	43.8% (n=42)	21.9% (n=21)

Age Category by Group Membership Among Those who Visited a GSIC

*4.3.2 Reasons for not visiting.* Respondents who reported they had not yet visited a GSIC were asked to indicate their reasons for not visiting one. Of the 914 respondents who had not visited a GSIC, 782 provided at least one reason. About half of participants reported that they did not visit a GSIC because they believed they already knew how games work (52.9%), knew about PlayMyWay (52.5%), or knew about gaming-related myths (45.2%). Interestingly, a large
percentage also noted that they had yet to visit because they had not been invited to do so (60.8%). A relatively low percentage of respondents did not believe that GSAs could help players (18%) or didn't agree with the presence of GSICs (12.2%). However, approximately one-third of all respondents believed that GSAs would not be able to teach them anything they did not already know (33.9%). The full list of reasons (and agreement to those reasons) are summarized in Table 12.

## Table 12

Reasons for not Visiting a GSIC

Reasons:	% agreement
No one has asked me to check GameSense out.	58.4
I already know how games work.	50.9
I already know about PlayMyWay - a free, budgeting tool that allows a player to set a money limit and track their play.	50.5
I already know about gaming-related myths.	43.5
I don't think a GameSense Advisor would be able to teach me anything.	32.6
I don't think GameSense Advisors help players.	17.3
I don't agree with the presence of a GameSense Info Center at the casino.	11.8
Other	6.5

*Note.* N = 782 who provided at least 1 reason; Percentages add to more than 100 as respondents could endorse more than one reason.

We then conducted an LCA to examine whether there were subgroups of respondents who differed in terms of the reasons for not visiting GSICs. The LCA suggested that respondents who had not visited a GSIC fell into one of three groups. Those in Group 1 (n = 248; 31.7% of those responding) tended to give only one reason for not visiting a GSIC—most frequently because no one had asked them to check it out. We labeled this group of respondents "Invitation-Responsive". Those in Group 2 (n = 132; 16.9% of those responding), had a similar profile of reasons for not visiting to those in Group 3 (n = 402; 51.4% of those responding) in that patrons

in both groups were composed of regular players who (think they) understand how games work, and thus, see no need for GameSense. What distinguished those in Group 2 from those in Group 3 is that those in Group 2 also held negative view of GameSense and GSA's ability to help players with their gambling. Additionally, over 50% of those in Group 2 do not agree with the presence of GameSense at the casino. Consequently, we labeled those in Group 2 "Self-Assured Non-Believers" and those in Group 3 "Self-Assured". The proportion of respondents in each group indicating each reason is provided in Table 13, and Figure 2 provides a graphic description of these proportions. Specifically, the distance from the origin (middle) of the graph indicates the proportion of the respondents in that group that indicated that reason. Details on the LCA are provided in Appendix A.

## Table 13

Reason	Group 1	Group 2	Group 3
	"Invitation-	"Self-	"Self-
	Responsive"	Assured	Assured"
		Non-	
		Believers"	
No one has asked me to check GameSense out.	.62	.76	.63
I already know how games work.	.16	.85	.93
I already know about gaming-related myths	.06	.84	.90
I already know about PlayMyWay - a free, budgeting	.31	.74	.80
tool that allows a player to set a money limit and track			
their play. I don't think a GameSense Advisor would be able to	.17	.84	12
teach me anything.	.1/	.04	.43
I don't think GameSense Advisors help players.	.10	.91	.00
I don't agree with the presence of a GameSense Info	.07	.54	.00
Center at the casino.			

Proportion of Respondents who Affirmed Each Reason for not Visiting a GSIC by Group

*Note. n* per group: *Invitation-Responsive* = 248; *Self-Assured Non-Believes* = 132; *Self-Assured* = 402.

## Figure 2

Results of the Latent Class Analysis Examining Reasons for not Visiting GameSense with Three

Groups



To better understand these groups, we considered whether the groups differed in their composition in terms of demographic variables (age, gender) and player characteristics (PGSI score, positive play variables, and frequency of visits). We found that those in the Self-Assured group were lower in in disordered gambling symptomatology and higher in positive play (all subscales) than those in Invitation-Responsive or Self-Assured Non-Believers groups, d = .27 (see Table 14). Similarly, those in the Self-Assured Group reported greater Personal

Responsibility compared to those in the Invitation Responsive (d = .19) and Self-Assured Non-Believers (d = .26) groups. Likewise, those in the Self-Assured group reported greater Gambling Literacy compared to those in the Invitation Responsive (d = .22) and Self-Assured Non-Believers (d = .37) groups. Moreover, those in the Self-Assured Group reported greater Pre-Commitment compared to those in the Invitation Responsive (d = .27) and Self-Assured Non-Believers (d = .32) groups. However, those in the Self-Assured Group reported greater Honesty and Control compared to those in the Invitation Responsive group (d = .26). Otherwise, there were no statistically significant differences in the distribution of age or gender between the Invitation-Responsive, Self-Assured Non-Believers, and Self-Assured groups.

#### Table 14

		Invitation Responsive	Self-Assured Non-Believers	Self-Assured	
	п	M(SD)	M(SD)	M(SD)	$\eta^2$
Age	632	52.65(12.38)	52.69(14.59)	55.12(13.33)	.01
Disordered gambling symptomatology	688	5.33(6.22) <sup>a</sup>	4.99(5.59) <sup>b</sup>	3.80(5.15) <sup>ab</sup>	.02
Personal Responsibility	716	6.06(1.24) <sup>a</sup>	6.00(1.01) <sup>b</sup>	6.27(.99) <sup>ab</sup>	.01
Gambling Literacy	721	5.56(1.23) <sup>a</sup>	5.38(1.30) <sup>b</sup>	$5.80(1.05)^{ab}$	.02
Honesty and control	713	$5.20(1.81)^{a}$	5.29(1.61)	$5.63(1.54)^{a}$	.02
Pre-Commitment	702	5.59(1.62) <sup>a</sup>	$5.55(1.48)^{b}$	$5.99(1.30)^{ab}$	.02
Frequency of visits to a casino in Massachusetts	782	5.38(1.12)	5.30(1.19)	5.37(1.12)	<.01

Between Group Differences Among Those who did not Visit a GSIC

We also asked those who had not visited a GSIC what would motivate them to visit one. Table 15 provides the six options provided (plus an "other" option) as well as the percentage of respondents who responded to that option in the affirmative. Close to half of the respondents noted that they would be interested in visiting a GSIC if they wanted to learn more about RG

(48.2%). Close to half of all respondents also noted they would visit if they wanted to learn more

about PlayMyWay (42.7%) or learn about supports for problem gaming (40.7%). A relatively

lower percentage noted they would visit to get swag (34.8%).

## Table 15

Potential Reasons for Visiting a GSIC Among Those Who Had Not Yet Visited Or	Potential Reasons	for Visiting	a GSIC Among T	Those Who I	Had Not Yet	Visited One
--	-------------------	--------------	----------------	-------------	-------------	-------------

Reasons:	% agreement
If I wanted to learn more about how to gamble responsibly (e.g., playing within an affordable money and/or time limit)	48.2
If I wanted to learn more about PlayMyWay - a free, budgeting tool that allows a player to set a money limit and track their play	42.7
If I wanted to learn about supports for problem gaming	40.7
If I wanted to learn more about voluntary self-exclusion for players	32.5
If I wanted to learn more about gaming-related myths.	29.5
If I could get swag (e.g., a lanyard)	34.8
Other	26

*Note.* N = 782 who provided at least 1 reason; Percentages add to more than 100 as respondents could endorse more than one reason.

*4.3.3 Comparison between those who visited and those who did not visit*. Next, we examined whether there were differences in terms of the perceived purpose of GameSense between those who visited a GSIC to those who did not. Recall, we provided eight items that assessed the perceived purpose of GameSense. These items, listed in Table 6, included six correct purposes and one incorrect purpose. Respondents were asked to indicate whether each statement was a purpose of GameSense (yes or no). We scored these responses as +1 for a correct response, -1 for an incorrect response, and 0 if they left the item unanswered. Those who had visited a GSIC scored higher (i.e., they were more correct in terms of the purpose of GameSense; M = 3.15, SD = 2.34) than those who had not (M = 2.21, SD = 2.33; t = 4.74, p < .001; d = .40).

We then assessed whether those who interacted with GameSense (i.e., visited a GSIC) differed from those who had not interacted with GameSense (i.e., did not visit a GSIC) in terms of the perceived target audience of GameSense. They did not significantly differ in the extent to which they believed that the target audience for the program was people who have trouble controlling their gambling (p = .63; d = .04). However, those who interacted with GameSense did agree more that the program was for those who gamble regularly (p = .011; d = .19), those who gamble occasionally (p < .001; d = .34), all people who gamble (p < .001; d = .36), and for players like them (p < .001; d = .37) than those who had not interacted with GameSense. Thus, interacting with GameSense appears to be linked with a more inclusive (and correct) understanding of the program's target audience.

#### 4.4 Interactions with a GSA

All respondents were asked "Have you ever had an interaction with a GameSense Advisor?" One hundred and eighty-one said they had (16.3%; 11.1% did not answer this question). Informatively, 72.9% (n = 132) of these 181 also visited a GSIC. It is unknown, whether they first visited a GSIC and then interacted with the GSA who was at the GSIC, or whether they first interacted with a GSA on the gaming floor and were invited back to the GSIC to discuss responsible gambling. It is also possible that a visit to a GSIC occurred during a gambling session after the one in which an interaction with a GSA took place. Indeed, GSAs often have short (or long) conversation about issues related (or unrelated) to gambling on the floor as part of a relationship building strategy. It is only after "getting to know" the GSA on the gaming floor that they subsequently come to a GSIC. Unfortunately, the sequence of events was not assessed in the current study.

We did, however, assess the type of interaction players had with a GSA. In Massachusetts, interactions are categorized as simple (i.e., a short, communication from a GSA about issues unrelated to gaming), demonstration (i.e., a longer, communication from a GSA about how a game, RG tool, or concept works), or an exchange (i.e., a two-way communication with a GSA about responsible gaming or problem gaming). Of the 181 respondents who reported having an interaction with a GSA, 78.5% reported a simple interaction, 34.3% indicated a demonstration, and 28.7% indicated an exchange. They were also asked to indicate the approximate number of interactions of each type. For simple interactions, the numbers ranged from 1 to 50, with the median being 2. Of those reporting at least one demonstration, the median was 1 (range: 1 to 10). Of those reporting exchanges, the median was 1 (range: 1 to 10).

To assess the perceived influence interacting with a GSA had on their play, we asked those who had interacted with a GSA to rate the extent to which they agreed that these interactions made them feel more informed about how to gamble responsibly and how games worked on 7-point Likert scales (1 = "*strongly disagree*" to 7 "*strongly agree*"). They were also asked whether they would encourage others to speak with a GSA. Responses are summarized in Table 16.

#### Table 16

Due to my experience(s) with a GameSense Advisor:	M (SD)	% agreement
I feel more informed about how to gamble responsibly.	4.83 (1.51)	53.5
I feel more informed about how gaming games work.	4.63 (1.55)	50.0
I would encourage others to speak with a GameSense Advisor.	4.94 (1.38)	58.8

#### Perceived Outcome of Interacting with GSAs

*Note.* Ns ranged from 168 to 172 of 181 who had interacted with a GSA. Means are on a 7-point scale where 1 = "strongly disagree" and 7 = "strongly agree". Percent agreement was based on responds of 5 or higher on the scale.

Although these ratings are not particularly positive (i.e., respondents were not especially effusive in their assessment of their interaction), it should be noted that most of the interactions captured in the current study were simple interactions (which are not about responsible or problem gambling). Such interactions are not likely to have a significant effect on the participant.

We then compared those who only reported having a simple interaction with those who reported at least one demonstration or exchange. We found that respondents who reported having a demonstration or exchange reported feeling more informed about how to gamble responsibly (n = 52; M = 5.38, SD = 1.44) than those only receiving a simple interaction (n = 119; M = 4.59, SD = 1.49; t(169) = 3.24, p < .001, d = .54). Similarly, we found that respondents who reported having a demonstration or exchange reported agreed more that they would encourage others to speak with a GSA (n = 52; M = 5.25, SD = 1.56) compared to those only receiving a simple interaction (n = 117; M = 4.81, SD = 1.28). This difference approached statistical significance, t (167) = 1.92, p = .057, d = .32). There were no significant differences between those who indicated a demonstration or exchange and those indicating only simple interactions on the other statements (ps > .27, ds < .18).

Lastly, we assessed whether those who had engaged with a GSA or GSIC differed from those who had not engaged with a GSA or GSIC on the measured sample characteristics (see Table 17). We found that those who interacted with GameSense (either through a GSIC or with a GSA) scored higher on our measure of disordered gambling symptomatology (PGSI; M = 5.54, SD = 6.06) than those who had not had any interaction with GameSense (M = 4.39, SD = 5.54; t= 2.60, p = .009, d = .20). Likewise, we found that those who interacted with GameSense (M = 5.57, SD = .92) reported greater frequency of visiting casinos in Massachusetts in the last three months compared to those who had not had any interaction with GameSense (M = 4.39, SD =

5.54; t = 2.81, p = .005, d = .20). Otherwise, there was no difference between those who had interacted with GameSense and those who had not interacted with GameSense in terms of their Personal Responsibility, Gambling Literacy, Pre-Commitment, and Honesty and Control (see Table 17).

#### Table 17

Comparison of Patr	ons Who Had and	d Had Not Interact	ed with GameSense <sup>†</sup>

	Interacted with GameSense		Have not Interacted with GameSense							
	n	М	SD	п	М	SD	t	df	р	d
Disordered gambling symptomatology	217	5.54	6.06	682	4.39	5.53	2.60	897	.009*	.20
Personal Responsibility	222	5.99	1.14	699	6.17	1.10	-2.05	919	.041*	16
Gambling Literacy	223	5.57	1.25	700	5.67	1.16	-1.08	921	.280	08
Honesty and Control	222	5.37	1.59	700	5.46	1.64	71	920	.476	06
Pre-Commitment	222	5.59	1.46	694	5.81	1.45	-1.96	914	.050	15
Frequency of visits to a casino in Massachusetts	244	5.57	.92	865	5.35	1.13	3.15	470.8	.005*	.20

*Note.* <sup> $\dagger$ </sup> Interacted with a GSA or visited GSIC; \* *p* < .05.

## 5. Discussion

In the current research, we assessed a sample of regular players from across the three casinos in Massachusetts to evaluate their knowledge about and use of GameSense RG program. Specifically, the study aimed to assess the level of awareness among patrons regarding GameSense, examine their perceptions about the program among those who reported they were aware of GameSense, and evaluate their engagement through visits to a GSIC and interactions with a GSA.

#### 5.1 Awareness and Perceptions About GameSense

We found that a clear majority of respondents expressed awareness of the program. This is in line with results from Louderback and colleagues' (2022a) assessment of GameSense, who observed that regular players (those targeted in the current study) have a relatively high level of awareness of the program (compared to infrequent players). Awareness appeared to be a product of casino staff and GSAs informing players about the program as well as advertisements (see Louderback et al., 2022a for a similar finding). Importantly, those who were aware of GameSense expressed a correct understanding about its purpose. Specifically, they believed that the purpose of GameSense is to educate players about RG, provide access to PlayMyWay (i.e., a budgeting tool), and provide support to those who feel their gambling has become problematic. and that players tended to have a positive response to the program. Interestingly, approximately a fifth of players believed that GSICs were a place for players to take a break from the gaming floor (i.e., a lounge). Although this perception is not directly aligned with the explicitly stated purposes of GSICs, it raises an intriguing opportunity for the RG landscape. The concept of designated "Play Break" sections within GSICs could serve as an effective way to integrate responsible gambling strategies and increase player engagement with GameSense. By creating a GameSense branded space that encourages players to take breaks during gameplay, similar to the principles of harm reduction seen in the community for addictive substances, casinos could provide a platform for both relaxation and education. Much like health practitioners interact with individuals at safe injection sites, GSAs could engage with players during their breaks, offering RG guidance, resources, and assistance for those interested in managing their gameplay habits more effectively. Such an innovative addition to GSICs could potentially contribute to fostering

a supportive, educational, and health-oriented environment within the casino, promoting RG beliefs and behaviors among players.

There were no differences between those who were aware of GameSense and those who were not aware of GameSense in terms of most of the sample characteristics assessed (age, gender, disordered gambling symptomatology, positive play). The only factor that did differ between these two groups is frequency of visits to a casino in Massachusetts. One reason this may have been the case is that frequent casino visitors are more likely to have repeated exposure to the physical environment and amenities offered within the casino, including promotional materials and signage related to RG programs like GameSense. The repeated exposure to such messaging increases the likelihood of individuals noticing and becoming aware of the program. Second, individuals who visit casinos more frequently may have a greater engagement with gambling activities. This increased involvement in gambling may make them more attuned to information and resources related to RG. They may actively seek out and be more receptive to messages promoting RG practices, including the GameSense program. Lastly, that people who were aware of GameSense visited a casino more frequently than those who were not aware may indicate that it may take time for the program's promotional efforts to become visible to patrons.

The lack of a between group difference on the other sample characteristics is also noteworthy. Although one may expect individuals who frequently visit one of the three casinos in Massachusetts to be more likely to come across someone who tells them about GameSense or an advertisement about GameSense, or those who have elevated symptoms of disordered gambling would be inclined to seek information about RG programs, the study did not reveal such associations. Any potential explanation would be speculative. Future research should target the relatively small proportion of regular players who expressed a lack of awareness of

GameSense to better understand why they lack awareness of a program that should be highly visible to all regular patrons.

After all respondents were provided an explanation of GameSense, GSAs, and GSICs, respondents were asked who they thought the target audience happened to be. The majority believed that GameSense is for people who have trouble controlling their gambling, whereas only approximately half of respondents correctly believed GameSense is for all people who gamble. Several factors may have contributed to this result. It is possible that some sources of information about GameSense (e.g., friend, fellow player) predominantly emphasize its role in addressing gambling related problems and providing support to individuals with difficulties in controlling their gambling behavior. This messaging might have influenced the perception that GameSense is primarily geared towards those who already exhibit signs of problematic gambling. Second, there is preexisting societal and cultural biases that associate RG programs like GameSense solely with individuals who have gambling problems. These stereotypes or stigmas surrounding RG may influence people's perceptions and lead them to believe that GameSense is not relevant or applicable to all individuals who engage in gambling activities. It is important for further education and communication efforts to emphasize that GameSense is not solely for individuals with gambling problems but is relevant and beneficial to all individuals who gamble. By highlighting the program's broader role in promoting RG practices, enhancing the gaming experience, and providing valuable information and resources, misconceptions can be addressed, and a more inclusive understanding of GameSense's target audience can be fostered.

#### 5.2 Engagement with GameSense

Although it can be argued that there was a relatively high level of awareness, there are opportunities to increase engagement. The most common reasons for visiting a GSIC were that the patron stumbled upon it or out of curiosity. Reasons for not visiting included already having knowledge about how games work, familiarity with PlayMyWay, and not being asked to visit. However, a substantial proportion of respondents who did not visit expressed interest in visiting a GSIC to learn more about RG, PlayMyWay, and supports for problem gaming. Thus, respondents (even those who had yet to engage with GameSense) saw something in the program that may be of use to them.

We did, however, find that respondents who engaged with GameSense were more likely to score high in disordered gambling symptomatology, visit a casino in Massachusetts more frequently, and score lower on acceptance of personal responsibility for their gambling compared to those who had yet to engage with the program. Individuals with elevated symptoms of disordered gambling (and who attend the casino with frequency) may be engaging with GameSense for several reasons. Firstly, their engagement could stem from a recognition of their gambling-related difficulties, as individuals experiencing disordered gambling symptoms often have a heightened awareness of their challenges. They may proactively seek out GameSense to address and manage their symptoms, recognizing the need for assistance and support. Secondly, their visits to GameSense may be driven by a desire for guidance and resources. Those with higher levels of disordered gambling symptomatology often face negative consequences and challenges associated with their gambling behavior. By visiting GameSense, they can access resources, tools, and guidance to regain control over their gambling behavior, make informed decisions, and seek help when needed. Lastly, the targeted outreach efforts of GameSense may

play a role in attracting individuals with higher disordered gambling symptomatology. A focus on support services may effectively resonate with those who have gambling-related problems. However, doing so may create stigma around the GameSense program among those who do not have gambling-related problems leading to the (incorrect) perception that GameSense is not for all players.

Indeed, although GameSense aims to promote RG for all individuals, those who accepted personal responsibility for their gambling were less likely to engage with the program. One possible reason is that these individuals may perceive their gambling behavior as already aligned with positive play practices. They may have a balanced approach to gambling, with minimal negative consequences or problems. Consequently, they may not feel the immediate need for additional support or resources offered by GameSense (see Gainsbury et al., 2020; Turner et al., 2005). Moreover, individuals who accept responsibility for their gambling may not perceive themselves as the target audience for RG programs. They may view such programs as primarily designed for individuals with gambling-related difficulties, rather than for those who already exhibit positive play behaviors. This perception could lead to a lower motivation to actively engage with GameSense. To address this, policy makers could highlight the benefits of GameSense for all gamblers, including those who already accept responsibility for their gambling, in terms of enhancing their overall gambling experience and maintaining positive play behaviors.

Unfortunately, as shown by Sevigny and Ladouceur (2003), rational knowledge about the game often "switches off" during gambling and "switches on" again after ceasing the activity. Put differently, even though respondents may understand the cognitive biases associated with how games work and the odds of winning, players may slip into non-rational patterns of thought

when gambling (see Clark & Wohl, 2022; Delfabbro et al., 2020a). GameSense can offer information and tools to help prevent this from occurring, thus benefiting the full spectrum of players to gamble more responsibly (Hing et al., 2017; Sevigny & Ladouceur, 2003).

Informatively, we conducted a LCA on the reasons why those who visited did so. We found that there were two distinct groups of respondents among those who visited a GSIC: those who visited primarily because they were curious or for swag (Curiosity and Swag Inspired) and those who visited primarily for RG reasons (Information Seekers). We found that Information Seekers tended to be older than the Curiosity and Swag Inspired respondents. We also found that three distinct groups of respondents who did not visit a GSIC: those who reported not visiting a GSIC primarily because no one had invited them (Invitation-Responsive); those who did not engage with GameSense because they believed they already knew all the information (e.g., about responsible and problem gambling; Self-Assured) that GameSense had to offer; and those who believed they already knew all the information that GameSense had to offer and also did not agree with the presence of GSICs at the casino (Self-Assured Non-Believers). Importantly, the Self-Assured Non-Believers was the smallest of the three groups in terms of the number of respondents who comprised the group. It is also important to note that half of all Self-Assured Non-Believers did not endorse this view, and there was near 0% endorsement of this (anti-GameSense) idea among those in either the Invitation-Responsive and Self-Assured groups.

We also found those in Self-Assured group were lower in disordered gambling symptomatology and higher in positive play than those in the other two groups. This suggests that those in the Self-Assured group may have, in fact, already be well-informed about gambling games, their associated risk, and means to minimize those risks. Such players may be correct in their beliefs that they have a low need for RG programs like GameSense. Of importance for

MGC and GSAs will be differentiating between people who express that they do not need GameSense because they are already positive players (as may be the case among the Self-Assured) and those who express a similar sentiment erroneously (as may be the case among the Self-Assured Non-Believers). In fact, the Self-Assured Non-Believers may be at the greatest risk for gambling-related problems yet may be the most reticent to engage with GameSense.

When considering the implementation of RG programs like GameSense at casinos, it is essential to acknowledge that some individuals who have never engaged with such initiatives may harbor reservations about their presence. Several factors may contribute to this skepticism. Firstly, a lack of awareness may hinder their understanding of the purpose and significance of RG. Secondly, some players may be skeptical about the effectiveness of these programs, and even believe that the programs are merely a means for the industry to satisfy regulators (i.e., the industry does not truly care about the well-being of patrons), which can further fuel this viewpoint. Policy makers should consider these perspectives and address them through comprehensive education, targeted outreach efforts, and evidence-based communication to ensure a well-rounded understanding of the value and necessity of RG programs in maintaining a safe and enjoyable gambling environment for all.

#### **5.3 Recommendations**

*Recommendation #1: Increase awareness about the benefits of GameSense*. Regular patrons are aware of GameSense but are less familiar with the range of tools available, and in many cases unaware of how the program may benefit them. A campaign that informs regular, low- and moderate-risk players about the benefits of the program may correct misunderstandings about the relevance of the program for them.

Recommendation #2: Attract patrons through tailored RG messaging. Among those who engaged with GameSense, we found that most (65.7%) of the Information Seekers were 55+ and most (60.7%) of the Curiosity and Swag Inspired respondents were in the 35-54 age range. This suggests RG messaging may benefit from segmentation based on age. We recommend MGC embrace player segmentation to attract patrons. Older respondents were more likely to engage with GameSense for RG purposes. Thus, older people may be more receptive to RG related messages about GameSense. To tap into the younger demographic, perhaps heightening curiosity about GameSense (e.g., campaigns that ask "What is GameSense") or offer swag that will be attractive to a younger demographic. Prior research has already shown the benefits of player segmentation. Specifically, younger players prefer messages that use non-accusatory language that avoids invoking feelings of blame or guilt as well as tips that can assist them in becoming "better gamblers" (Gainsbury et al., 2018a). Capitalize on this by informing younger players about how GameSense tools can be utilized to save money, such as avoiding chasing losses. By framing RG programs as tools for financial management, casinos can attract younger patrons and foster a positive and empowering gambling experience for this demographic.

*Recommendation #3: Normalize the use of GameSense.* Foster a culture that embraces and normalizes the use of GameSense. By normalizing the use of GameSense tools and seamlessly integrating them into the gambling environment, players' attitudes can be positively influenced, dispelling the notion that GameSense is solely for those with gambling problems. This approach has been shown to increase both players' adoption of GameSense and their overall usage of its resources (Catania & Griffiths, 2021; Ivanova et al., 2019; Procter et al., 2019). By leveraging GameSense to improve gambling literacy, the MGC can create a more informed and empowered player base, fostering a positive and responsible gambling culture.

*Recommendation #4: Enhance the role and perceptions of GSAs.* GSAs play a critical role in disseminating information about the program to patrons. The more they can interact with players, the greater their potential impact. Needed is a campaign that increases understanding that GameSense is for all players (not only for individuals with gambling problems). Doing so will help all players feel comfortable seeking help, regardless of their specific needs. This approach should not only help destigmatize the role of GSAs but also highlights their broader function in providing information, support, and resources to enhance the overall gaming experience for everyone.

*Recommendation #5: Create a dedicated, GameSense branded, "Play Break" section within GSICs.* Recognizing the significance of play breaks as a key responsible gambling strategy, and considering that approximately a fifth of players view GSICs as potential areas for taking breaks from the gaming floor, we propose the introduction of dedicated "Play Break" area within GSICs. This approach would offer a unique opportunity for GSAs to engage players in meaningful interactions, such as demonstrations or exchanges, about RG practices. By combining the promotion of play breaks with educational discussions, casinos can proactively encourage responsible gambling behaviors while providing a supportive environment that aligns with players' relaxation needs. This innovative addition not only enhances player well-being but also facilitates a more comprehensive approach to RG within the casino setting.

*Recommendation #6: More research is required.* Additional research is required to better understand the short and long-term effects of interacting with GameSense on players' beliefs and behaviors. Specifically, a longitudinal study where players who do and players who do not engage with GameSense are assessed (by way of survey and player account data) both before and after engagement with GameSense.

#### 5.4 Limitations

A few limitations of the current research should be noted. First, we assessed regular players, which may limit the representativeness of the sample and may not fully capture the awareness and usage of a RG program at casinos. However, regular patrons are arguably more familiar with the casino environment. Assessing GameSense awareness, perceptions, and engagement among people who have only visited the casino once or a couple times may likewise skew findings. It should also be noted that the current sample was not a random sample. To our knowledge, limited research has been conducted to determine the characteristics of regular gamblers in Massachusetts. Thus, the regular players recruited for this study may not be representative of all players. Of note, the behaviors and attitudes of less frequent gamblers could differ from those of regular players, and our study's outcomes may not accurately reflect their perspectives on awareness and engagement with RG programs. As a result the ability to generalize our results to the broader gambling community may be constrained. We acknowledge this limitation and caution against extrapolating our findings to individuals who gamble less frequently. It is important to capture the experiences of regular players as this is who has the potential to come into contact with GameSense more frequently. This study serves as a valuable exploration within the context of regular players, and future research is warranted to comprehensively examine the dynamics of a RG programs across diverse gambling frequency groups.

Second, longitudinal data is needed to assess why players who have interacted with a GSA are higher in disordered gambling symptomatology but lower in Pre-Commitment and Personal Responsibility. It is to be expected that Pre-Commitment and Personal Responsibility scores would increase after speaking with a GSA; however, players who have interacted with a

GSA have lower Pre-Commitment and Personal Responsibility scores than those who have not engaged with the program. Therefore, a longitudinal study is needed to assess if players' Pre-Commitment and Personal Responsibility scores are increasing after speaking with a GSA or visiting a GSIC.

Third, there was significant missing data, with approximately 20% of participants failing to provide responses to certain questions. This introduces potential biases and reduces the overall sample size available for analysis. Consequently, our findings may be limited in their generalizability and could be skewed towards the characteristics and perspectives of those individuals who did provide complete responses. The missing data also pose challenges in accurately assessing the relations between variables and may affect the reliability and validity of our results. Future research should strive to address this limitation by implementing strategies to minimize missing data (e.g., reduce the length of the survey)

Lastly, this study did not examine whether differences in employee training impacts players' perceptions of GameSense. Catania and Griffiths (2021) found that if casino staff were not sufficiently trained in RG, they might not be able to properly handle contact with players. Specifically, if staff across the different casinos are given different messages about gambling, front-line staff may pass along erroneous cognitions to players (e.g., that persistence pays off) or the belief that RG tools and GameSense is for players who are engaging in problematic gambling behaviors.

#### 5.5 Conclusion

The current study sheds light on the awareness and perceptions surrounding the GameSense program, presenting valuable opportunities for policy makers. Although most regular gamblers were aware of the program, there are opportunities to increase engagement.

Notably, those who actively engaged with GameSense exhibited higher levels of disordered gambling symptomatology and lower levels of positive play, suggesting that those who need GameSense the most are, in fact, engaging with the program. These findings hold significant implications for the development and implementation of RG programs. To maximize their impact, policy makers should consider increasing awareness of RG programs, tailoring them to address the specific needs of different target audiences, and promoting positive play across all types of gamblers.

There is a need for further research on the challenges and opportunities available to increase awareness, perceptions, and engagement with GameSense. Specifically, future investigations should prioritize identifying effective strategies to enhance the belief that GameSense is for all players. Doing so should have downstream effects on engagement. Additionally, the development of tailored programs catering to the diverse needs of different types of gamblers is crucial. By capitalizing on these opportunities and implementing evidencebased approaches, policy makers can foster a more informed and responsible gambling landscape, promoting positive play and mitigating the risks associated with disordered gambling behaviors.

#### References

- Auer, M., & Griffiths, M. D. (2013). Voluntary limit setting and player choice in most intense online gamblers: An empirical study of gambling behavior. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 29(4), 647–660. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-012-9332-y
- Auer, M., Malischnig, D., & Griffiths, M. (2014). Is "pop-up" messaging in online slot machine gambling effective as a responsible gambling strategy? *Journal of Gambling Issues, 29*, 1–. https://doi.org/10.4309/jgi.2014.29.3
- Bagot, K. L., Cheetham, A., Lubman, D. I., & Rodda, S. N. (2021). Predictors of strategy engagement for the prevention and reduction of gambling harm: A prospective application of the theory of planned behavior. *International Journal of Mental Health* and Addiction, 19(5), 1812–1828. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-020-00265-5
- Blaszczynski, A., Collins, P., Fong, D., Ladouceur, R., Nower, L., Shaffer, H. J., Tavares, H.,
  & Venisse, J.-L. (2011). Responsible gambling: general principles and minimal requirements. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *27*(4), 565–573.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-010-9214-0
- Blaszczynski, A., Gainsbury, S., & Karlov, L. (2014). Blue gum gaming machine: An evaluation of responsible gambling features. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *30*(3), 697–712. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-013-9378-5
- Blaszczynski, A., Ladouceur, R., & Shaffer, H. J. (2004). A science-based framework for responsible gambling: The Reno model. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 20(3), 301–317. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOGS.0000040281.49444.e2
- British Columbia Lottery Corporation (BCLC). (2021). *GameSense homepage*. https://www.gamesense.com

Broda, A., LaPlante, D. A., Nelson, S. E., LaBrie, R. A., Bosworth, L. B., & Shaffer, H. J.
(2008). Virtual harm reduction efforts for Internet gambling: effects of deposit limits on actual Internet sports gambling behavior. *Harm Reduction Journal*, *5*, 1-9.
https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7517-5-27

- Browne, M., & Rockloff, M. J. (2018). Prevalence of gambling-related harm provides evidence for the prevention paradox. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 7(2), 410–422. https://doi.org/10.1556/2006.7.2018.41
- Burton, J. L., Hill, D. J., & Bakir, A. (2015). Influencing light versus heavy engagers of harmful behavior to curb their habits through positive and negative ad imagery. *Journal of Consumer Behavior*, 14(4), 237–247. https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.1514
- Catania, M., & Griffiths, M. D. (2021). Analyzing consumer protection for gamblers across different online gambling operators: A replication study. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-021-00695-9
- Clark, L., & Wohl, M. J. A. (2022). Langer's illusion of control and the cognitive model of disordered gambling. *Addiction (Abingdon, England)*, 117(4), 1146–1151. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.15649
- Delfabbro, P., Georgiou, N., Malvaso, C., & King, D. (2020a). Is self-reported propensity for everyday illusions of control higher in gamblers and is it associated with gambling-specific erroneous beliefs? *SAGE Open, 10*(1), 215824401989943–. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244019899436
- Delfabbro, P., King, D. L., & Georgiou, N. (2020b). Positive play and its relationship with gambling harms and benefits. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, *9*(2), 363–370. https://doi.org/10.1556/2006.2020.00041

Dickerson, M. (2003). *What if there were no problem gamblers?* GREO. https://www.greo.ca/Modules/EvidenceCentre/files/Dickerson(2003)What\_if\_there\_were no problem gamblers.pdf

- Dickson-Gillespie, Rugle, L., Rosenthal, R., & Fong, T. (2008). Preventing the incidence and harm of gambling problems. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, *29*(1), 37–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10935-008-0126-z
- Ferris, J., & Wynne, H. (2001). The Canadian problem gambling index: Final report. Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse. https://www.greo.ca/Modules/EvidenceCentre/files/Ferris%20et%20al(2001)The\_Canadi an\_Problem\_Gambling\_Index.pdf
- Forsström, D., Hesser, H., & Carlbring, P. (2016). Usage of a responsible gambling tool: A descriptive analysis and latent class analysis of user behavior. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 32(3), 889–904. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-015-9590-6
- Gainsbury, S. M., Angus, D. J., Procter, L., & Blaszczynski, A. (2020). Use of consumer protection tools on internet gambling sites: Customer perceptions, motivators, and barriers to use. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *36*(1), 259–276. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-019-09859-8
- Gainsbury, S. M., Abarbanel, B. L. L., Philander, K. S., & Butler, J. V. (2018a). Strategies to customize responsible gambling messages: A review and focus group study. *BMC Public Health*, 18(1), 1381–1381. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-6281-0
- Gainsbury, S. M., Delfabbro, P., King, D. L., & Hing, N. (2016). An exploratory study of gambling operators' use of social media and the latent messages conveyed. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 32(1), 125–141. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-015-9525-2

- Gainsbury, S. M., Jakob, L., & Aro, D. (2018b). Understanding end-user perspectives to enhance perceived value uptake of harm-minimization tools: Considering gambler's views of a pre-commitment system. *International Gambling Studies*, 18(1), 22–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2017.1370723
- Gray, H. M., Keating, L., Shaffer, H. J., & LaPlante, D. A. (2020). Observations of the first GameSense-branded responsible gambling centre in a US casino. *Health Education Journal*, 79(1), 104–120. https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896919863121
- Griffiths, M. D., Wood, R. T. A., & Parke, J. (2009). Social responsibility tools in online gambling: A survey of attitudes and behavior among internet gamblers. *Cyberpsychology & Behavior, 12*(4), 413–421. https://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2009.0062
- Hing, N. (2004). The efficacy of responsible gambling measures in NSW clubs: The gambler's perspective. *Gambling Research*, *16*, 32-46.
  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/41083361\_The\_efficacy\_of\_responsible\_ga mbling\_measures\_in\_NSW\_clubs\_The\_gambler's\_perspective
- Hing, N. (2010). The evolution of responsible gambling policy and practice: Insights for Asia from Australia. Asian Journal of Gambling Issues and Public Health, 1(1), 19–33. https://doi.org/10.1186/2195-3007-1-19
- Hing, N., Nuske, E., & Gainsbury, S. (2011). Gamblers at-risk and their help-seeking behavior.
  Melbourne: Gambling Research Australia.
  https://www.gamblingresearch.org.au/sites/default/files/2019-10/Gamblers-at-risk-and-their-help-seeking-behavior.pdf

- Hing, N., Sproston, K., Tran, K., & Russell, A. M. T. (2017). Gambling responsibly: Who does it and to what end? *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 33(1), 149–165. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-016-9615-9
- Hollingshead, S. J., & Wohl, M. J. A. (2022). Loyalty program rewards increases willingness to use responsible gambling tools and attitudinal loyalty. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-022-00905-y
- Ivanova, E., Rafi, J., Lindner, P., & Carlbring, P. (2019). Experiences of responsible gambling tools among non-problem gamblers: A survey of active customers of an online gambling platform. *Addictive Behaviors Reports*, 9, 100161–100161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abrep.2019.100161
- Kim, H. S., Wohl, M. J. A., Salmon, M. & Santesso, D. (2017). When do problem gamblers help themselves? Self-discontinuity increases self-directed change over time. *Addictive Behavior*, 64, 148-153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.08.037
- Kim, H., Wohl, M. J. A., Stewart, M., Sztainert, T., & Gainsbury, S. (2014). Limit your time, gamble responsibility: Setting a time limit (via pop-up message) on an electronic gambling machine reduces time on device. *International Gambling Studies, 14*, 266-278. https://doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2014.910244
- Ladouceur, R., Blaszczynski, A., & Lalande, D. R. (2012). Pre-commitment in gambling: A review of the empirical evidence. *International Gambling Studies*, 12(2), 215–230. https://doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2012.658078
- LaPlante, D.A., Nelson, S.E., LaBrie, R.A., & Shaffer, H.J. (2011). Disordered gambling, type of gambling and gambling involvement in the British Gambling Prevalence Survey 2007. *European Journal of Public Health, 21, 4*, 532-537.

Louderback, E. R., Gray, H. M., LaPlante, D. A., Abarbanel, B., & Bernhard, B. J. (2022a).
 A comparison of two GameSense implementation approaches: How program awareness and engagement relate to gambling beliefs and behaviors. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 38(1), 153–183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-021-10013-6

- Louderback, E. R., LaPlante, D. A., Abarbanel, B., Kraus, S. W., Bernhard, B. J., & Gray, H. M. (2022b). Examining responsible gambling program awareness and engagement trends and relationships with gambling beliefs and behaviors: A three-wave study of customers from a major gambling operator. *Journal of Gambling Studies, 1–29*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-022-10109-7
- Lubman, D., Rodda, S., Hing, N., Cheetham, A., Cartmill, T., Nuske, E., Hodgins, D., & Cunningham, J. (2015). *Gambler self-help strategies: A comprehensive assessment of strategies and actions*. Gambling Research Australia.
  https://www.gamblingresearch.org.au/sites/default/files/2019-10/Gambler%20self-help%20strategies%202015.pdf
- Marko, S., Thomas, S. L., Robinson, K., & Daube, M. (2022). Gamblers' perceptions of responsibility for gambling harm: A critical qualitative inquiry. *BMC Public Health*, 22(1), 725–725. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13109-9
- Matheson, F. I., Hamilton-Wright, S., Kryszajtys, D. T., Wiese, J. L., Cadel, L., Ziegler, C., Hwang, S. W., & Guilcher, S. J. T. (2019). The use of self-management strategies for problem gambling: A scoping review. *BMC Public Health*, 19(1), 445–445. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-6755-8
- Nelson, S. E., LaPlante, D. A., Peller, A. J., Schumann, A., LaBrie, R. A., & Shaffer, H. J. (2008). Real limits in the virtual world: Self-limiting behavior of internet gamblers.

*Journal of Gambling Studies, 24*(4), 463–477. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-008-9106-8

- Nower, L., & Blaszczynski, A. (2010). Gambling motivations, money-limiting strategies, and precommitment preferences of problem versus non-problem gamblers. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 26(3), 361–372. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-009-9170-8
- Procter, L., Angus, D. J., Blaszczynski, A., & Gainsbury, S. M. (2019). Understanding use of consumer protection tools among internet gambling customers: Utility of the Theory of Planned Behavior and Theory of Reasoned Action. *Addictive Behaviors, 99*, 106050– 106050. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.106050
- Rodda, S. N., Hing, N., Hodgins, D. C., Cheetham, A., Dickins, M., & Lubman, D. I. (2017).
  Change strategies and associated implementation challenges: An analysis of online counselling sessions. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *33*(3), 955–973.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-016-9661-3
- Schottler Consulting. (2009). Major findings of a trial of a card-based gaming product at the Redcliffe RSL: Card-based trial evaluation. Adelaide: Department of Treasury and Finance. https://www.publications.qld.gov.au/dataset/4d12b47b-d516-4851-82f5-65218fcaadfb/resource/c4ad9af4-f642-4622-80ff-5bdb11747ac3/download/report-intocard-based-gaming-cbg-trial-redcliffe-rsl.pdf
- Sevigny, S., & Ladouceur, R. (2003). Gamblers' irrational thinking about chance events: the "double switching" concept. *International Gambling Studies*, 3(2), 149–161. https://doi.org/10.1080/1356347032000142261
- Smith, P. W. (2014). GameSense: Changing the channel on responsible gambling. (Originally published in *Responsible Gambling Review*, *1*[1]: 6–15).

https://www.sustainablegaming.ca/blog/2019/1/6/gamesense-changing-the-channelon-responsible-gambling

- Stewart, M. J. & Wohl, M. J. A. (2013). Pop-up messages, dissociation, and craving: How monetary limit reminders facilitate adherence in a session of slot machine gambling. *Psychology of Addictive Behavior*, 27, 288-273. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029882
- Tabri, N., Hollingshead, S. J., & Wohl, M. J. A. (2019). A limit approaching pop-up message reduces gambling expenditures, except among players with a financially focused selfconcept. *International Gambling Studies*, 19(2), 327–338. https://doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2019.1567806
- Tabri, N., Wohl, M. J. A., Eddy, K. T., & Thomas, J. J. (2017). Me, myself, and money: Having a financially focused self-concept and its consequences for disordered gambling. *International Gambling Studies*, 17(1), 30 50.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2016.1252414
- Tabri, N., Wohl, M. J. A., & Xuereb, S. (2021). Population-based safer gambling/responsible gambling efforts. In M. Hilbrecht (Ed.), *Prevention and education evidence review: Gambling-related harm* (pp. 66-108). GREO. https://doi.org/10.33684/2021.006
- Tong, K.-K., Hung, E. P. W., Lei, C. M. W., & Wu, A. M. S. (2018). Public awareness and practice of responsible gambling in Macao. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 34(4), 1261– 1280. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-018-9750-6
- Turner, N. E., Wiebe, J., Falkowski-Ham, A., Kelly, J., & Skinner, W. (2005). Public awareness of responsible gambling and gambling behaviors in Ontario. *International Gambling Studies*, 5(1), 95–112. https://doi.org/10.1080/14459790500098044

- Welte, J.W., Barnes, G.M., Wieczorek, W.F., Tidwell, M.O., & Parker, J. (2004). Risk factors for pathological gambling. *Addictive behaviors*, 29, 2, 323-335.
- Wohl, M. J. A. (2018). Loyalty programmes in the gambling industry: Potentials for harm and possibilities for harm-minimization. *International Gambling Studies*, 18(3), 495– 511. https://doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2018.1480649
- Wohl, M. J. A., Christie, K.-L., Matheson, K., & Anisman, H. (2010). Animation-based education as a gambling prevention tool: Correcting erroneous cognitions and reducing the frequency of exceeding limits among slots players. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 26(3), 469–486. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-009-9155-7
- Wohl, M. J. A., Davis, C. G., & Hollingshead, S. J. (2017). How much have you won or lost?
  Personalized behavioral feedback about gambling expenditures regulates play. *Computers in Human Behavior, 70*, 437–445.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.01.025

- Wohl, M. J. A., Davis, C. G., & Tabri, N. (in press). Setting a hard (versus soft) monetary limit decrease expenditure: An assessment using player account data. *International Gambling Studies*. https://doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2023.2183974
- Wohl, M. J. A., Kim, H. S., & Sztainert, T. (2014). From the laboratory to the casino: Using psychological principles to design better responsible gambling tools. *Responsible Gambling Review*, 1, 16-26.
- Wohl, M. J. A., & Stewart, M. J. (2012). Promoting responsible gambling: Assessing the efficacy of initiatives aimed at increasing monetary and time limit adherence among slot machine gamblers [Research Report]. Guelph, ON: Ontario Problem Gambling Research Centre.

- Wohl, M. J. A., Sztainert, T., & Young, M. M. (2014). The CARE Model: How to Improve Industry–Government–Health Care Provider Linkages. In D. Richards, L. Nower, & A.
  Blaszczynski (Eds.), *The Wiley-Blackwell Handbook of Disordered Gambling* (pp. 263– 282). John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Wood, R. T. A., & Griffiths, M. D. (2008). Why Swedish people play online poker and factors that can increase or decrease trust in poker web sites: A qualitative investigation. *Journal* of Gambling Issues, 21, 80–97. https://doi.org/10.4309/jgi.2008.21.8
- Wood, R. T. A., & Griffiths, M. D. (2015). Understanding positive play: An exploration of playing experiences and responsible gambling practices. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 31(4), 1715–1734. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-014-9489-7
- Wood, R. T. A., & Wohl, M. J. A. (2015). Assessing the effectiveness of a responsible gambling behavioral feedback tool for reducing the gambling expenditure of at-risk players. *International Gambling Studies*, 15(2), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2015.1049191
- Wood, R. T. A., Wohl, M. J. A., Tabri, N., & Philander, K. (2017). Measuring responsible gambling amongst players: Development of the Positive Play Scale. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 227–227. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00227</u>
- Young, M. M., Hodgins, D. C., Currie, S. R., Brunelle, N., Dufour, M., Flores-Pajot, M. C., & Nadeau, L. (2022). Not too much, not too often, and not too many: The results of the first large-scale, international project to develop lower-risk gambling guidelines. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 1-19.
- Zhou, X. L., Goernert, P. N., & Corenblum, B. (2019). Examining the efficacy of the GameSense gambling prevention programme among university undergraduate

students. International Gambling Studies, 19(2), 282–295.

https://doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2018.1554083

## Appendix A: Supplemental Information about the Latent Class Analyses

Latent class analyses were used to identify typologies of reasons for having visited and not visited a Gamesense information center, respectively. In each latent class analysis, a discrete latent variable was used to characterize the cross-classification of the observed binary variables. As well, in each latent class analysis, we examined the fit of 2-class, 3-class, and 4-class models. The Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) was used to determine which model provided the best fit to the data. The model with the lowest BIC value provides the best fit to the data. We used the "elbow" method (Masyn, 2013), which involves plotting the BIC values from the different models and visually identifying the model at which decreases in BIC values start to diminish relative to the addition of more classes. In addition, we used the Lo et al. (2001) likelihood ratio test (LMR-LRT) to compare adjacent models. A statistically significant LMR-LRT value indicates that the k + 1 model provides a better fit to the data than the k model. However, if the LMR-LRT was not statistically significant, then the BICs of the adjacent models were compared. Furthermore, we conducted checks for interpretability and precision of the results by examining whether any class had small counts and entropy values close to one. Entropy values closer to one indicate that a given model is good at classifying participants into groups based on their response patterns. If these checks were successful, then the bootstrap likelihood ratio test (BLRT) was used to confirm model fit. The BLRT is also a relative model test, with a statistically significant value indicating that the k + 1 model fits the data better than the k model. When the BLRT did not converge, we relied on BIC.

Fit statistics for the latent class analyses with varying number of classes (two to four) for both LCAs conducted (reasons for visiting and reasons for not visiting) are reported in Table A1. Four participants from the LCA analysis had no data on reasons for visiting and so they were excluded from the LCA. Among those who provided at least one reason for visiting a GameSense information center, we determined that a 2-group model provided the best fit to the data based on the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) "elbow" method. Although the 3-group model provided a good fit to the data relative to the 2-group model via the Lo et al. (2001) likelihood ratio test (LMR-LRT), the BIC for the 3-group model was slightly larger than the 2-group model.

## LCA: Reasons for visiting a GSIC

The dependent variable in these analyses was group membership with Group 1 coded as "1" (n = 67) and Group 2 coded as "2" (n = 142). For analyses only involving gender, there was one participant that preferred to specify their gender and six preferred not to disclose their gender. These participants were excluded from the analyses involving gender as results will be unreliable due their small sample size.

## LCA: Reasons for not visiting a GSIC

For participants who never visited a GSIC, we determined that the 3-group model provided the best fit to the data based on the BIC "elbow" method, LMRT, and BLRT (see Table A1).

## Table A1

# Model Fit Indices Of The Latent Class Analyses

Number of groups	BIC	LMRT <i>p</i> -value	BLRT <i>p</i> -value Entropy		Smallest class size %	
Visited a GSIC						
2	1525.93	<.01	<.01	.70	35.08%	
3	1534.46	.02	<.01	.62	17.28%	
4	1567.46	.20	1.00	.67	3.67%	
Never visited a GSIC						
2	5164.24	<.01	<.01	.69	34.91%	
3	5062.94	<.01	<.01	.68	16.88%	
4	5095.13	.27	.08	.67	7.67%	
<i>Note.</i> BIC = Bayesian Information Criterion; LMRT = Lo, Mendell, and Rubin Likelihood Ratio Test;						
BLRT = Bootstrap Likelihood Ratio Test;						

# Appendix B: Recruitment Email and Survey

SURVEY	[Logo]
NAME	GameSense
	GameSense: Players Survey
	(Header – survey title) GameSense: Players Survey from [casino name], Carleton University, and Massachusetts Gaming Commission
EMAIL 1 – Invitation	(Subject line) Complete this survey for a \$10 Amazon gift card
	(Header) GameSense: Players Survey conducted by Carleton University supported by [casino name], Massachusetts Gaming Commission, and International Center for Responsible Gaming
	(Headline) Give us your thoughts about GameSense and receive a \$10 gift card! *
	(Body copy)
	GomeSense As a [rewards program name] member, we are asking for your thoughts on GameSense at [casino name].
	We are interested in your thoughts even if you have never heard of GameSense. You'll receive a \$10 Amazon gift card just for completing the short 10-min survey!
	The survey will be open until January 1, 2023 or we reached 300 participants (whichever comes first). So participate now before it is too late.
	(Offer callout)
	COMPLETE 1 SURVEY: RECEIVE 1 \$10 GIFT CARD*
	<button> <u>Start Now (ENGLISH)</u> <link landing="" page="" survey="" to=""/></button>
	* Some restrictions apply. To receive the \$10 gift card you must be eligible to participate in the survey and must complete at least 75% of the survey

	See full Terms and Conditions for details.
Email Footer (footmate)	<ul> <li>Please do not reply to this message. If you wish to contact us, <u>click here</u>. For designated [rewards program name] members only. Must be 21 years of age or older. See official Terms and Conditions for promotional details. We value your privacy.</li> <li>Patrons with self-excluded or trespassed status as determined by [casino name], will not be eligible to participate in this promotion.</li> </ul>
(footnote)	We will not be responsible for communications which contain incorrect or inaccurate information due to human or technical error or which are delayed or misdirected due to any incorrect or inaccurate capture of customer information, technical malfunctions, human or technical error, visual or printing errors, or garbled data or transmissions, omission, interruption, deletion, defect or failures of any telephone, computer line or network, computer equipment, software or any combination thereof. This email was sent by [casino name], the Gambling Lab at Carleton University, and Massachusetts Gaming Commission
# **GameSense: Players Survey**

#### **Informed Consent**

**Research personnel:** The following people are involved in this study, and may be contacted at any time if you have questions or concerns:

Dr. Michael Wohl (Principal Investigator; michael.wohl@carleton.ca; 613-520-2600, ext. 2908); Dr. Nassim Tabri (Principal Investigator; nassim.tabri@carleton.ca; 613-520-2600, ext. 1727); Dr. Chris Davis (Principal Investigator; chris.davis@carleton.ca; 613-520-2600, ext. 2251); Grace Gaudett (Other research personnel; GraceGaudett@cmail.carleton.ca); Lauren Belyea (Other research personnel; LaurenBelyea@cmail.carleton.ca).

**Concerns:** Should you have any ethical concerns about this research, please contact the Carleton University Ethics Board (ethics@carleton.ca).

**Purpose and Task Requirements**: We are asking for some input from players about GameSense. We are interested in your thoughts about the GameSense brand, the GameSense Information Centers, and the GameSense Advisors. Even if you have never heard of any of these, we welcome your input.

**Potential Risk/Discomfort:** We anticipate no physical discomfort to you as a result of your participation in this study. It is possible, however, that you could experience some distress when thinking about past or current gaming activities. If you are experiencing problems with your gambling, feel free to call 1-800-327-5050 for treatment options or 1-800-426-1234 for help to exclude yourself from the Massachusetts casinos. A copy of this information will be provided to you in the debriefing sheet following the questionnaires.

**Benefits/Compensation:** We are offering a \$10 Amazon.com Gift Card for completing this online survey, which should take you approximately 10 minutes. Your gift card will be emailed to you should you provide us with a valid email address.

Anonymity/Confidentiality: The information you provide will be kept confidential. This information will be aggregated with the information collected from other participants and used only for research and knowledge translation purposes. All information collected will be stored securely on Qualtrics' servers located in Toronto, and thus not subject to the Patriot Act. Once data from this survey are matched with your player data (if authorized by you), all identifying information will be destroyed (by February 2022). Anonymized data will be stored on the computers of the researchers and research assistants involved with this project. Because there will be no personal information associated with the data, the dataset will be stored electronically and kept indefinitely. Additionally, we will upload this anonymized dataset to an online data repository called Open Science Framework (http://osf.io/) for research and teaching purposes. Aggregate data may also be used in publications, presentations, and future research. The (fully anonymized) data from this study may be released to journals upon request. Lastly, anonymized data may be shared with trusted colleagues.

**Right to withdraw**: Participation in this study is entirely voluntary. You may decline to answer certain questions or to withdraw your data upon completion of the survey. To withdraw your data, please email the researchers. Upon withdrawal, all your information will be permanently deleted.

If you would like to withdraw during the study, you may click the "withdraw" button at the bottom of each page. By clicking "withdraw" you will automatically be re-directed to the debriefing page including the links to access support services.

This study has received clearance by the Carleton University Research Ethics Board B (Reference #117682) and is being funded by Massachusetts Gaming Commission. The survey has the support of MGM Springfield/Encore Boston Harbor/Plainridge Park Casino.

By checking this box, you agree to the following terms:

O I have read the above form and understand the conditions of my participation. I understand that I will be compensated with a \$10 Amazon.com Gift Card for my participation in this study. My participation in this study is voluntary. (1)

 $\bigcirc$  I do not consent to the study. (2)

#### **Ineligibility Debriefing**

Thank you for your interest in taking the GameSense: Players Survey. Unfortunately, you do not qualify to complete the survey at this time.

For more information on the GameSense: General Players Survey, please contact the Gaming Lab at Carleton University at gaming.lab@carleton.ca

#### **Eligibility Criteria**

I am at least 21 years old

 $\bigcirc$  Yes (1)

O No (2)

#### I have gambled at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC in the last 3 months

Yes (1)No (2)

In the last 3 months, I have visited MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC \_\_\_\_ times

0 times (1)
1 time (2)
2 times (3)
3 times (4)
4 times (5)

 $\bigcirc$  5 or more times (6)

#### Measures

Have you heard about GameSense?

 $\bigcirc$  Yes - I have heard about GameSense. (1)

 $\bigcirc$  No - I have never heard about GameSense. (2)

I heard about GameSense from ...



Friends (1)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Other players (2)	0	$\bigcirc$
Casino staff (3)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
A GameSense Advisor (4)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Massgaming.com (5)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Social media (6)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Print advertisements (7)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Radio advertisements (8)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
TV advertisements (9)	0	$\bigcirc$
Other (please specify): (10)	0	$\bigcirc$

Based on your current understanding of GameSense, what is its purpose?

Resp	onse
Yes (1)	No (2)

It offers a place where players can relax away from the gaming floor (i.e., a lounge ) (1)	0	$\bigcirc$
It's a program that teaches players how games work (2)	0	$\bigcirc$
It's a program that educates players about how to gamble responsibly (e.g., within an affordable money and/or time limit) (3)	0	$\bigcirc$
It offers a place where players can bet on sports (4)	0	$\bigcirc$
It's a program that includes PlayMyWay - a budgeting tool where you track your play and receive notifications as you get closer to the budget you've set (5)	0	$\bigcirc$
It's a program that helps dispel gaming-related myths (6)	0	$\bigcirc$
It offers a place where players can find where to get support if they believe their gaming has become problematic (7)	0	$\bigcirc$
It's a program that allows players to voluntarily exclude themselves from the gaming floor at all casinos in Massachusetts (8)	0	$\bigcirc$
Other (please specify): (9)	0	$\bigcirc$

GameSense is a comprehensive responsible gaming strategy.

**GameSense Advisors** work at a **GameSense Info Center** located at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC. GameSense Advisors receive extensive training in the areas of responsible gaming techniques, problem gaming behavior and local resources for help. Many GameSense Advisors come to the position with

professional gaming experience which is useful in understanding patrons' needs.

	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Slightly Disagree (3)	Neither Disagree nor Agree (4)	Slightly Agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly Agree (7)
People who have trouble controlling their gaming. (1)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
People who gamble on a regular basis. (2)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
People who gamble occasionally. (3)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
All people who gamble. (4)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

I think that the target audience for GameSense is...

GameSense, and the responsible gaming education and tools it provides, was developed for players like me.

	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Slightly Disagree (3)	Neither Disagree nor Agree (4)	Slightly Agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly Agree (7)
GameSense, and the responsible gaming education and tools it provides, was developed for players like me. (1)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Have you visited a GameSense Info Center at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC?

• Yes, I visited the GameSense Info Center at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC. (1)

O No, I have not visited a GameSense Info Center at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC. (2)

Please indicate your main reasons for visiting a GameSense Info Center.

	Response		
	Yes (1)	No (2)	
I heard about the Info Center and was curious. (1)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
I stumbled upon one and was curious. (2)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
To learn more about how games work. (3)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
To learn more about responsible gaming (e.g., within an affordable money and/or time limit). (4)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
To learn about and enroll in PlayMyWay (i.e., a money budgeting tool for your slot play that works with your rewards card). (5)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
To get swag (e.g., a lanyard). (6)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
To learn about gaming-related myths. (7)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
To learn about supports for problem gaming. (8)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
To learn about voluntary self- exclusion. (10)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
Other (please specify): (11)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	

Please indicate your reasons for NOT visiting a GameSense Info Center.

Response

	Yes (1)	No (2)
No one has asked me to check GameSense out. (1)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
I already know how games work. (2)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
I already know about gaming- related myths. (3)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
I already know about PlayMyWay - a free, budgeting tool that allows a player to set a money limit and track their play. (4)	0	0
I don't think a GameSense Advisor would be able to teach me anything. (5)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
I don't think GameSense Advisors help players. (6)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
I don't agree with the presence of a GameSense Info Center at the casino. (7)	0	$\bigcirc$
Other (please specify): (8)	0	0

I would go to a GameSense Info Center if ...

Resp	ponse
Yes (1)	No (2)

I wanted to learn more about how to gamble responsibly (e.g., playing within an affordable money and/or time limit) (5)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
I could get swag (e.g., a lanyard) (6)	0	$\bigcirc$
I wanted to learn more about PlayMyWay - a free, budgeting tool that allows a player to set a money limit and track their play (7)	0	0
I wanted to learn more about gaming-related myths (8)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
I wanted to learn about supports for problem gaming (9)	0	$\bigcirc$
I wanted to learn more about voluntary self-exclusion for players (10)	0	$\bigcirc$
Other (please specify): (11)	0	$\bigcirc$

Have you ever had an interaction with a GameSense Advisor (i.e., a trained responsible gaming specialist who works at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC)?

○ Yes - I have had an interaction with a GameSense Advisor at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC. (1)

No - I have never had an interaction with a GameSense Advisor at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC.
 (2)

Please indicate the (approximate) number of interactions you have had with a GameSense Advisor at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC using the following categories. Please respond with a digit (e.g., 10).

Simple (i.e., a short, communication from a GameSense Advisor about issues unrelated to gaming). Number of times = (1)
Demonstration (i.e., a longer, communication from a GameSense Advisor about how a game, responsible gaming tool, or concept works). Number of times = (2)
Exchange (i.e., a two-way communication with a GameSense Advisor about responsible gaming or problem gaming). Number of times = (3)

Now we want you to think about an interaction you have had with a GameSense advisor that has had the greatest influence on your beliefs about gaming or your gaming behavior.

Please take a moment to think about the most impactful interaction you have had with a GameSense Advisor.

What was the nature of this influential interaction with a GameSense Advisor?

 $\bigcirc$  It was a simple interaction (i.e., a short, communication from a GameSense Advisor about issues unrelated to gaming). (1)

O It was a demonstration (i.e., a longer, communication from a GameSense Advisor about how a game, responsible gaming tool, or concept works). (2)

I had an exchange with a GameSense Advisor (i.e., a two-way communication with a GameSense Advisor about responsible gaming or problem gaming). (3)

Please tell us a bit more about this influential interaction. Who started the interaction? What was it about?

	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Slightly Disagree (3)	Neither Disagree nor Agree (4)	Slightly Agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly Agree (7)
I feel more informed about how to gamble responsibly. (1)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
I feel more informed about how gaming games work. (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0	0
I feel that the casino cares about me. (3)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
I would encourage others to speak with a GameSense Advisor. (4)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0

Due to my experience(s) with a GameSense Advisor...

Please indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with the following items.

Because MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC has GameSense onsite ....

	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Slightly Disagree (3)	Neither Disagree nor Agree (4)	Slightly Agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly Agree (7)
I consider MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC a good place to gamble. (1)	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0
I am more trusting of MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC. (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
I am more satisfied with MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC. (3)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
I have a stronger sense of connection to MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC. (4)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0
MGM Springfield/ENH/PPC meets or exceeds my expectations for a gaming operator. (5)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0
I feel more loyal to MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC. (6)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0
I feel MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC wants me to keep my gaming within an affordable limit. (7)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0

On the following pages, we are going to ask you some questions about your beliefs and behaviors as they pertain to gaming.

In the last 3 months, what proportion of your gaming happened at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC:

	0% (1)	About 25% (2)	About 50% (3)	About 75% (4)	100% (5)
Response (1)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$

	Never (0%) (1)	Rarely (1-33%) (2)	Sometimes (34- 66%) (3)	Often (67-99%) (4)	Always (100%) (5)
Slot machines (1)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Table games (2)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Video table games (3)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Lottery (4)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Other (please specify): (5)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

In the last 3 months, when you visited MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC, how often did you play:

Please think about your gaming at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC over the last three months.

Money/location In **the last 3 months**, approximately **how much money** have you spent gaming at **MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC**? (Please answer to the closest dollar; e.g., 50).

Over the **last 3 months, overall,** have you won, lost, or broke even playing at **MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC**?

○ I have won money at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC (1)

○ I have lost money at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC (2)

○ I have broken even at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC (3)

Approximately how much money have you won playing at **MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC** in this period of time? Please answer in dollars.

73

Approximately how much money have you lost playing at **MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC** in this period of time? Please answer in dollars.

In the last 3 months, how often did you use your **Rewards Card** while playing at **MGM** Springfield/EBH/PPC?

 $\bigcirc$  Never (0%) (1)

 $\bigcirc$  Rarely (1-33%) (2)

O Sometimes (34-66%) (3)

Often (67-99%) (4)

O Always (100%) (5)

In the **last 3 months**, overall **how much money** have you spent gaming **anywhere**? (Please answer to the closest dollar; e.g., 50).

The following statements have to do with your beliefs and opinions about gaming. Please indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with each statement.

I believe that...

	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Slightly Disagree (3)	Neither Disagree nor Agree (4)	Slightly Agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly Agree (7)
I should be able to walk away from gaming at any time. (1)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
I should be aware of how much money I spend when I gamble. (2)	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$
It's my responsibility to spend only money that I can afford to lose. (3)	0	0	0	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$
I should only gamble when I have enough money to cover all my bills first. (4)	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0	0	0
Gaming is not a good way to make money. (5)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
My chances of winning get better after I have lost. (6)	0	0	0	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$
If I gamble more often, it will help me to win more than I lose. (7)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

In the last 3 months...

	Never (1)	Rarely (2)	Occasionally (3)	Sometimes (4)	Frequently (5)	Usually (6)	Always (7)
I felt in control of my gaming behavior. (1)	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0	0	0
I was honest with my family and/or friends about the amount of MONEY I spent gaming. (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0
I was honest with my family and/or friends about the amount of TIME I spent gaming. (3)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
I only gambled with MONEY that I could afford to lose. (4)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0	0
I only spent TIME gaming that I could afford to spend. (5)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
I considered the amount of MONEY I was willing to lose BEFORE I gambled. (6)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0



The following statements consist of various reasons why some people gamble. Please answer the following items by indicating how often you gamble for each of the following reasons.

	Always (1)	Most of the time (2)	About half the time (3)	Sometimes (4)	Never (5)
To forget your worries. (1)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$
Because winning would change your lifestyle. (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
To win money. (3)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Because you enjoy thinking about what you would do if you won a jackpot. (4)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Because it helps when you are feeling nervous or depressed. (5)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
To be sociable. (6)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Because it's exciting. (7)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
To cheer you up when you're in a bad mood. (8)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

When you think of the last 3 months...

	Never (1)	Sometimes (2)	Most of the time (3)	Always (4)	Always (5)
How often have you bet more than you could really afford to lose? (1)	0	0	0	0	0
How often have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
How often have you gone back another day to try to win back the money you lost? (3)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
How often have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble? (4)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
How often have you felt that you might have a problem with gaming? (5)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
How often have people criticized your betting or told you that you had a gaming problem, regardless of whether or not you thought it was true? (6)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
How often have you felt guilty about the way you gamble, or what happens when you gamble? (7)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0



Please indicate the extent to which you agree with the following statements:

	Not at all (1)	Somewhat disagree (2)	Neither disagree nor agree (3)	Somewhat agree (5)	Extremely (6)
How I feel about myself is largely based on the amount of money I have. (1)	0	0	0	0	0
My moods are influenced by the amount of money I have. (2)	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
People will think less of me if I don't have a lot of money. (3)	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
The opportunities that are available to me depend on the amount of money I have. (4)	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$

#### I am a MGM/EBH/PPC Rewards member

○ Yes (1)

O No (2)

What tier of the rewards program are you in?

 $\bigcirc$  Sapphire (i.e., blue card) (1)

 $\bigcirc$  Pearl (i.e., white card) (2)

 $\bigcirc$  Gold (i.e., yellow card) (3)

O Platinum (i.e., grey card) (4)

 $\bigcirc$  Noir (i.e., black card) (5)

#### Permission to Access MGM/EBH/PPC Rewards Player Data

The purpose of the Survey is to get your input about gaming and responsible gaming attitudes and behaviors. We want to know what you like or don't like about responsible gaming programming and your gaming behavior.

For this reason, and with the support of MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC, we are asking for your permission to access your personal player-account data over the last three months. Specifically, we would like to know what games you have played and how much you have won or lost. Your name will not be attached to your information (i.e., the casino will not provide the research team with your identifying information). Your player data will be kept confidential—no state or other entities will have access to it. Your player data will be protected by Carleton University and not released to anyone outside the research team. Once data from the survey have been matched to your player data, your Rewards number will be deleted from all research records.

\* You can complete the survey and receive the gift card even if you do not provide permission to access your player data.

 $\bigcirc$  I consent (1)

 $\bigcirc$  I do not consent (2)

\*This survey is open to **MGM/EBH/PPC Rewards** member invitees only. The survey can only be completed once for compensation (i.e., the Amazon.com Gift Card).

#### My MGM/EBH/PPC Rewards identification number is:

If you do not remember your **MGM/EBH/PPC Rewards** number, we can access your player account using your name instead. You will be given the option to do so on the next page.

Because I don't remember my **MGM/EBH/PPC Rewards** number, I give permission to the researchers to access my player account using my name.

\* The research team will delete any record of your name as soon as we link your player data with your survey data (by March 31, 2023).

#### My MGM/EBH/PPC Rewards account is under the name of:

What is your gender identity?

O Man (1)

 $\bigcirc$  Woman (2)

 $\bigcirc$  Gender-fluid (3)

 $\bigcirc$  Trans man (4)

 $\bigcirc$  Trans woman (5)

 $\bigcirc$  Nonbinary (6)

O Two-spirit (7)

 $\bigcirc$  Prefer to specify: My gender is\_\_\_\_\_ (8)

 $\bigcirc$  Prefer not to answer (9)

What is your age?

Thank you for completing the GameSense: Players Survey!

The information you have provided in this survey will help us provide better tools to promote positive play. Your feedback will help us improve GameSense.

To receive your \$10 Amazon.com Gift Card, please provide an email address below (gift cards will be distributed within 48 hours. We appreciate your patience):

In three and six months from now, we will conduct follow-up surveys. You will receive a \$15 Amazon.com Gift Card for completing each follow-up survey.

I grant permission to be contacted for follow-up surveys:

 $\bigcirc$  Yes, please contact me at the email address listed above. (1)

 $\bigcirc$  Yes, but please contact me at this email address instead: (2)

 $\bigcirc$  No, I would prefer not to be contacted for follow-up surveys. (3)

#### Thank you for participating in this research!

#### What is the purpose of this research?

This study aims to better understand how gamblers approach responsible play strategies and make decisions about their gaming behaviors.

#### What can I do if I feel like I need help with gaming concerns?

If you are experiencing problems with your gambling, feel free to call 1.800.327.5050 for treatment options, 1.800.426.1234 for help to exclude yourself from the Massachusetts casinos, or visit GameSense at <u>https://gamesensema.com/</u> and click on the live-chat option.

#### If I have any further questions, please feel free to contact us:

If you have any questions or comments about this research, please feel free to contact the research team at <u>gambling.lab@carleton.ca</u> (should you wish to contact us at a later date, please make note of this email address).

For more information on how to keep your gambling fun and safe, please contact www.gamesensma.com

**Ethical concerns:** This study has received ethics clearance by the Carleton University Research Ethics Board-B (CUREB-B Reference # 117682). If you have any ethical concerns about this study, please contact the Carleton University Research Ethics Board-B (<u>ethics@carleton.ca</u>).

# Informing Responsible Gambling Education in Massachusetts Casinos:

## An Examination of Patrons Who Engaged with GameSense Advisors

Michael J. A. Wohl Gray E. Gaudett Nima Orazani Christopher G. Davis Nassim Tabri Carleton University

Reference as:

Wohl, M. J. A., Gaudett, G. E., Orazani, N., Davis, C. G., & Tabri, N. (2023). *Informing responsible gambling education in Massachusetts casinos: an examination of patrons who engaged with GameSense Advisors* [Report]. Massachusetts Gaming Commission.

1. Introduction	. 1
2. Overview of Current Research	. 1
2.1 Purpose	. 3
3. Methods and Results	. 4
3.1 Method and Results Structure	. 4
3.2 Recruitment	. 5
3.3 Sample Characteristics	. 6
3.4 Possible correlates of awareness and engagement with GameSense	. 7
3.4.1. Disordered Gambling Symptomology	. 7
3.4.2 Positive Play	. 8
3.4.3. Frequency of casino gambling in Massachusetts	. 8
3.4.4 Association among measured variables.	. 9
4. Assessment of GameSense	10
4.1 Perceptions of GameSense	10
4.1.1 Perceived Purpose of GameSense.	10
4.1.2 Perceived Target Audience for GameSense.	12
4.2 Interaction with a GSA	13
4.2.1 Latent Class Analysis on Reasons for Interacting with a GSA	17
4.3 Perceived outcome of interacting with a GSA	21
5. Discussion	24
5.1 Understanding Why Patrons Interact with GSAs	24
5.2 Perceived Purpose and Target Audience of GameSense	27
5.3 Perceived Outcomes of Interactions	28
5.4 Recommendations	29
5.5 Limitations and Future Directions	31
5.6 Conclusion	31
References	33

## **Table of Contents**

## List of Tables

Table 1. Demographic Characteristics
Table 2. Proportion of Play on Different Games Per Visit
Table 3. Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations Between the Measured Variables.
Table 4. Purposes of GameSense    12
Table 5. Perceived Target Audience for GameSense    13
Table 6. Reasons for Interacting with a GSA
Table 7. Comparison of Patrons Who Had a Demonstration vs. an Exchange on Sample
Characteristics16
Table 8. Comparison of Patrons Who Initiated the Interaction vs. Interactions Initiated by the GSA
on Sample Characteristics17
Table 9. Proportion Who Affirmed Each Reason for interacting with a GSA by LCA Group
Membership19
Table 10. Perceived Outcome of Interacting with a GSA
Table 11. Between Groups Interaction Type Comparison on Perceived Outcome of Interacting
with a GSA22
Table 12. Means and Standard Deviations of Perceived Outcome of Interacting with a GSA.         23

# List of Figures

Figure 1. LCA: Reasons for Interacting with a GSA1	8
--	---

# List of Appendices

Appendix A: LCA
Appendix B: Associations between group membership and four subscales of PPS35
Appendix C: Associations Between Group Membership and Perceived Effect of the Interaction
with a GSA
Appendix D: Survey40

#### Authorship and acknowledgements

#### Authorship

**Dr. Michael J. A. Wohl**, Professor of Psychology at Carleton University. Work in his Carleton University Gambling Laboratory (CUGL) focuses on, among other things, factors that predict disordered gambling (e.g., erroneous beliefs, financial focus), facilitators of responsible gambling (e.g., monetary limit setting and adherence), and means to overcome barriers to behavior change (e.g., nostalgia for life lived before the addictive behavior took hold). Members of CUGL also examine the potential pitfalls and possible harm-minimization utility of rewards program membership. Dr. Wohl is the lead author of this report.

**Gray E. Gaudett** is a Master's student in Psychology under the supervision of Dr. Michael Wohl. Their research interests include factors that predict and maintain recovery from an addictive behavior and effective treatment programming. They contributed to all sections of the report.

**Nima Orazani** is a postdoctoral fellow at Carleton University working with Dr. Michael Wohl. His main focus is on social movements/collective actions. After joining Dr. Wohl's lab, he has been involved in projects on gambling.

#### Dr. Christopher G. Davis,

Professor of Psychology at Carleton University. Dr. Davis's research lies at the intersection of social, personality and health psychology. In general terms, he explores the social, contextual, and personality factors that influence our psychological health. Relevant to the present context, he studies the psychological factors that affect gambling and substance use behavior. With respect to this report, he was responsible for data analysis and the production tables and figures, editing drafts of the report, and provided analytic and other support.

**Dr. Nassim Tabri**, Associate Professor of Psychology at Carleton University. Work in his Mental Health and Addictions Laboratory focuses on transdiagnostic risk and maintenance factors for health-compromising behaviors, with a focus on disordered gambling and eating. Another focus of the Mental Health and Addictions Laboratory is on the role of money and financial success in the etiology and maintenance of disordered gambling. With respect to this report, he provided analytic and other support, and edited drafts of the report.

#### Acknowledgements

Data could not have been collected without the support and cooperation of all three casino operators in Massachusetts (MGM Resorts International, Wynn Resorts, & Penn Entertainment). Specific thanks go out to Daniel Miller (Director of Compliance, MGM Springfield), Lisa McKenny (Compliance Manager, Plainridge Park Casino), and Jacqui Krum (Senior Vice President and General Counsel, Encore Boston Harbor).

Special thanks to the Massachusetts Council on Gaming and Health (specific mention to Marlene Warner and Chelsea Turner) as well as all the GameSense Advisors (specific mention to Ray Fluettes) for reviewing the survey and all their feedback and assistance along the way. Without the tireless recruitment efforts of the GameSense Advisors, this report would have been impossible.

Lastly, thank you to Bonnie Andrews, Long Banh, and Mark Vander Linden for all that you have done to ensure that this project was successful from start to finish. To say you three are responsible gambling champions is an understatement.

#### **Executive Summary**

#### What was the purpose of this evaluation of GameSense?

This evaluation aimed to understand why people engage with GameSense, a responsible gambling (RG) program in casinos, and to assess the impact of these interactions on their knowledge of RG practices.

#### How were data collected and analyzed?

**Recruitment.** We recruited and analyzed data from patrons (N=303) who visited one of the three casinos in Massachusetts and who recently had an exchange or demonstration with a GameSense Advisor (GSA). An exchange interaction is a two-way communication with a GSA about RG or problem gaming (i.e., a discussion about how games work or local treatment support), whereas a demonstration interaction involves a longer communication from a GSA about how a game, RG tool, or concept works (i.e., engagement centred around showing, for example, the independence of slot machine plays or showing the player how to use the program's kiosk). These interactions were chosen because they involve in-depth discussions about RG and GameSense services. By focusing on this subset of patrons, we ensured that our data collection captured patrons actively seeking RG education and support, thus providing valuable insights into user engagement and its predictors. This recruitment strategy allowed us to explore the motivations and outcomes of these interactions and their implications for RG practices within the casino environment.

#### What did we find?

**Understanding why patrons interacted with a GSA:** Patron interactions with GSAs revealed multifaceted motivations. The highest proportion of respondents (74.7%, n = 219) engaged with GSAs to obtain promotional items and swag. This extrinsic motivation suggests that incentives play a vital role in driving interactions. However, a similar high proportion of respondents expressed interacting with a GSA to learn about RG (72%, n = 211), suggesting that there is prevention utility in having GSAs present at the casinos in Massachusetts. From an intervention perspective, approximately half of all respondents noted that they interacted with a GSA about supports for problem gambling (53.6%, n = 157), and 43.3% (n = 127) noted interacting with a GSA about voluntary self-exclusion. Thus, GSAs appear to be having meaningful conversations with patrons about both prevention (i.e., RG) and intervention (i.e., disordered gambling).

We used Latent Class Analysis (LCA) to explore the underlying patterns of motivations driving patrons to interact with GSAs. Three distinct groups were identified. Group 1 consisted of 108 patrons who endorsed all reasons to interact with an advisor (both about responsible gambling and disordered gambling. Consequently, we labelled members of this group "All Information Seekers". Group 2 consisted of 102 patrons who mostly endorsed interacting with a GSA to learn about RG, including 60% who wanted to learn about PlayMyWay. Consequently, we labelled members of this group "RG Curious". Group 3 consisted of 83 patrons. Most respondents in this group endorsed that they were asked to by an advisor (81.1%). Additionally, a large proportion (71.4%) of this group endorsed wanting to get free giveaways or swag. They

also expressed a relative lack of impetus to interact with a GSA to learn about RG (23.3% endorsement) or learn about support for problem gambling (10% endorsement). Thus, we labelled this third group of patrons as "Externally Inspired".

Of note, we observed differences in age and Gambling Literacy across these groups. Patrons classified as Externally Inspired were older than patrons classified as either All Information Seekers or RG Curious. There was not an age difference between those classified as All Information Seekers and RG Curious. Additionally, we found that Gambling Literacy was lower among patrons classified as All Information Seekers than patrons classified as RG Curious or as Externally Inspired. All Information Seekers were also comprised of respondents who expressed the highest endorsement of RG-related reasons for interacting with a GSA. This suggests that patrons in this group may know they are low in Gambling Literacy and have a desire to become more gambling literate by way of interacting with a GSA.

**Perceived Outcomes of Interactions:** Patron interactions with GSAs overwhelmingly yielded positive outcomes. A significant proportion (74.2%, n = 287) reported feeling more informed about RG practices, indicating the effectiveness of GSA interactions in imparting knowledge. Additionally, over three-quarters (78.8%, n = 283) reported that they would engage others to speak to a GSA.

Notably, All Information Seekers and RG Curious patrons reported more positive outcomes of interacting with a GSA than those who are Externally Inspired. These results suggest that people who are intrinsically motivated to learn about RG by interacting with a GSA may be getting more out of the interaction in terms of RG knowledge than those who are extrinsically motivated (e.g., for swag) to interact with a GSA. Swag may bring some people to interact with GSAs about RG and/or supports for disordered gambling but the interactions that follow may not have as meaningful an outcome as interactions motivated by a patron's desire to learn from GSAs. That said, it could plant the seed for future interactions that yield more positive outcomes.

**Perceived Purpose and Target Audience of GameSense:** The study revealed patrons had reasonably accurate perceptions of GameSense's purpose and target audience. Notably, 93.5% (n = 277) of respondents correctly recognized GameSense as a resource for RG education, and 93.5% (n = 277) correctly understood GameSense provides support for gambling-related issues. Surprisingly, 69.5% (n = 275) of patrons perceived GameSense as a lounge, indicating the potential for GameSense Information Centers (GSICs) to serve as spaces for players to take a break from play (a known RG strategy). Overall, these findings provide valuable insights into the dynamics of patron-GSA interactions within the GameSense program and offer a foundation for recommendations to enhance RG education and support services.

#### What are some take home messages?

The results suggest that patrons benefit from interacting with GSAs. The current results also point to a need for all GameSense stakeholders (GSAs in particular) to understand patrons have diverse motivations for engaging with GameSense. Different strategies may be required to engage the full spectrum of patrons.

#### What do we recommend?

- 1. **Clarify Program Messaging:** Invest in refining and reinforcing GameSense messaging to communicate that it is a resource for all casino patrons, not just for patrons with gambling problems.
- 2. **Tailored Engagement Strategies:** Develop strategies that cater to both intrinsic and extrinsic motivations, emphasizing interactive discussions for those seeking RG education and incentives for a broader audience.
- 3. **Proactive GSA Outreach:** Encourage GSAs to initiate conversations strategically, even with patrons who may not actively seek assistance.
- 4. **Referral Program:** Implement a referral program to reward patrons for referring others to GameSense.
- 5. **Target patrons who do not have a gambling problem:** Develop strategies to motivate patrons who do not have gambling problems to have meaningful interactions with GSAs.
- 6. **Continuous Training and Development:** Invest in ongoing training for GSAs to adapt to patrons' diverse motivations effectively.

#### What have we learned?

This evaluation highlights the benefits of having patrons interacting with a GSA. It also highlights the different motivations patrons have for interacting with a GSA. Understanding why people use GameSense and how it helps them is crucial for improving the program and promoting RG among the broad audience visiting casinos in Massachusetts.

#### 1. Introduction

Recently, Wohl and colleagues (2024) conducted a survey of players from the three casinos in Massachusetts to assess awareness of, and engagement with, the GameSense responsible gambling (RG) program. Although most players were aware of GameSense (73.1%), a substantially lower proportion (16.3%) reported having an interaction with a GameSense Advisor (GSA). Additionally, akin to Gray and colleagues (2020), the nature of the interaction for the vast majority of players who interacted with a GSA (>70%) was classified as a simple interaction (i.e., a short, communication from a GSA about issues unrelated to gaming). Thus, despite interacting with a GSA, a limited number of participants directly engaged with the GameSense to learn about RG. Consequently, prior work was limited in its ability to draw insights about the utility of interacting with a GSA. More useful would be an assessment of players who have had a meaningful interaction with a GSA about RG and/or support services.

To gain insights about the effect interacting with a GSA about gambling-related issues has on players, players who have had an exchange or demonstration interaction need to be assessed. Put differently, conclusions about player's perceptions of GameSense that are drawn from samples in which the majority of participants did not have an interaction with a GSA about gambling-related issues should be considered tentative, at best.

#### 2. Overview of Current Research

To get a better understanding of the factors that lead patrons to have these meaningful interactions with GSAs (i.e., interactions about gambling-related issues), we conducted a survey of patrons who had recently had an interaction with a GSA about RG or problematic gambling. Specifically, in the current study, we recruited patrons who had a demonstration or exchange interaction with a GSA. Demonstration interactions are meant to equip patrons with valuable

1
insights into RG strategies and the effective utilization of tools tailored to enhance their gaming experiences while curbing potential risks. In a similar vein, exchange interactions provide patrons with an opportunity to partake in more profound discussions, seek personalized guidance, and cultivate a deeper understanding of their own behaviors and available options.

The decision to exclusively recruit patrons who had a demonstration or exchange interaction with a GSA is rooted in the aim of delving into meaningful, informative interactions that directly pertain to RG and GameSense services. By focusing solely on these interaction types, we could better capture a sample of patrons who actively pursued in-depth engagement, showcasing a genuine interest in comprehending RG principles and strategies for mitigating problem gambling. This selection criterion aligns with the study's overarching objective of uncovering predictive factors for robust engagement with both GameSense and RG education. That is, by concentrating solely on patrons who engaged in these meaningful interactions about RG or problematic gambling, the study not only guarantees a dataset that is pertinent but also acknowledges the importance of more profound interactions that are more likely to yield comprehensive insights into the intricate interplay of factors that shape user decisions and behaviors pertaining to RG.

Furthermore, our decision to omit patrons who had simple interactions with a GSA (i.e., short interactions with a GSA about issues unrelated to gambling) stems from the understanding that these interactions primarily encompass brief communications unrelated to RG or the core objectives of GameSense. By excluding simple interactions, the current study focuses exclusively on interaction types that align with the study's primary goals and carry the potential to provide meaningful, actionable insights into the factors that motivate patrons to actively engage with GameSense and RG education.

#### 2.1 Purpose

The purpose of the current study was to examine the reasons driving patrons to initiate a meaningful interaction with a GSA. Understanding the factors that prompt patrons to seek assistance from GSAs is essential for enhancing RG education and support services. By assessing these reasons, we aimed to better understand the motivations, concerns, and interests that lead patrons to engage in meaningful discussions about RG practices. Moreover, we explored whether these interactions foster a heightened sense of understanding among patrons. Determining whether patrons feel more informed about RG subsequent to their interactions is a crucial indicator of the effectiveness of these engagements. This assessment aligns with our commitment to evaluating the tangible impact of GSAs on patrons' knowledge and awareness of RG principles.

We also examined potential differences between participants who had demonstration interactions and those who engaged in exchange interactions. This comparative analysis served to illuminate whether the nature of the interaction—demonstration or exchange—has any bearing on the outcomes and perceptions of the participants. We acknowledge that such differences may be influenced by various factors, including the depth of engagement, the individualized guidance offered in exchange interactions, and the degree of clarity provided in demonstration interactions. By exploring these potential differences, we aimed to better understand whether one interaction type holds an advantage over the other in terms of promoting understanding and fostering engagement with RG. In cases where differences arise, we considered underlying factors and contexts that could contribute to the observed variations, thus providing a nuanced understanding of the diverse pathways through which patrons engage with GSAs and subsequently grasp RG concepts.

## 3. Methods and Results

## 3.1 Method and Results Structure

The analysis proceeded in three main stages: Sample characteristics, possible correlates of awareness and engagement with GameSense, and evaluation of GameSense. In the first stage, we present descriptive information about the sample. Descriptive information included information about the age and gender composition of the sample. In the second stage, we present the measured variables we included in the study, which were factors such as disordered gambling symptomatology, positive play beliefs and behaviors, as well as the frequency within which respondents report visiting casinos in Massachusetts.

In the third stage, we evaluated knowledge about GameSense among patrons who had a demonstration or an exchange interaction with a GSA. Specifically, we assessed the perceived purpose of GameSense and the perceived target audience of GameSense. Thereafter, they were asked specific questions about their interaction with a GSA. For instance, we asked respondents why they interacted with a GSA. We also assessed whether there were any statistically significant differences between those who had an Exchange interaction and those who had a Demonstration interaction on our measured variables. A similar comparison was made based on whether respondent or GSA initiated the interaction.

To determine whether there were distinct groups of patrons who have specific reasons to interact with a GSA, we conducted Latent Class Analysis (LCA). A LCA is a statistical technique used to identify groups (called 'classes') within a sample base on observed (measured) variables. LCA was employed for several reasons. Firstly, it allows for the identification of distinct subgroups within a population, offering a more nuanced understanding. For example, we tested whether the reasons why people interacted with a GSA can be meaningfully clustered or

grouped together. It also allows us to examine whether measured variables differed between any groups, providing insights into distinct patterns and associations. Specifically, we assessed whether observed groups differ in terms of disordered gambling symptomatology, positive play, and/or frequency of visits, as well as whether group membership was associated with the type of interaction patrons had with a GSA. This approach allowed for a systematic and informative examination of the relationships and associations of interest in the context of the study. A detailed description of model selection is provided in Appendix A.

Lastly, we assessed the perceived outcome of interacting with a GSA. Specifically, we assessed the extent to which respondents felt more informed about RG and whether they will encourage others to speak with a GSA because of their interaction. We also assessed whether perceived outcome varied by the type of interaction they had (Exchange or Demonstration) and group membership.

#### **3.2 Recruitment**

For this study, GSAs who had just provided a demonstration or had an exchange with a patron at one of the three casinos in Massachusetts asked the patron if they would participate in a study on "the GameSense brand, the GameSense Information Centers, and the GameSense Advisors". As compensation for their time, they were told they would receive their choice of a US\$10 Amazon.com or Dunkin Donuts gift card. Those who expressed interest were given a business card with a QR code, which directed them to an online consent form. Those who granted consent were given access to the online survey (see Appendix D for the survey).

The study was launched on March 24, 2023 and closed on July 21, 2023.

## **3.3 Sample Characteristics**

A total of 2,456 unique patrons were informed about the study at the three casinos in Massachusetts. Of these patrons, 1,987 accepted the invitation by taking the business card with the QR code to access the survey. Of those who accepted the business card, 440 patrons accessed the consent form by using the QR code. Two respondents did not consent after reaching the consent form, 121 did not pass eligibility criteria (i.e., they were either not at least 21 years old, were not invited by a GSA, did not have an interaction with a GSA, or had not had a demonstration or an exchange), and six respondents consented to participate but did not provide responses to the survey questions. Additionally, two responses were identified as duplicates (based on the email address they provided to receive compensation) and were consequently removed. One respondent identified their gender as a "dog". After the research team discussed this individual and the fidelity of the data they provided, we decided to remove this individual from the data. Thus, analyses were conducted on a final sample of 303 patrons ( $M_{age} = 47.98$ , SD= 16.02). A detailed overview of patron's demographic characteristics is provided in Table 1.

## Table 1

	п	%
Age		
21-24	16	5.3
25-34	41	13.5
35-44	52	17.2
45-54	47	15.5
55-64	47	15.5
65 +	48	15.8
Did not indicate	52	17.2
Gender		
Man	100	33
Woman	136	44.9
Other	6	2

#### Demographic Characteristics

*Did not indicate* 61 20.2

#### 3.4 Possible correlates of awareness and engagement with GameSense

The following variables were included to assess whether they are associated with awareness, perceptions of GameSense, and engagement with the program.

*3.4.1. Disordered Gambling Symptomology*. Disordered gambling symptomology was assessed using the nine-item Problem Gambling Severity Index (PGSI; see Ferris & Wynne, 2001). The PGSI assesses problem gambling behaviors (e.g., "How often have you bet more than you could really afford to lose?") as well as the consequences of problem gambling (e.g., "How often has your gaming caused you any health problems, including stress or anxiety?"). Response options were anchored at 0 *(never)* to 3 *(always)*. Respondents' total PGSI scores were the sum of the nine items ( $\alpha = .95$ ). Degrees of risk have been established based on scores on the PGSI, with those scoring 0 considered to have no gambling problems, those scoring 1 or 2 considered to be "low risk", those scoring 3 to 7 considered to be "moderate risk", and those scoring more than 7 as "problem gamblers".

A total of 58 patrons (19.1%) were categorized as a non-problem gambler, 67 (22.1%) as low-risk, 57 (18.8%) as moderate-risk, and 78 (25.7%) as a problem gambler. A risk category could not be calculated for 43 patrons (14.2%) due to missing data. Additionally, as noted in Table 3, mean levels of disordered gambling symptomatology (M = 5.39, SD = 6.28) places the sample as a whole in the middle of the "moderate risk" category. Given that we recruited only regular gamblers, this level of disordered gambling symptomatology is not unexpected. Increased frequency of gambling is known to be strongly associated with gambling-related problems (Young et al., 2022). *3.4.2 Positive Play.* We used the Positive Play Scale (Wood et al., 2017) to assess the extent to which respondents were aware of gambling myths and fallacies (i.e., gambling literacy), assumed personal responsibility for their play behavior, were honest with family members and in control of their gambling, and set limits on their play. The Gambling Literacy subscale included three items ( $\alpha = .67$ ; e.g., "Gambling is not a good way to make money"). The Personal Responsibility subscale included four items ( $\alpha = .93$ ; e.g., "I should be able to walk away from gambling at any time"). These belief subscales were anchored at 1 *(strongly disagree)* and 7 *(strongly agree)*. The third subscale was comprised of three items ( $\alpha = .88$ ) that measured the extent to which the participant was in control of and honest about their gambling (e.g., "In the last month I felt in control of my gambling behavior"). The fourth subscale consisted of four items ( $\alpha = .93$ ) designed to measure the player's Pre-Commitment (e.g., "I considered the amount of time I was willing to spend before I gambled"). Response options for the behavior subscales were anchored at 1 *(never)* and 7 *(always)*.

Mean scores were calculated for each subscale (and reported in Table 3), with higher scores representing higher endorsement of positive play beliefs and behaviors. Scores on all subscales were relatively similar, with means ranging from 5.24 (Gambling Literacy) to 6.08 (Personal Responsibility) indicating high levels of both positive play beliefs and behavior. Yet, there is also opportunity for improvement.

*3.4.3. Frequency of casino gambling in Massachusetts.* Respondents were asked what proportion of their overall gambling took place in the Massachusetts casino through which they were contacted in 25% increments. Results showed that 19.8% reported "100%", 17.8% reported "about 75%", 18.2% reported "about 50%", 26.4% reported "about 25%", and 7.9% reported "0%".

We also asked respondents to estimate what proportion of their play at the casino

involved the following games: slot machines, table games, video table games, and lottery. See

Table 2 for a summary of these results.

# Table 2

## Proportion of Play on Different Games per Visit

In the last 3 months, when you visited this casino, how often did you play:	0%	about 25%	about 50%	about 75%	100%
Slot machines	12.8	19.3	12.8	14.2	40.0
Table games	48.9	18.1	9.6	11.2	12.3
Video table games	67.1	16.7	6.0	5.2	5.2
Sports betting	74.1	17.3	4.3	2.0	2.4
Lottery	68.6	20.4	5.1	2.8	3.1

*Note. Ns* range from 252 to 274 due to non-response. Percentages based on number responding to a particular game.

*3.4.4 Association among measured variables.* As observed in previous work (see Wood et al., 2017), disordered gambling symptomatology was significantly negatively associated with all four positive play subscales (i.e., Gambling Literacy, Pre-commitment, Honesty & Control, and Personal Responsibility). Additionally, there was a small, yet statistically significant, positive association between disordered gambling symptomatology and frequency of visiting a casino in Massachusetts. Interestingly, there was also a statistically significant positive, yet small, association between frequency of visiting and three of the four positive play subscales. The association between frequency of visiting the casino and Gambling Literacy was not statistically significant. These results suggest that whilst some patrons who are frequent gamblers may have symptoms of disordered gambling, other patrons are both frequent and responsible gamblers.

## Table 3

	М	SD	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.
1. Disordered Gambling	5.39	6.28	-	-	-	-	-
Symptomatology							
2. Personal Responsibility	6.07	1.19	24**	-	-	-	-
3. Gambling Literacy	5.23	1.41	44**	.25**	-	-	-
4. Honesty & Control	5.55	1.60	30**	.42**	.12	-	-
5. Pre-Commitment	5.59	1.56	37**	.43**	.16**	.80**	-
6. Frequency of visits to the	3.17	1.30	.17**	.20**	05	.24**	.19**
casino							

Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations Between the Measured Variables

*Note.* \* p < .01, \*\* p < .001. All estimates were calculated using pairwise deletion. Thus, sample size for the estimates ranged from 260 to 273.

# 4. Assessment of GameSense

In this section, we report the results of patrons' knowledge about GameSense after having a meaningful interaction with a GSA.

### 4.1 Perceptions of GameSense

**4.1.1 Perceived Purpose of GameSense.** Respondents were provided eight items that assessed the perceived purpose of GameSense. These items are listed in Table 4. We slightly adapted the version of this scale from the one used in the General Players Survey and Employee Survey. Specifically, we removed the incorrect response option ("It offers a place where players can bet on sports") and replaced it with an additional correct response option ("It's a program that educates players about the odds of winning at a particular game and the house edge of that game"). We made this change to fully capture the purpose of GameSense. Once again, we also asked whether GameSense "offers a place where players can relax away from the gaming floor". Although initially included as an incorrect purpose, following data collection we learned that patrons may be using GameSense Information Centers (GSIC)s to take a break from the gaming floor (a known RG strategy). Because it was not known whether patrons were using it in such a manner, we ultimately coded this item as neither correct nor incorrect.

Results showed that most respondents correctly indicated that GameSense provided RG tools (i.e., PlayMyWay; 93.8%), helped educate patrons about RG (93.5%), and offered supports for those who develop gambling related problems (93.1%). Just over two-thirds of respondents indicated that the purpose of GameSense is a lounge (69.5%).

Of note, there was a high level of endorsement of the (seven) correct purposes of GameSense we provided respondents (range: 73.7%-93.8%; see Table 4). The items that asked whether GameSense is a lounge was not included in current analysis. Nonetheless, it is of interest that 69.5% of respondents believed that the GSIC was a lounge to help them get away from the gaming floor. A known RG strategy is for players to take a break in play. Although not an expressed purpose of the seats located in a GSIC, if players are using it to get away from the gaming floor this may be an unintended benefit of having a space for players to relax within a GSIC. It may also provide an opportunity for GSAs to engage the patron about RG and/or disordered gambling.

#### Table 4

#### Purposes of GameSense

Purposes:	% agreement
It's a program that includes PlayMyWay	93.8
It's a program that educates players about how to gamble responsibly	93.5
It offers a place where players can find where to get support if they believe their gaming has become problematic	93.1
It's a program that educates players about how games work	86.7

It's a program that educates players about the odds of winning at a particular game and the house edge of that game	78.7	
It's a program that allows players to voluntarily exclude themselves from the gaming floor at all casinos in Massachusetts	85.8	
It's a program that helps dispel gaming-related myths	84.1	
It offers a place where players can relax away from the gaming floor (i.e., a lounge)*	69.5	

*Note.* \* not scored as correct or incorrect. Sample size for each item is the total number of participants who provided a response.

4.1.2 Perceived target audience for GameSense. All respondents read the following brief

description of the program:

GameSense is a comprehensive responsible gaming strategy. GameSense Advisors work at a GameSense Info Center located at MGM Springfield/Encore Boston Harbor/Plainridge Park Casino. GameSense Advisors receive extensive training in the areas of responsible gaming techniques, problem gaming behavior and local resources for help. Many GameSense Advisors come to the position with professional gaming experience which is useful in understanding patrons' needs.

They were then asked to respond to six items that assessed the perceived target audience for GameSense. These items, together with their means (on a 7-point Likert scale where 1 =*"strongly disagree"* and 7 = *"strongly agree"*) and the percentage agreeing (i.e., > than the "neutral" midpoint) are provided in Table 5. Although most respondents (86.1%) agreed that GameSense was created for people who gamble on a regular basis, a relatively lower proportion of respondents (74.0%) believed GameSense is for people who gamble occasionally. Relatedly, just over two-thirds of all respondents believed that GameSense was self-relevant (71.0%).

# Table 5

Perceived Target Audience for GameSense

Sources:	Mean (SD)	% agreement
People who gamble on a regular basis.	5.69 (1.38)	86.1
People who have trouble controlling their gaming.	5.86 (1.52)	82.2
All people who gamble.	5.62 (1.40)	81.5
People who gamble occasionally.	5.16 (1.54)	74.0
People who are new to gambling.	5.30 (1.56)	73.6
GameSense, and the responsible gaming education and tools it provides, was developed for players like me.	5.18 (1.56)	71.0

*Note.* Sample size for each item corresponds to the number of participants that provided a response. Means are on a 7-point scale where 1 = "strongly disagree" and 7 = "strongly agreeing". Percent agreement was based on responses of 5 or higher on the scale.

#### 4.2 Interaction with a GSA

All respondents either had a demonstration or an exchange with a GSA. Respondents were asked "What was the nature of the interaction with a GSA that led you to be invited to complete this survey?". One hundred and sixty-one (53.1%) indicated they had a demonstration and 142 (46.9%) said they had an exchange.

Respondents were then asked whether it was themselves or the GSA who initiated the interaction. One hundred and fifty-three (50.5%) said they initiated the interaction, while 149 (49.2%) said the interaction was initiated by the GSA. One person did not respond to this question. To assess whether there was a relation between who initiated the interaction and what type of interaction patrons had, we conducted a chi-square test. We found that exchanges were more likely to be initiated by GSAs (55.6%) than players (44.4%), whereas demonstrations were more likely to be initiated by players (56.3%) than GSAs (43.7%;  $\chi^2(1) = 4.25$ , p = .039).

Respondents were then asked where this interaction took place (i.e., on the gaming floor, at the GSIC, or at other places around the casino such as the food court). One person did not answer this question. Among the 302 patrons who responded to this question, 92 (30.5%) said

the interaction took place on the gaming floor, 207 (68.5%) said the interaction happened at the GSIC, and three (1.0%) said the interaction took place at other areas of the casino. To assess whether there was a relation between who initiated the interaction and where the interaction took place, a chi-square test was conducted. In this analysis, we excluded the three participants who said the interaction to place at other parts of the casino from this analysis. Results were not statistically significant,  $\chi^2(1) = 2.88$ , p = .09.

Next, respondents were asked their reasons for interacting with a GSA. The eleven response options are listed in Table 6, along with the percentage of the 293 respondents who endorsed at least one response. Most respondents interacted with a GSA to obtain swag (74.7%) or because a GSA initiated a conversation with them (70.6%). However, a similarly high proportion of respondents were motivated to interact with a GSA to learn about RG (72.0%). GSAs also appear to be successful at engaging people about disordered gambling in that nearly half of all patrons (43.3%) who interacted with a GSA indicated they interacted with a GSA to learn about voluntary self-exclusion.

# Table 6

Reason	% agreement	n
I wanted to get free giveaways or swag.	74.7	219
I wanted to learn about RG.	72.0	211
A GSA initiated a conversation with me.	70.6	207
I wanted to learn about how games work.	69.6	204
I was curious because of the advertisements I saw/announcement I heard about GameSense.	68.9	202
I wanted to be better informed should I need to pass information to other players.	66.2	194
I wanted to learn about gambling-related myths.	62.8	184

Reasons for Interacting with a GSA

I wanted to learn about PlayMyWay.	62.1	182
I wanted to learn about supports for problem gambling.	53.6	157
I wanted to learn about voluntary self-exclusion.	43.3	127
I wanted help enrolling in PlayMyWay.	40.3	118

*Note.* Of the total sample, 293 endorsed at least one response. Sample sizes refer to the total number of participants who responded for each item. Percentages add to more than 100% because respondents could list more than one reason.

Lastly, we assessed whether respondents who had a demonstration interaction with a GSA differed from those who had an exchange interaction on any of the measured variables We found that respondents who had a demonstration (M = 5.40, SD = 1.30) scored significantly higher on Gambling Literacy than those who had an exchange with a GSA (M = 5.05, SD = 1.48), t(263) = 2.05, p = .041, d = .25. There were no statistically significant differences between the two groups on any of the other measured variables. Full results are reported in Table

7.

the casino

#### Table 7

	De	emonstra	ation	F	Exchange						
Measure	n	М	SD	п	М	SD	t	df	р	d	95% CI
Disordered gambling symptomatology	137	4.91	6.12	123	5.94	6.43	-1.32	258	.19	16	[41, .08]
Personal Responsibility	141	6.04	1.30	126	6.12	1.03	54	265	.59	07	[31, .17]
Gambling Literacy	141	5.40	1.30	124	5.05	1.48	2.05	263	.04*	.25	[.01, .50]
Honesty and Control	137	5.55	1.62	127	5.55	1.59	.01	262	.99	.001	[24, .24]
Pre-Commitment	137	5.74	1.45	126	5.43	1.64	1.65	261	.10	.20	[04, .45]
Frequency of visits to	146	3.08	1.33	127	3.28	1.27	-1.27	271	.21	15	[39, .09]

Comparison of Patrons Who Had a Demonstration vs. an Exchange on Sample Characteristics

*Note.* \* p < .05. Sample sizes vary due to missing data/non-responses.

We then assessed whether respondents differed on any of the measured variables based on whether the patron or the GSA initiated the interaction. We found that patrons who initiated the interaction with a GSA were more likely to pre-commit to a time or money limit when gambling than were those who had an interaction that was initiated by a GSA. We also found that respondents who initiated the interaction attended the casino with greater frequency than respondents who had an interaction that was initiated by a GSA. There were no significant differences between the two groups on any of the other sample characteristics (see Table 8).

# Table 8

Comparison of Patrons Who Initiated the Interaction vs. Interactions Initiated by the GSA on

	Pat	ron Init	iated	GS	A Initia	ated					
Measure	п	М	SD	п	М	SD	t	df	р	d	95% CI
Disordered gambling symptomatology	129	4.98	6.38	131	5.80	6.17	-1.06	258	.29	13	[38, .11]
Personal responsibility	133	6.10	1.26	134	6.06	1.10	.276	265	.78	.03	[21, .27]
Gambling literacy	133	5.37	1.36	132	5.11	1.42	1.50	263	.13	.19	[06, .43]
Honesty and control	133	5.72	1.58	131	5.38	1.61	1.72	262	.09	.21	[03, .45]
Pre-commitment	132	5.78	1.51	131	5.40	1.58	2.04	261	.04*	.25	[.009, .50]
Frequency of visits to the casino	136	3.33	1.34	137	3.01	1.25	2.06	271	.04*	.25	[.01, .49]

Sample Characteristics

*Note.* \* p < .05. Sample sizes vary due to missing data/non-responses.

# 4.2.1 Latent Class Analysis on reasons for interacting with a GSA. To determine

whether there were distinct groups of patrons who have specific reasons to interact with a GSA, we conducted an LCA. The LCA looks for common response patterns in a sample. Three groups emerged from the analysis (see Appendix A for details; see Figure 1).

# Figure 1

Results of the Latent Class Analysis Examining Reasons for Interacting with a GSA



As seen in Table 9, Group 1 consisted of 108 patrons who endorsed all reasons to interact with a GSA. Consequently, we labelled members of this group "All Information Seekers". Group 2 consisted of 102 patrons who mostly endorsed interacting with a GSA to learn about RG, including 60% who wanted to learn about PlayMyWay. Consequently, we labelled members of this group "RG Curious". Group 3 consisted of 83 patrons. Most respondents in this group endorsed that they were asked to by a GSA (81.1%). Additionally, a large proportion (71.4%) of this group endorsed wanting to get free giveaways or swag. They also expressed a relative lack a desire to interact with a GSA to learn about RG (23.3% endorsement), PlayMyWay (27.0% endorsement), gambling-related myths (27.6% endorsement), problem gambling (10.0%)

endorsement) or voluntary self-exclusion (3.8% endorsement). Thus, we labelled this third group

of patrons as "Externally Inspired" to interact with a GSA.

## Table 9

Proportion Who Affirmed Each Reason for Interacting with a GSA by LCA Group Membership

Reason for interacting with a GSA	All Information	RG Curious	Externally Inspired
	Seekers $(n = 108)$	(n = 102)	(n = 83)
I wanted to learn about responsible gambling (e.g., playing within an affordable money and/or time limit).	.98	.96	.23
I wanted to be better informed should I need to pass information to other players	.95	.81	.27
I wanted to learn about how games work	.96	.73	.39
I was curious because of advertisements I saw/announcement I heard about GameSense	.97	.73	.41
I wanted to learn about gambling-related myths	.96	.67	.28
I wanted to learn about supports for problem gambling	.92	.62	.10
A GameSense Advisor initiated a conversation with me	.93	.61	.71
I wanted to learn about PlayMyWay (i.e., a money budgeting tool for your slot play that works with your rewards card).	1.00	.60	.27
I wanted to get free giveaways or swag (e.g., a lanyard).	.97	.53	.88
I wanted to learn about voluntary self-exclusion	.82	.47	.04
I wanted help enrolling in PlayMyWay	.92	.16	.14

To examine whether there was a relation between the type of interaction patrons had with a GSA (i.e., demonstration or exchange) and the three groups that emerged from the LCA, we conducted a chi-square test. This test was statistically significant,  $\chi^2(2) = 8.33$ , p = .016. There was no difference in the proportion of patrons that were Externally Inspired in terms of whether they had a demonstration (27.7%) or exchange (29.0%). However, RG Curious patrons were more likely to have had an exchange (42.0%) versus a demonstration (28.4%), whereas All Information Seekers patrons were more likely to have a demonstration (43.9%) versus an exchange interaction (29.0%). More research is needed to understand why this may be the case (or whether this is a spurious finding).

We then conducted another chi-square test to examine the relation between group membership and gender. The test was not statistically significant,  $\chi^2(2) = 1.30$ , p = .52.

To examine the relation between age and the three groups that emerged from LCA, we conducted an ANOVA with the group variable derived from the LCA as the independent variable and age as the dependent variable. There was an overall difference in age as a function of group, F(2, 250) = 4.79, p = .009. Simple effects showed that patrons classified as Externally Inspired (M = 52.89, SD = 13.15) were older than patrons classified as either RG Curious (M = 45.56, SD = 16.21) or All Information Seekers (M = 46.55, SD = 17.11). Also, patrons classified as either RG Curious or All Information Seekers did not differ statistically in terms of age.

Additionally, we found between (LCA) group differences on Gambling Literacy F(2, 264) = 10.01, p < .001. Gambling Literacy was lower among patrons classified as All Information Seekers (M = 4.76, SD = 1.44) than patrons classified as RG Curious (M = 5.42, SD = 1.41) or as Externally Inspired (M = 5.62, SD = 1.15). Interestingly, the All Information Seekers were also comprised of patrons who expressed the highest endorsement of RG-related reasons for interacting with a GSA. This suggests that patrons in this group may know they are low in Gambling Literacy and have a desire to become more gambling literate by way of interacting with a GSA. There were no statistically significant differences between groups on the other positive play subscales (i.e., Personal Responsibility, Honesty and Control, and Pre-Commitment).

## 4.3 Perceived Outcome of Interacting with a GSA

Respondents were asked to rate the extent to which they agreed that their interactions with a GSA made them feel more informed about how to gamble responsibly, how games worked, and that their interests were served using 7-point Likert scales (1 = "strongly disagree" to 7 "strongly agree"). They were also asked whether they would encourage others to speak with a GSA or visit a GSIC. As seen in Table 10, responses were positive (in fact, more positive than what was observed among the regular players surveyed for the General Players Survey). The majority of patrons indicated that due to their interaction with a GSA, they would encourage others to visit a GSIC (81.3%) or speak with a GSA (78.8%).

# Table 10

Perceived Outcome of Interacting with a GSA	

Due to my experience(s) with a GameSense Advisor:	M(SD)	% agreement	п
I would encourage others to visit a GSIC.	5.71 (1.61)	81.3	283
I would encourage others to speak with a GSA.	5.64 (1.70)	78.8	283
I feel that my best interests are effectively served.	5.50 (1.60)	75.4	284
I feel more informed about how to gamble responsibly.	5.35 (1.81)	74.2	287
I feel more informed about how games work.	5.38 (1.63)	73.0	285

*Note.* Means are on a 7-point scale where 1 = "strongly disagree" and 7 = "strongly agree". Percent agreement was based on responds of 5 or higher on the scale.

Next, we then compared those who reported having a demonstration interaction with those who reported an exchange interaction on perceived outcomes of their interaction. There were no significant differences between the two groups on any of the items. Full results can be seen in Table 11.

## Table 11

Due to my experience with a GSA:	Demonstration		Exchange		Exchange		t	df	р	d	95% CI
	n	M	SD	п	М	SD					
I feel more informed about responsible gaming	152	5.15	1.90	135	5.57	1.68	-1.97	285	.05	23	[47, .00]
I feel more informed about how gaming games work	151	5.34	1.65	134	5.43	1.62	42	283	.68	05	[28, .18]
I feel my best interests are effectively served	149	5.38	1.69	135	5.64	1.48	-1.42	282	.16	17	[40, .07]
I would encourage customers to speak with a GSA	148	5.53	1.75	135	5.77	1.65	-1.20	281	.23	43	[38, .09]
I would encourage customers to visit a GSIC	148	5.59	1.72	135	5.84	1.47	-1.30	281	.19	16	[39, .08]

Between Groups Interaction Type Comparison on Perceived Outcome of Interacting with a GSA

*Note.* Sample sizes vary due to missing data/non-responses.

Lastly, five separate ANOVAs (one for each item) were conducted to examine whether there is a relation between LCA group membership and the perceived outcome of patrons' interaction with a GSA (see Table 12). The least significant difference method was used to probe omnibus differences identified by the ANOVAs. Patrons classified as RG Curious and as All Information Seekers reported more positive outcomes of interacting with a GSA than those classified as Externally Inspired on all items (see Appendix C). Thus, people who are intrinsically motivated to learn about RG by interacting with a GSA (i.e., All Information Seekers and RG Curious) get more out of the interaction in terms of RG knowledge and are more apt to refer other players to GSAs than those who are extrinsically motivated (e.g., for swag) to interact with a GSA (i.e., Externally Inspired).

# Table 12

Means and Standard Deviations of Perceived Outcome of Interacting with a GSA

Der en deut versichte	Carry		М	SD
Dependent variable	Group	п	M	SD
I feel more informed about how to	1	79	$4.72_{\rm a}$	1.64
gamble responsibly	2	102	5.67 <sub>b</sub>	1.75
	3	106	5.51 <sub>b</sub>	1.88
	Total	287	5.35	1.81
I feel more informed about how	1	79	4.75 <sub>a</sub>	1.58
gaming games work	2	102	$5.50_{b}$	1.66
	3	104	$5.75_{b}$	1.52
	Total	285	5.38	1.63
I feel my best interests are	1	78	$5.00_{a}$	1.56
effectively served	2	102	5.75 <sub>b</sub>	1.51
	3	104	5.63b	1.64
	Total	284	5.50	1.60
I would encourage customers to	1	78	5.22 <sub>a</sub>	1.73
speak with a GSA	2	102	5.89 <sub>b</sub>	1.70
	3	103	5.72 <sub>b</sub>	1.64
	Total	283	5.64	1.70
I would encourage customers to visit	1	79	5.35 <sub>a</sub>	1.63
a GSIC	2	102	6.04 <sub>b</sub>	1.44
	3	102	5.65 <sub>a,b</sub>	1.70
	Total	283	5.71	1.61

*Note.* 1 = Externally Inspired; 2 = RG Gambling Curious; 3 = All Information Seekers. Cells with shared subscripts did not differ significantly (p > 0.05); cells with different subscripts differed significantly (p < .050).

## 5. Discussion

The primary goal of this study was to investigate the motivations behind patrons' interactions with GSAs and to assess the impact of these interactions on their perceptions and knowledge of RG practices and problem gambling supports. Through a comprehensive analysis, we aimed to shed light on the intricacies of these interactions and provide recommendations for enhancing the GameSense program. To that end, we recruited patrons at one of the three casinos in Massachusetts who recently had either an exchange or demonstration interaction with a GSA. Respondents completed a survey that assessed perceptions of GameSense, including its purpose and target audience. We also assessed the dynamics of interactions with GSAs, exploring the reasons behind these interactions and the influence of interaction types.

### 5.1 Understanding Why Patrons Interact with GSAs

Our investigation uncovered a multifaceted landscape of patron-GSA interactions, shedding light on the reasons why individuals engage with GSAs. Most patrons interacted with GSAs to gain RG knowledge or because a GSA initiated a conversation with them about RG. In addition, a similar proportion of patrons interacted with a GSA to obtain swag or promotional items (whether this is what drew them into the interaction or was an outcome of an interaction about RG, for example). These findings indicate that patrons' motivations for interacting with GSAs encompass both intrinsic desires for RG education and extrinsic incentives like giveaways. This dual dynamic within the GameSense program has several implications.

Firstly, the coexistence of intrinsic and extrinsic motivations highlights the program's versatility in catering to a diverse range of patron interests. GameSense can use this insight to structure its interactions effectively, offering RG information to those seeking it while

simultaneously leveraging incentives to encourage interaction among a broader audience. This balance is crucial to maintaining the program's appeal and accessibility.

Secondly, the fact that GSAs initiating conversations played a significant role in patron interactions suggests the importance of proactive GSA outreach. Encouraging GSAs to initiate conversations strategically, even with patrons who may not actively seek assistance, can help expand the program's reach and influence. This approach aligns with the idea that proactive GSA engagement can effectively bridge the gap between patrons' latent interests and their actual engagement with RG information.

We also conducted a LCA to assess whether there are distinct patron groups based on their motivations for interacting with GSAs. Three groups of players were revealed: All Information Seekers, RG Curious, and Externally Inspired. One of the primary takeaways from the LCA is the recognition of diverse motivations driving patrons to seek GSA interactions. The All Information Seekers group exhibited a high propensity to engage with GSAs for various reasons, including RG education and learning about supports for problem gambling. The RG Curious group demonstrated a high desire to learn about RG, moderate inclination toward all other knowledge. The Externally Inspired group tended to interact with GSAs because the GSAs initiated the interaction or because there were giveaways (e.g., swag) present. They did not appear to interact to learn about RG or problematic gambling. This diversity underscores the importance of adopting a multifaceted approach to cater to the varied interests and needs of patrons.

The LCA results emphasize the value of tailoring GSA interactions to patrons' specific motivations. That All Information Seekers group were more likely to have demonstration compared to exchange interactions. More research is needed to understand why this may be the

case (or whether this is a spurious finding). It may suggest that GSAs who notice a patron is keen to learn should lean into this fact and offer them a demonstrate about, among other things, how games work. Those who are RG Curious may benefit from enhanced efforts to educate about RG tools (e.g., PlayMyWay) offered at the casino. The Externally Inspired group patrons largely interacted with a GSA because they were responding to GSA prompts to learn or to get swag, which opened the door for proactive outreach. It may behoove GSA to prob patrons to assess what motivated them to engage with GameSense. Additionally, specific activities could be designed to align with the different patron motive or reasons for engaging with GameSense. Doing so may help maximize the program's effectiveness. For instance, if not already common practice, GSAs should ask patrons who note interest in RG whether they would like to watch a video or have a hand-on demonstration about how games word.

The potentially paradoxical findings regarding Gambling Literacy and the All Information Seekers warrant attention. Despite displaying lower Gambling Literacy, this group exhibited the highest endorsement of RG-related reasons for interacting with a GSA. This suggests that individuals with limited gambling knowledge, but a desire to learn, may actively seek GSA interactions to enhance their understanding. This presents an opportunity for GameSense to bridge the gap by providing accessible, informative, and engaging resources that cater to varying literacy levels. In fact, the LCA results underscore the complexity of patron motivations for engaging with GSAs within the GameSense program. Acknowledging this diversity and tailoring strategies accordingly can lead to more effective RG education and support.

### 5.2 Perceived Purpose and Target Audience of GameSense

Our investigation into patrons' perceptions of GameSense's purpose and target audience provided valuable insights. Most respondents correctly believed that GameSense provided RG tools, education about responsible gambling, and support for individuals facing gambling-related problems. These findings suggest that patrons have a reasonably accurate understanding of GameSense's core objectives. It should be noted that a substantial proportion viewed GameSense as a lounge; however, a recognized RG strategy involves players taking breaks during play. Although not explicitly designed for this purpose, the seats within a GSIC could offer players a refuge from the gaming floor. This may serve as an unintended advantage, allowing patrons to unwind. Additionally, it presents an opportunity for GSAs to initiate conversations with patrons about RG or problematic gambling behaviors. The Massachusetts Gaming Commission (MGC) should consider expanding the footprint of GSIC at each casino to make an explicit lounge space for patrons.

The perceived target audience for GameSense also yielded noteworthy results. Although the majority believed that GameSense primarily targeted people who gamble on a regular basis, a slightly lower proportion thought it was also for occasional gamblers. These results are in line with prior research (see Forsström et al., 2017; Gainsbury et al., 2018) that suggests a tendency among players to believe that RG initiatives are designed to help intervene when play has become problematic rather than help prevent problems from starting. Messaging that RG programs, like GameSense, are for all people who gamble has always been a challenge. Nonetheless, the MGC should invest funds to determine what messaging works to help properly communicate the purpose of GameSense. Doing so will hopefully increase uptake of the GameSense program in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. That over two-thirds felt that

GameSense was self-relevant may suggest that those who interacted with a GSA tended to have elevated symptoms of disordered gambling. Indeed, approximately half of the sample were categorized as being at moderate risk for gambling problems or as likely problem gamblers according to the PGSI, and roughly a quarter of respondents had some symptoms of problem gambling. Moreover, close to half of all respondents indicated that they interacted with a GSA to learn more about voluntary self-exclusion (only a fifth of respondents reported no problems with their gambling). These results suggest that patrons with gambling-related problems are more engaged with GameSense than those without problems. To increase prevention efforts, attention should be directed toward motivating patrons without gambling problems to have meaningful interactions with GSAs.

### **5.3 Perceived Outcomes of Interactions**

One of the central objectives of our study was to assess the perceived outcomes of patron interactions with GSAs. The results were overwhelmingly positive, with most respondents indicating that their interactions left them feeling more informed about RG practices, how casino games work, and that their interests were served. Additionally, a substantial majority expressed their willingness to encourage others to visit a GSIC, speak with a GSA, or both.

However, noteworthy differences emerged based on the type of interaction patrons had. Respondents who engaged in exchange interactions were significantly more likely to agree that they felt more informed about RG compared to those who had demonstration interactions. This finding suggests that interactive discussions with GSAs, where patrons actively engage in twoway conversations about RG, have a more pronounced impact on knowledge acquisition than a demonstration about, for example, how games work. In summary, our study unraveled the complexities of patron-GSA interactions within the GameSense program, emphasizing the program's adaptability to cater to diverse motivations. The positive perceived outcomes highlight the program's potential to effectively educate patrons about RG practices and influence their behavior positively. Moreover, the alignment between patrons' perceptions and GameSense's objectives regarding purpose and target audience underscores the program's success in conveying its key messages to patrons.

#### **5.4 Recommendations**

Based on our findings, we offer several recommendations to the MGC to enhance the GameSense program. These recommendations aim to increase correct perceptions about GameSense, boost the number of patrons who interact with GSAs, and improve the effectiveness of GSA interactions regarding RG education.

*Recommendation #1: Clarify and reinforce program messaging.* Invest resources in refining and reinforcing the messaging around GameSense. This effort should focus on communicating that GameSense is not solely an intervention program for patrons with gambling problems but also a valuable resource for all casino patrons. Implementing clear, consistent, and persuasive messaging can help dispel misconceptions and encourage broader participation.

*Recommendation #2: Tailored engagement strategies.* Recognize that patrons have diverse motivations for interacting with GSAs. Develop tailored engagement strategies that cater to both intrinsic and extrinsic motivations. For patrons seeking RG education, offer engaging and interactive discussions to maximize knowledge acquisition. Simultaneously, incentivize interactions through giveaways and promotions to attract a broader audience. In short, a one-size-fits-all approach will not attract all patrons. In fact, some messaging may be met with

resistance. The results of the current research suggest that patron segmentation is required to meet the RG needs of all patrons, and motivate them to have meaningful interactions with GSAs.

*Recommendation #3: Proactive GSA outreach.* Encourage GSAs to proactively initiate conversations with patrons, even when patrons may not actively seek assistance. GSA training programs should emphasize the importance of identifying potential candidates for engagement and approaching them in a non-intrusive manner. Proactive outreach can expand the program's reach and impact.

*Recommendation #4: Referral program.* Leverage patrons' willingness to encourage others to visit GSICs or speak with GSAs. Implement a referral program that rewards patrons for referring their peers to the GameSense program. This can serve as a mutually beneficial initiative, promoting RG while incentivizing engagement.

*Recommendation #5: Target patrons who do not have gambling problems.* Recognize the potential to motivate patrons who do not have gambling problems to have meaningful interactions with GSAs. Develop strategies to specifically target this group, emphasizing the benefits of RG education, understanding game mechanics, and enhancing the overall casino experience.

*Recommendation #6: Continuous training and development.* Invest in ongoing training and development for GSAs. Equip them with the skills to adapt to patrons' diverse motivations and effectively convey RG messages. Training should encompass interactive techniques, effective communication, and strategies for proactive outreach.

*Recommendation #7: Monitoring and evaluation.* Implement a robust monitoring and evaluation system to assess the impact of these recommendations. Regularly collect feedback

from patrons regarding their interactions with GSAs and the effectiveness of the program's messaging. Use this data to refine strategies and adapt to changing patron dynamics.

#### **5.5 Limitations and Future Directions**

Although our study provides valuable insights, some limitations should be noted. First, our findings are based on a specific sample of casino patrons in Massachusetts and may not be entirely representative of all casino-goers. Future research should aim to include a more diverse and comprehensive sample to generalize findings. Second, our study primarily relies on self-report data, which may be subject to biases such as social desirability. Future studies could incorporate behavioral observations or additional objective measures to validate the findings. Lastly, as the gaming landscape evolves, it is crucial for the MGC to remain agile and adapt GameSense to changing circumstances and emerging technologies. Regular assessments, updates, and refinements will be essential to ensure that GameSense continues to effectively promote responsible gambling in the ever-evolving casino environment.

#### 5.6 Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to explore the motivations, perceptions, and outcomes of patron interactions with GSAs in Massachusetts casinos. Through a comprehensive analysis, we sought to gain a deeper understanding of RG practices and identify opportunities for enhancing the GameSense program. Our findings have several key takeaways that offer valuable insights into RG education and the GameSense program's effectiveness. We found that patrons interact with GSAs for diverse reasons, encompassing both intrinsic motivations for RG education and extrinsic incentives such as promotional items. This diversity highlights the importance of tailoring engagement strategies to meet the unique needs and interests of different patrons. Furthermore, proactive outreach by GSAs plays a crucial role in driving patron engagement.

Encouraging GSAs to initiate conversations strategically can bridge the gap between latent interests and active participation in RG information. Additionally, it is essential to clarify the messaging around the GameSense program. Ensuring that patrons understand the program's true purpose, extending beyond problem gambling intervention, can help attract a broader audience of individuals interested in RG practices. Lastly, our study underscores the value of interactive education in RG. Two-way discussions between GSAs and patrons significantly impact knowledge acquisition. Therefore, incorporating more conversational and interactive elements into GSA interactions could be a fruitful approach.

In summary, this study not only provides valuable insights into RG practices within the casino environment but also offers concrete recommendations for improving the GameSense program. By understanding the motivations of patrons, enhancing proactive engagement, clarifying messaging, and embracing interactive education, GameSense can continue to empower individuals to gamble responsibly and make informed choices while enjoying their casino experiences.

#### References

Ferris, J., & Wynne, H. (2001). The Canadian problem gambling index: Final report. Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse. https://www.greo.ca/Modules/EvidenceCentre/files/Ferris%20et%20al(2001)The\_Canadi an\_Problem\_Gambling\_Index.pdf

- Forsström, D., Jansson-Fröjmark, M., Hesser, H., & Carlbring, P. (2017). Experiences of Playscan: Interviews with users of a responsible gambling tool. *Internet Interventions*, 8, 53-62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.invent.2017.03.003
- Gainsbury, S. M., Abarbanel, B. L. L., Philander, K. S., & Butler, J. V. (2018). Strategies to customize responsible gambling messages: A review and focus group study. *BMC Public Health*, 18(1), 1381–1381. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-6281-0
- Gray, H. M., Keating, L., Shaffer, H. J., & LaPlante, D. A. (2020). Observations of the first GameSense-branded responsible gambling centre in a US casino. *Health Education Journal*, 79(1), 104-120. https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896919863121
- Wohl, M. J. A., Gaudett, G. E., Davis, C. G., & Tabri, N. (2024). Players' awareness of and engagement with GameSense in Massachusetts casinos [Report]. Massachusetts Gaming Commission.
- Wood, R. T. A., Wohl, M. J. A., Tabri, N., & Philander, K. (2017). Measuring responsible gambling amongst players: Development of the Positive Play Scale. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 227–227. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00227

Young, M. M., Hodgins, D. C., Currie, S. R., Brunelle, N., Dufour, M., Flores-Pajot, M. C., &

# Appendix A: LCA

Table 14

Model Fit Indices of the LCA

Number of groups	BIC	LMRT p-value	BLRT <i>p</i> -value	Entropy	Smallest class size %
2	6999.06	.00	0.000	.84	39.93
3	6932.72	.02	0.000	.80	28.32
4	3569.495	.11	0.000	.79	18.77

*Note.* BIC = Bayesian Information Criterion; LMRT = Lo-Mendell-Rubin Test; BLRT = Bootstrapped Likelihood Ratio Test.

# Appendix B: Associations between group membership and four subscales of PPS

# Table 15

Descriptive Statistics

	Group	п	M	SD
Age	1	70	52.89 <sub>a</sub>	13.15
	2	86	45.56 <sub>b</sub>	16.21
	3	95	46.55 <sub>b</sub>	17.11
	Total	251	47.98	16.02
Personal	1	77	6.31	1.13
Responsibility	2	92	6.05	1.07
	3	98	5.91	1.29
	Total	267	6.06	1.18
Gambling Literacy	1	77	5.62a	1.15
	2	91	5.42a	1.41
	3	97	4.76 <sub>b</sub>	1.44
	Total	265	5.24	1.40
Honesty and	1	76	5.81	1.55
Control	2	91	5.33	1.61
	3	97	5.55	1.62
	Total	264	5.55	1.60
Pre-Commitment	1	76	5.83	1.41
	2	91	5.47	1.49
	3	96	5.52	1.71
	Total	263	5.59	1.55

*Note.* 1 = Externally Inspired; 2 = Responsible Gambling Curious; 3 = All Information Seekers. Sample sizes vary by analysis due to missing data. Cells with shared subscripts did not differ significantly; cells with different subscripts differed significantly (p < .05)

# Table 16

		df	F	р
Personal Responsibility	Between Groups	2	2.48	.086
	Within Groups	264		
	Total	266		
Gambling Literacy	Between Groups	2	10.01	<.001
	Within Groups	262		
	Total	264		
Honesty and Control	Between Groups	2	1.86	.157
	Within Groups	261		
	Total	263		
Pre-Commitment	Between Groups	2	1.26	.286
	Within Groups	260		
	Total	262		

ANOVA Results for PPS Subscales

*Note.* Degrees of freedom vary by analysis due to missing data.

# Appendix C: Associations Between Group Membership and Perceived Effect of the

# Interaction With a GSA

# Table 18

ANOVA Results for Perceived Effects of Interacting With a GSA

Dependent variable		df	F	р
I feel more informed about how to gamble	Between Groups	2	7.02	.001
responsibly	Within Groups	284		
	Total	286		
I feel more knowledgeable about how games	Between Groups	2	9.41	<.001
work	Within Groups	282		
	Total	284		
I feel that my best interests are effectively	Between Groups	2	5.66	.004
served	Within Groups	281		
	Total	283		
I would encourage others to speak with a	Between Groups	2	3.70	.026
GameSense Advisor	Within Groups	280		
	Total	282		
I would encourage customers to visit a	Between Groups	2	4.23	.015
GameSense Info Center	Within Groups	280		
	Total	282		

*Note.* Degrees of freedom vary by analysis due to missing data.
\*\*NOTE. The following is the survey provided to patrons who interacted with a GSA at Plainridge Park Casino. The only difference between this survey and the survey provided patrons at the other two casinos was reference to the casino in which they participated.

# **GameSense: Players-GSA Interaction Survey**

**Research personnel:** The following people are involved in this study, and may be contacted at any time if you have questions or concerns:

Dr. Michael Wohl (Principal Investigator; <u>michael.wohl@carleton.ca</u>; 613-520-2600, ext. 2908);

Dr. Nassim Tabri (Principal Investigator; <u>nassim.tabri@carleton.ca</u>; 613-520-2600, ext. 1727); Dr. Chris Davis (Principal Investigator; <u>chris.davis@carleton.ca</u>; 613-520-2600, ext. 2251); Gray Gaudett (Other research personnel; <u>GraceGaudett@cmail.carleton.ca</u>); Isabella Bossom (Other research personnel; <u>isabellabossom@cmail.carleton.ca</u>).

**Concerns:** Should you have any ethical concerns about this research, please contact the Carleton University Ethics Board (<u>ethics@carleton.ca</u>).

**Purpose and Task Requirements:** We are asking for some input from players who have had an interaction with a GameSense Advisor about GameSense. We are interested in your thoughts about the GameSense brand, the GameSense Information Centers, and the GameSense Advisors. We welcome your input.

**Potential Risk/Discomfort:** We anticipate no physical discomfort to you as a result of your participation in this study. It is possible, however, that you could experience some distress when thinking about past or current gambling activities. If you are experiencing problems with your gambling, feel free to call 1.800.327.5050 for treatment options or 1.800.426.1234 for help to exclude yourself from the Massachusetts casinos. A copy of this information will be provided to

you in the debriefing sheet following the questionnaires.

**Benefits/Compensation:** We are offering a \$10 Amazon.com or Dunkin' Donuts Gift Card for completing this online survey, which should take you approximately 10 min. You will be asked to select your gift card at the end of the survey. Your gift card will be emailed to you should you provide us with a valid email address.

**Anonymity/Confidentiality:** The information you provide will be kept confidential. This information will be aggregated with the information collected from other participants and used only for research and knowledge translation purposes. All information collected will be stored securely on Qualtrics' servers located in the United States. Once data from this survey are matched with your player data (if authorized by you), all identifying information will be destroyed (by August 2023). Data will be stored on the lead researcher's secure MS Teams channel dedicated to this project. Because there will be no personal information associated with the data, the dataset will be stored electronically and kept indefinitely. Additionally, we will upload this anonymized dataset to an online data repository called Open Science Framework (http://osf.io/) for research and teaching purposes. Aggregate data may also be used in publications, presentations, and future research. The (fully anonymized) data from this study may be released to journals upon request. Lastly, anonymized data may be shared with trusted colleagues.

**Right to withdraw:** Participation in this study is entirely voluntary. You may decline to answer certain questions or to withdraw your data upon completion of the survey. To withdraw your data, please email the researchers. Upon withdrawal, all your information will be permanently deleted. If you would like to withdraw during the study, you may click the "withdraw" button at the bottom of each page. By clicking "withdraw" you will automatically be re-directed to the debriefing page including the links to access support services.

This study has received clearance by the Carleton University Research Ethics Board B (Reference #117682) and is being funded by Massachusetts Gaming Commission. The survey has the support of Plainridge Park Casino.

By checking this box, you agree to the following terms:

○ I have read the above form and understand the conditions of my participation. I understand that I will be compensated with a \$10 Amazon.com or Dunkin' Donuts Gift Card for my participation in this study. My participation in this study is voluntary. (1)

 $\bigcirc$  I do not consent to the study. (2)

I am at least 21 years old.

○ Yes (1)

 $\bigcirc$  No (2)

I was invited to participate in this survey by a GameSense Advisor.

Yes (1)No (2)

I have had an interaction with a GameSense Advisor in the last month.

Yes (1)No (2)

What was the nature of the interaction with a GameSense Advisor that led you to be invited to complete this survey?

O It was a demonstration (i.e., I had a GameSense Advisor show me about how a game, responsible gambling tool, or gambling concept works). (1)

O I had an exchange with a GameSense Advisor (i.e., I had a conversation with a GameSense Advisor about responsible gambling or problem gambling). (2)

Other (e.g., I had a short interaction with a GameSense Advisor about issues unrelated to gambling). (3)

Thank you for your interest in taking the Player-GSA Interaction Survey.

Unfortunately, you do not qualify to complete the survey at this time.

For more information on the Player-GSA Interaction Survey, please contact the Gambling Lab at Carleton University at <u>gambling.lab@carleton.ca</u>

You are being asked to complete this survey because recently you had an interaction with a GameSense Advisor and they invited you to participate in a survey about your experience with them and about GameSense more generally.

Please take a moment to think about the interaction you had with the GameSense Advisor that led you to be invited to complete this survey.

In the next few pages of this survey, we will be asking you some questions about this interaction.

Who initiated your interaction with the GameSense Advisor?

Me (1)The GameSense Advisor (2)

1

Where did the interaction take place?

```
\bigcirc On the gaming floor (1)
```

 $\bigcirc$  At the GameSense Information Center (2)

 $\bigcirc$  Other (e.g., food court, the valet, on a bus) (3)

Please indicate your reasons(s) for the interaction with a GameSense Advisor that resulted in your invitation to participate in this survey.

	Yes (1)	No (2)
A GameSense Advisor initiated a conversation with me (1)	0	$\bigcirc$
I was curious because of advertisements I saw/announcement I heard about GameSense (2)	0	0
I wanted to learn about how games work. (3)	0	0
I wanted to learn about responsible gambling (e.g., playing within an affordable money and/or time limit). (4)	0	0
I wanted to learn about PlayMyWay (i.e., a money budgeting tool for your slot play that works with your rewards card). (5)	0	0
I wanted help enrolling in PlayMyWay (6)	0	$\bigcirc$
I wanted to get free giveaways or swag (e.g., a lanyard). (7)	0	$\bigcirc$
I wanted to learn about gambling-related myths. (8)	0	0
I wanted to learn about supports for problem gambling. (9)	0	0
I wanted to be better informed should I need to pass information to other players. (10)	0	0
I wanted to learn about voluntary self-exclusion. (11)	0	0
Other (please specify): (12)	0	0

	Strongly disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Somewhat disagree (3)	Neither agree nor disagree (4)	Somewhat agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly agree (7)
I feel more informed about how to gamble responsibly. (1)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
I feel more knowledgeable about how games work. (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
I feel that my best interests are effectively served. (3)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
I would encourage others to speak with a GameSense Advisor. (4)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0
I would encourage customers to visit a GameSense Info Center. (5)	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0

Due to my experience(s) with a GameSense Advisor...

Are there other outcomes from your experience with a GameSense Advisor that were not covered in the items above? If so, please briefly note them below.



I am satisfied with my interaction with the GameSense Advisor that resulted in my invitation to participate in this survey.

 $\bigcirc$  Strongly disagree (1)

 $\bigcirc$  Disagree (2)

 $\bigcirc$  Somewhat disagree (3)

 $\bigcirc$  Neither agree nor disagree (4)

 $\bigcirc$  Somewhat agree (5)

 $\bigcirc$  Agree (6)

 $\bigcirc$  Strongly agree (7)

We understand that you may have had other interactions with a GameSense Advisor at Plainridge Park Casino. Please let us know how many times you have had the interactions (if any) noted below with a GameSense Advisor. Please respond using the dropdown menu.

Casual/Simple (i.e., I had a short interaction with a GameSense Advisor about issues unrelated to gambling). Number of times =

▼ 0 (0) ... 99 (99)

Demonstration (i.e., I had a GameSense Advisor show me how a game, responsible gambling tool, or gambling concept works). Number of times =

▼ 0 (0) ... 99 (99)

Exchange (i.e., I had a conversation with a GameSense Advisor about responsible gambling or problem gambling). Number of times =

▼ 0 (0) ... 99 (99)

Did prior interactions with a GameSense Advisor make you more comfortable during the interaction you mentioned earlier?

 $\bigcirc$  Yes (1)

O No (2)

 $\bigcirc$  I haven't had a prior interaction with a GameSense Advisor (3)

	Strongly disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Somewhat disagree (3)	Neither agree nor disagree (4)	Somewhat agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly agree (7)
Made me feel comfortable having another interaction. (1)	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0
Made me want to learn more about how games work (2)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
Made me want to learn more about responsible gambling. (3)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
Made me want to learn more about problem gambling. (4)	0	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0
Made me want to learn about PlayMyWay. (5)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0

My previous interaction(s) with a GameSense Advisor:

5	Yes (1)	No (2)
It offers a place where players can relax away from the gaming floor (e.g., a place to chat; a lounge) (1)	0	0
It's a program that educate players about how games work (e.g., the rules). (2)	0	$\bigcirc$
It's a program that educates players about the odds of winning at a particular game and the house edge of that game (3)	0	$\bigcirc$
It's a program that educates players about how to gamble responsibly (e.g., within an affordable money and/or time limit) (4)	0	$\bigcirc$
It's a program that includes PlayMyWay - a budgeting tool where you track your play and receive notifications as you get closer to the budget you've set (5)	0	$\bigcirc$
It's a program that helps dispel gambling-related myths (6)	0	$\bigcirc$
It offers a place where players can find where to get support if they believe their gambling has become problematic (7)	0	$\bigcirc$
It's a program that allows players to voluntarily exclude themselves from the gaming floor at all casinos in Massachusetts (8)	0	$\bigcirc$
Other (please specify): (9)	0	$\bigcirc$

## Based on your current understanding of GameSense, what is its purpose?

	Strongly disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Somewhat disagree (3)	Don't know (4)	Somewhat agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly agree (7)
People who are new to gambling. (1)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
People who gamble occasionally. (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
People who gambling on a regular basis. (3)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
People who have trouble controlling their gambling. (4)	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0
All people who gamble. (5)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

I think that the target audience for GameSense is...

GameSense, and the responsible gambling education and tools it provides, was developed for players like me.

O Strongly disagree (1)
O Disagree (2)
O Somewhat disagree (3)
O Don't know (4)
$\bigcirc$ Somewhat agree (5)
O Agree (6)
O Strongly agree (7)

Who provides GameSense and employs GameSense Advisors? Please check all that you think apply.

The casino (1)
Massachusetts Gaming Commission/ State of Massachusetts (2)
Private enterprise/ non-profit organization (3)
Don't know (4)

Please indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with the following items.

	Strongly disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Somewhat disagree (3)	Neither agree nor disagree (4)	Somewhat agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly agree (7)
I consider Plainridge Park Casino a good place to gamble. (1)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
I trust Plainridge Park Casino. (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
I am satisfied with Plainridge Park Casino. (3)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
I have a strong sense of connection to Plainridge Park Casino. (4)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0
Plainridge Park Casino meets or exceeds my expectations for a gaming operator. (5)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$
I feel loyal to Plainridge Park Casino. (6)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0



On the following pages, we are going to ask you some questions about your beliefs and behaviors as they pertain to gambling.

In the last 3 months, what proportion of your gambling happened at Plainridge Park Casino:

0% (1)
About 25% (2)
About 50% (3)
About 75% (4)
100% (5)

	0% (1)	About 25% (2)	About 50% (3)	About 75% (4)	100% (5)
Slot machines (1)	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0
Table games/Video Table games (2)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Video table games (3)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Sports betting (4)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Lottery (5)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Other (e.g., parimutuel/horse racing) Please specify: (6)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

In the last 3 months, when you visited Plainridge Park Casino, how often did you play:

Please think about your gambling at Plainridge Park Casino over the last three months.

In the **last 3 months**, approximately how much money have you spent gambling at **Plainridge Park Casino?** (Please answer to the closest dollar; e.g., 50).

Over the **last 3 months**, **overall**, have you won, lost, or broke even playing at **Plainridge Park Casino**?

O I have won money at Plainridge Park Casino (1)

O I have lost money at Plainridge Park Casino (2)

O I have broken even at Plainridge Park Casino (3)

Approximately how much money have you won playing at **Plainridge Park Casino** in this period of time? Please answer in dollars.

Approximately how much money have you lost playing at **Plainridge Park Casino** in this period of time? Please answer in dollars.

In the last 3 months, how often did you use your **Rewards Card** while playing at **Plainridge Park Casino**?

 $\bigcirc$  Never (0%) (1)

 $\bigcirc$  Rarely (1-33%) (2)

O Sometimes (34-66%) (3)

Often (67-99%) (4)

 $\bigcirc$  Always (100%) (5)

In the **last 3 months**, overall **how much money** have you spent gambling **anywhere**? (Please answer to the closest dollar; e.g., 50).

The following statements have to do with your beliefs and opinions about gambling. Please indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with each statement.

I believe that...

	Strongly disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Somewhat disagree (3)	Neither agree nor disagree (4)	Somewhat agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly agree (7)
I should be able to walk away from gambling at any time. (1)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0
I should be aware of how much money I spend when I gamble. (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
It's my responsibility to spend only money that I can afford to lose. (3)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0
I should only gamble when I have enough money to cover all my bills first. (4)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0
Gambling is not a good way to make money. (5)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0
My chances of winning get better after I have lost. (6)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0



In the last 3 months...

	Never (1)	Rarely (2)	Occasionally (3)	Sometimes (4)	Frequently (5)	Usually (6)	Always (7)
I felt in control of my gambling behavior. (1)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
I was honest with my family and/or friends about the amount of MONEY I spent gambling. (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
I was honest with my family and/or friends about the amount of TIME I spent gambling. (3)	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
I only gambled with MONEY that I could afford to lose. (4)	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$

I only spent TIME gambling that I could afford to spend. (5)	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0
I considered the amount of MONEY I was willing to lose BEFORE I gambled. (6)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
I considered the amount of TIME I was willing to spend BEFORE I gambled. (7)	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0	0	0	0

When you think about your gambling over the last 3 months, how often...

	Never (1)	Sometimes (2)	Most of the time (3)	Always (4)
have you bet more than you could really afford to lose? (1)	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0
have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? (2)	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$
have you gone back another day to try to win back the money you lost? (3)	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$
have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble? (4)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0
have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling? (5)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
have people criticized your betting or told you that you had a gambling problem, regardless of whether or not you thought it was true? (6)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$

have you felt guilty about the way you gamble, or what happens when you gamble? (7)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
has your gambling caused you any health problems, including stress or anxiety? (8)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
has your gambling caused any financial problems for you or your household? (9)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0

Have you ever enrolled in voluntary self-exclusion (VSE) program?

 $\bigcirc$  Yes (1)

O No (2)

Did you enroll in a VSE program in Massachusetts or outside of Massachusetts.

 $\bigcirc$  I enrolled in a VSE program in Massachusetts (1)

 $\bigcirc$  I enrolled in a VSE program outside of Massachusetts (2)

 $\bigcirc$  I enrolled in a VSE program both in and outside of Massachusetts (3)

Approximately when did you enroll in the VSE program in Massachusetts?

Month	Day	Year

Please Select: (1) 
$$\forall$$
 January (1 ...   
December (12)  $\forall$  1 (1 ... 31 (31)  $\forall$  1900 (1 ... 2049 (150)

Are you still enrolled in the VSE program outside of Massachusetts?

○ Yes (1)

O No (2)

Please indicate the extent to which you agree with the following statements:

	Not at all 0 (0)	1 (1)	2 (2)	3 (3)	Extremely 4 (4)
How I feel about myself is largely based on the amount of money I have. (1)	0	0	0	0	0
My moods are influenced by the amount of money I have. (2)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0
People will think less of me if I don't have a lot of money. (3)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
The opportunities that are available to me depend on the amount of money I have. (4)	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$

I am a MyChoice Rewards member

○ Yes (1)

O No (2)

What tier of the rewards program are you in?

- $\bigcirc$  Choice (i.e., red card) (1)
- $\bigcirc$  Advantage (i.e., orange card) (2)
- $\bigcirc$  Preferred (i.e., gold card) (3)
- $\bigcirc$  Elite (i.e., grey card) (4)
- $\bigcirc$  Owners Club (i.e., black card) (5)

#### Permission to Access MyChoice Rewards Player Data

The purpose of the Survey is to get your input about gambling and responsible gambling attitudes and behaviors. We want to know what you like or don't like about responsible gambling programming and your gambling behavior.

For this reason, and with the support of Plainridge Park Casino, we are asking for your permission to access your personal player-account data over the last three months. Specifically, we would like to know what games you have played and how much you have won or lost. Your name will not be attached to your information (i.e., the casino will not provide the research team with your identifying information). Your player data will be kept confidential—no state or other entities will have access to it. Your player data will be protected by Carleton University and not released to anyone outside the research team. Once data from the survey have been matched to your player data, your Rewards number will be deleted from all research records.

\* You can complete the survey and receive the gift card even if you do not provide permission to access your player data.

 $\bigcirc$  I consent (1)

 $\bigcirc$  I do not consent (2)

\*This survey is open to MyChoice Rewards member invitees only. The survey can only be completed once for compensation (i.e., the Amazon.com or Dunkin' Donuts Gift Card). My MyChoice Rewards identification number is:

If you do not remember your MyChoice Rewards number, we can access your player account using your name instead. You will be given the option to do so on the next page.

Because I don't remember my **MyChoice Rewards** number, I give permission to the researchers to access my player account using my name. \* The research team will delete any record of your name as soon as we link your player data with your survey data (by March 31, 2023). **My MyChoice Rewards account is under the name of:** 

: Demographics

What is your gender identity?

 $\bigcirc$  Man (1)

 $\bigcirc$  Woman (2)

 $\bigcirc$  Gender-fluid (3)

 $\bigcirc$  Trans man (4)

 $\bigcirc$  Trans woman (5)

 $\bigcirc$  Nonbinary (6)

 $\bigcirc$  Two-spirit (7)

 $\bigcirc$  Prefer to specify: My gender is (8)

 $\bigcirc$  Prefer not to answer (9)

What is your age?

: Compensation

Thank you for completing the GameSense: Players Survey!

The information you have provided in this survey will help us provide better tools to promote positive play. Your feedback will help us improve GameSense.

Please select the gift card you would like to receive:

 $\bigcirc$  I would like a \$10 Amazon Gift Card (4)

O I would like a \$10 Dunkin' Donuts Gift Card (5)

To receive your Gift Card, please provide an email address below (gift cards will be distributed within 48 hours. We appreciate your patience):

#### Thank you for participating in this research! What is the purpose of this research?

This study aims to better understand how people approach responsible play strategies and make decisions about their gambling behaviors. We are particularly interested in your recent interaction with a GameSense Advisor. Specifically, we are interested in better understanding why players have interaction with GameSense Advisors and their impression of any interaction they may have had (e.g., did they find it helpful in terms of learning about responsible or problem gambling).

#### What can I do if I feel like I need help with gambling concerns?

If you are experiencing problems with your gambling, feel free to call 1.800.327.5050 for treatment options, 1.800.426.1234 for help to exclude yourself from the Massachusetts casinos, or visit GameSense at <a href="https://gamesensema.com/and-click">https://gamesensema.com/and-click</a> on the live-chat option.

#### If I have any further questions, please feel free to contact us:

If you have any questions or comments about this research, please feel free to contact the research team at <u>gambling.lab@carleton.ca</u> (should you wish to contact us at a later date, please make note of this email address).

For more information on how to keep your gambling fun and safe, please contact <u>https://gamesensema.com/</u>

#### **Ethical concerns:**

This study has received ethics clearance by the Carleton University Research Ethics Board-B (CUREB-B Reference # 117682). If you have any ethical concerns about this study, please contact the Carleton University Research Ethics Board-B (ethics@carleton.ca).

### Player-facing Employees' Awareness of and Engagement with GameSense in

#### **Massachusetts Casinos**

Michael J. A. Wohl

Gray E. Gaudett

Christopher G. Davis

S. Nima Orazani

Nassim Tabri

Carleton University

Reference as:

Wohl, M. J. A., Gaudett, G. E., Davis, C. G., Orazani, S. N., & Tabri, N. (2024). Player-facing Employees' Awareness of and Engagement with GameSense in Massachusetts Casinos [Report]. Massachusetts Gaming Commission.
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Facilitating Help Seeking: Referral to GameSense	2
2. Overview of Current Research	4
3. Methods & Results	5
3.1 Method and Results Structure	5
3.2 Recruitment	6
3.3 Sample Characteristics	7
3.4 Possible Correlates of Awareness and Engagement with GameSense	8
3.4.1 Perceptions about Positive Play	8
4. Assessment of GameSense	9
4.1 GameSense Awareness	9
4.1.1 Perceived Purpose of GameSense.	10
4.2 Perceived Target Audience for GameSense	12
4.3 Engagement with GameSense	13
4.3.1 Reasons for Visiting.	13
4.3.2 Reasons for not Visiting.	17
4.3.4 Comparison Between Those who Visited and Those who did not Visit	21
4.4 Interactions with a GSA	22
4.4.1 Comparison Between LCA groups for Those who Visited a GSIC.	23
4.4.2 Comparison Between LCA Groups for Those who did not Visit a GSIC	23
4.5 Referral to a GSA	24
4.5.1. Reasons for Referring	24
4.5.2 Reasons for not Referring	26
5. Discussion	27
5.1 Awareness and Perceptions of GameSense	28
5.2 Engagement with GameSense	30
5.3 Referring Players to GameSense	35
5.4 Recommendations	37
5.5 Limitations and Future Directions	39
5.6 Conclusion	40
References	42

# Table of Contents

## List of Tables

Table 1. Demographic Characteristics.
Table 2. Where Respondents Heard About GameSense.  10
Table 3. Purposes of GameSense.  11
Table 4. Perceived Target Audience for GameSense.  12
Table 5. Reasons for Visiting a GSIC.  14
Table 6. Proportion who Affirmed Each Reason for Visiting a GSIC by Group.     15
Table 7. Means and Standard Deviations (SD) of P-PPS Subscales and Age Across Three Groups
of Employees who Visited a GSIC
Table 8. Reasons for not Visiting a GSIC.  19
Table 9. Proportion who Affirmed Each Reason for not Visiting a GSIC by Group.     20
Table 10. Means and Standard Deviations (SD) of P-PPS Subscales and Age Across Two Groups
of Patrons who Have not Visited a GSIC
Table 11. Means and Standard Deviations (SD) of Gender Across Two Groups of Patrons who
Have not Visited a GSIC
Table 12. Rating Experience of Interacting with GSAs.  23
Table 13. Reasons for Referring Players to a GSA.  25
Table 14. Reasons for not Referring Players to a GSA.  26

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Results of the LCA Examining Reasons for Visiting a GSIC with Three Groups.
Figure 2. Results of the LCA Examining Reasons for Not Visiting a GSIC with Two Classes.

# List of Appendices

Appendix A: LCA	
Appendix B: Survey	51

## Authorship and acknowledgements

## Authorship

**Dr. Michael J. A. Wohl**, Professor of Psychology at Carleton University. Work in his Carleton University Gambling Laboratory (CUGL) focuses on, among other things, factors that predict disordered gambling (e.g., erroneous beliefs, financial focus), facilitators of responsible gambling (e.g., monetary limit setting and adherence), and means to overcome barriers to behavior change (e.g., nostalgia for life lived before the addictive behavior took hold). Members of CUGL also examine the potential pitfalls and possible harm-minimization utility of rewards program membership. Dr. Wohl is the lead author of this report.

**Gray E. Gaudett** is a Master's student in Psychology under the supervision of Dr. Michael Wohl. Their research interests include factors that predict and maintain recovery from an addictive behavior and effective treatment programming. They contributed to all sections of the report.

**Dr. Nassim Tabri**, Associate Professor of Psychology at Carleton University. Work in his Mental Health and Addictions Laboratory focuses on transdiagnostic risk and maintenance factors for health-compromising behaviors, with a focus on disordered gambling and eating. Another focus of the Mental Health and Addictions Laboratory is on the role of money and financial focus in the etiology and maintenance of disordered gambling. Relevant to the present context, Dr. Tabri also conducts research on responsible gambling and is a co-developer of the Positive Play Scale. For this report, he contributed to the selection of measures, data analysis, the production of figures, and editing drafts, and statistical analysis support.

## Dr. Christopher G. Davis,

Professor of Psychology at Carleton University. Dr. Davis' research lies at the intersection of social, personality and health psychology. In general terms, he explores the social, contextual, and personality factors that influence our psychological health. Relevant to the present context, he studies the psychological factors that affect gambling and substance use behavior. With respect to this report, he was responsible for data analysis and the production tables and figures, editing drafts of the report, and provided analytic and other support.

**Nima Orazani** is a postdoctoral fellow at Carleton University working with Dr. Michael Wohl. His main focus is on social movements/collective actions. After joining Dr. Wohl's lab, he has been involved in projects on gambling.

## Acknowledgements

Financial support for this study comes from the Massachusetts Gaming Commission (RFR\_20211222).

Data could not have been collected without the support and cooperation of all three casino operators in Massachusetts (MGM Resorts International, Wynn Resorts, & Penn Entertainment). Specific thanks go out to Daniel Miller (Director of Compliance, MGM Springfield), Lisa McKenny (Compliance Manager, Plainridge Park Casino), and Jacqui Krum (Senior Vice President and General Counsel, Encore Boston Harbor).

Special thanks to the Massachusetts Council on Gaming and Health (specific mention to Marlene Warner and Chelsea Turner) as well as all the GameSense Advisors (specific mention to Ray Fluettes) for reviewing the survey and all their feedback and assistance along the way.

Lastly, thank you to Bonnie Andrews, Long Banh, and Mark Vander Linden for all that you have done to ensure that this project was successful from start to finish. To say you three are responsible gambling champions is an understatement.

## **Executive Summary**

## What was the purpose of this evaluation of GameSense?

The "Player-facing Employee Survey" aimed to comprehensively evaluate the awareness, perceptions, and engagement of player-facing casino employees with the GameSense program, along with their referrals of patrons to GameSense resources. The purpose of this evaluation was to gain insights into employee interactions with GameSense, improve training and communication strategies, and enhance responsible gambling (RG) initiatives within the casino environment.

## How was data collected and analyzed?

**Recruitment and Data analysis.** Data for this evaluation were collected through a survey administered to player-facing casino employees at three casinos in the State of Massachusetts. The recruitment process involved using employee email distribution lists and advertisements in employee lounges. The collected data were analyzed using a combination of descriptive statistics, chi-square tests, and latent class analyses (LCAs) to identify distinct employee groups based on their interactions and motivations related to GameSense.

## What did we find?

Awareness and Perceived Purpose of GameSense: Nearly all 280 respondents (96.1%) were aware of GameSense, with the primary source of awareness being employee training (84.0%), closely followed by interaction with GameSense Advisors (74.3%). Interestingly, a significant number also became informed about the program through managers (71.6%) or fellow employees (69.6%). For those aware of GameSense, their understanding of its purpose was diverse. The majority correctly identified its role in educating players about RG (92.6%), providing RG tools (i.e., PlayMyWay; 84.4%), supporting those facing gambling problems (89.6%), and facilitating voluntary self-exclusion (87.7%). A notable proportion perceived GameSense as a relaxation lounge (27.1%). Moreover, although a substantial number knew of its role in dispelling gambling myths (66.0%), fewer were aware of its function in helping players understand game mechanics (59.1%). These insights underline the need for targeted efforts to clarify GameSense's comprehensive purpose and dispel misconceptions, especially concerning its diverse educational functions.

**Perceived Target Audience for GameSense:** Although a substantial portion (83.7%) acknowledged that GameSense's purpose is to assist individuals struggling with gambling control, the alignment was less prominent regarding occasional gamblers, with only around half (50.0%) agreeing that GameSense benefits people who gamble infrequently.

Engagement with GameSense Information Centers (GSIC) and GameSense Advisors (GSA): More than half (58.9%) of all respondents reported having visited a GSIC, while 32.5% indicated they had not yet done so (8.6% did not provide a response). A LCA highlighted three distinct groups among those who had visited GSICs, revealing diverse motivations. Group 1 (n=57) encompassed employees who endorsed all reasons for visiting the GSIC, indicating "Comprehensive Interests". Group 2 (n=50) showed similarities to Group 1, albeit with a lesser endorsement of reasons tied to curiosity or general knowledge (i.e., they tended to visit purely to learn about RG). They typically endorsed reasons for visiting related to "RG Interests". Group 3 (n=53) were less likely to indicate they visited a GSIC for all of the provided reasons compared to those in Groups 1 and 2. These employees has "Focused Interests", which the most endorsed reason being "To be better informed should I need to pass information to players".

Among non-visitors, the most prevalent reason for not visiting a GSIC was not being asked to do so (59.3%) and belief that they already had RG knowledge (greater that 56.8% endorsement for these items). A LCA for non-visitors yielded two groups: Group 1 (n=53) predominantly endorsed reasons related to personal knowledge and RG familiarity. That is, they had "RG Proficiency Beliefs. Group 2 (n=32) endorsed the same reasons for not visiting a GSIC, but to a much lesser extent than those in Group 1. That is, they had "Tempered RG Proficiency Beliefs".

Comparing visitors and non-visitors, those who visited GSICs demonstrated a better understanding of GameSense's purpose compared to non-visitors, indicating the value of engaging with GSICs in enhancing RG comprehension.

**Interactions with GSAs.** Among all 280 respondents, 68.8% reported having interacted with a GSA while 20.5% indicated they had not (10.8% did not respond to the query). The vast majority of employees reported having a positive experience with the GSA, with 87.0% noting that due to their experience interacting with a GSA, they would encourage others to do the same. Most (85.6%) also agreed that they felt more informed about RG after their interaction, and 79.9% of employees indicated that their interaction with a GSA made them feel the casino cares about its patrons.

**Referrals.** Among all respondents, 64.9% (n=126) reported having referred patrons to GSAs. Seven potential reasons why they would refer a patron to a GSA were presented. The predominant reasons for referring patrons included to help the patron learn about voluntary self-exclusion (75.9%), to help the patron enroll in voluntary self-exclusion (70.8%), and if they thought the patron had gambling problems (69.0%). Conversely, the least frequent motivation was to refer patrons for the sake of receiving swag (45.1%). Furthermore, a significant association emerged between employees who visited a GSIC and those who referred patrons to a GSA. Those who indicated that they had visited a GSIC and spoke to a GSA were 1.62 times more likely to refer a player to GameSense than those who had not visited a GSIC or spoke to a GSA (i.e., 70.9% vs. 43.5%).

#### What are some take home messages?

1. Player-facing employees exhibit high awareness of GameSense, primarily through training and interactions with GSAs. The perceived purpose of GameSense aligns with its true objectives, emphasizing education about RG and support for gambling-related concerns.

- 2. Employees actively engage with GSICs, driven by motives like enhancing RG information to players and addressing queries about games. Diverse visitor groups exhibit motivations ranging from game-related curiosity to the desire for information.
- 3. Interactions with GSAs prove valuable, boosting employees' understanding of RG strategies and their perception that the casino cares about its patrons.
- 4. Referral of patrons to GSAs shows strong correlation with GSIC visits, emphasizing their interconnectedness. Employees refer patrons for reasons like promoting voluntary self-exclusion and addressing potential gambling issues.
- 5. These findings underscore the importance of comprehensive training, encouraging employee-customer interactions, and aligning perceptions with GameSense's genuine goals.
- 6. Insights gained from this evaluation provide a foundation for refining GameSense strategies, ensuring effective promotion of RG and an enhanced patron experience.

## What do we recommend?

Our findings offer valuable insights into optimizing the GameSense program and enhancing RG initiatives. Based on these insights, we put forth the following recommendations:

- 1. **Comprehensive Specific Player-facing Employee Training**: Develop and implement comprehensive training programs for player-facing employees that transcend basic awareness. Equip them with in-depth knowledge about GameSense's objectives, resources, and its role in fostering RG among all players, irrespective of their gambling behavior.
- 2. Address Misconceptions about GameSense: Design targeted training modules to dispel misconceptions that employees might have about GameSense. Emphasize that the program is designed for all players, underscoring its value in promoting informed decision-making and enriching the overall gambling experience.
- 3. **Regular Communication with Player-facing Employees:** Encourage player-facing employees to seamlessly integrate references to GameSense into their interactions with players. By making this a natural part of conversations, RG discussions can become normalized, contributing to correcting misperceptions.
- 4. **Guidelines for Approaching All Patrons about RG:** Provide clear guidelines on approaching patrons about RG in a respectful manner. Equip employees with strategies to initiate conversations and manage potentially challenging situations, addressing concerns related to player responses.
- 5. Emphasize Value of Employee Interactions with GSAs: Showcase the positive impact of personal interactions with GSAs on employees' own understanding of RG. Motivate

employees to engage with GSAs to enhance their continuous learning and improve their ability to provide accurate information to players.

- 6. **Regular Refresher Training:** Implement regular refresher training sessions to reinforce RG messages and keep employees updated on the latest GameSense resources and information.
- 7. **Promote a Supportive Environment:** Cultivate a supportive atmosphere that encourages employees to comfortably discuss RG with patrons. Set clear expectations and provide guidance on managing complex conversations.
- 8. **Incorporate Employee Feedback:** Establish mechanisms to gather input from playerfacing employees about their interactions with players and experiences with GameSense. Use this feedback to refine training programs and communication strategies continually.
- 9. Add a Designated, GameSense branded, "Play Break" Sitting Area Inside the GSIC. Expanding the footprint of GSICs to include a designated "break" area could be leveraged to initiate meaningful RG-oriented interactions with employees.
- 10. **Measurement of Impact:** Implement a system to gauge the impact of employee interactions with patrons regarding RG. This could involve tracking referrals to GameSense, evaluating shifts in player behavior, and obtaining feedback from employees on the effectiveness of their interactions.

## What have we learned?

This evaluation of player-facing casino employees' awareness of and engagement with the GameSense program highlighted key areas for enhancing RG initiatives in casinos. Employees generally possess strong awareness of GameSense, often stemming from training and interactions with GSAs. However, misconceptions about the program's scope call for targeted communication strategies. Engaging with GSAs and visiting GSICs positively impacts employee understanding of RG. Motivations for referring patrons to GameSense range from voluntary self-exclusion to addressing potential gambling-related concerns. In response to our findings, we recommend targeted training enhancements, communication strategies, and the fostering of a supportive environment. Our insights offer a roadmap for integrating RG seamlessly into the casino experience, benefitting both patrons and the broader community.

#### 1. Introduction

The promotion of responsible gambling (RG) practices and the use of RG tools are paramount goals within the gambling industry (Blaszczynski et al., 2004; Wohl et al. 2013). For example, when people visit a gaming venue, they may see RG educational materials that explain how games work (e.g., Wohl et al., 2010), pop-up messages when playing Electronic Gaming Machines (EGMs) that inform them about the odds of winning or whether they have reached a pre-determined limit on the amount of time or money they spent gambling (see Auer et al., 2014; Gainsbury et al., 2018; Stewart & Wohl, 2013), contact information for treatment services and programs should they believe their play is becoming (or has become) problematic (Blaszczynski et al., 2011; Dickson-Gillespie et al., 2008; Hing, 2004; Nower & Blaszczynski, 2010), and means to voluntarily self-exclude from gambling should they think that they need to abstain from play (Dickson-Gillespie et al., 2008; Hing, 2004; Nower & Blaszczynski, 2010). These initiatives are typically provided to players via organized and branded RG programming, like GameSense—the program adopted by the Massachusetts Gaming Commission and operated by the Massachusetts Council on Gaming and Health to help facilitate RG for all players.

Player-facing employees who work for the gambling operator play a pivotal role in marketing communication (Dawson & Abbott, 2011; Prentice & Wong, 2016), which likely extends to RG programming (Ladouceur et al., 2004; Wohl et al., 2013). Indeed, by promoting RG practices (e.g., encouraging players to take breaks or set limits), player-facing employees can contribute to a culture of safer gambling within the casino environment (see Luo et al., 2017). Additionally, player-facing employees are well positioned to notice when players are exhibiting signs of problem gambling and direct them to a GameSense Advisor (GSA) to seek support (Quilty et al., 2015). Yet, very little empirical research has assessed employee attitudes toward

and experiences with RG programming, and the research that has been done (e.g., Abarbanel et al., 2019) did not focus exclusively on player-facing employees or examine whether attitudes and experiences with an RG program predict whether they refer patrons to that program. In the current research, we filled this gap by only recruiting employees who are in jobs where they have the potential to directly interact with patrons. We did so at the three casinos in Massachusetts— casinos that are mandated to offer GameSense. The purpose was to assess their awareness of, and engagement with, GameSense, as well as whether they have referred patrons to the program and their willingness to do so in the future.

#### 1.1 Facilitating Help Seeking: Referral to GameSense

Player-facing employees are instrumental in identifying players who may be at risk of gambling related difficulties (Ponting et al., 2016). Indeed, by way of their regular interactions and observation skills, employees are well positioned to discern signs of problem gambling, such as changes in behavior, excessive gambling, or emotional distress. Quilty and colleagues (2015), for example, reported that most player-facing employees regularly observe players they believe likely to have a gambling problem. When so identified, employees should be referring patrons to appropriate resources and support systems, such as to a GameSense Information Center (GSIC) or GSA. In doing so, they contribute to the early detection and intervention of potential gambling problems.

Importantly, although employees expressing confidence in their ability to identify problem gambling behaviors, they are often inaccurate in their assessment—they classified many people who gambled problematically as low-risk and some people who were low-risk gamblers as having a gambling problem (Delfabbro et al., 2012). In other words, employees have difficulty differentiating problem gamblers from other gamblers. They also express that despite their

training, they are unsure what course of action should be taken when they believe a patron is exhibiting signs of distress, particularly when the player does not approach them for assistance (Beckett et al., 2020b; Hing & Nuske, 2012). Employees may not be confident about how best to approach the patron, including how best to refer patrons to GSAs (Abarbanel et al., 2018). There is concern they may offend the patron and thus receive a negative reaction in response (Beckett et al., 2020b; Hing & Nuske, 2012; Manian et al., 2023; Mulkeen, 2013). Perhaps unsurprisingly then, Gray and colleagues (2021), found that most casino employees (71.4%) who work at a casino that offers GameSense (irrespective of whether their job is player-facing) have not referred players to the program.

Of course, programs like GameSense are created for all players and not simply those who may be experiencing gambling-related problems. Indeed, the expressed purpose of GameSense is to encourage all players to develop gambling-related knowledge, beliefs, and behaviors that reduce the risk of developing a gambling problem. However, employees may have a narrow view of the role of GSAs (Gray et al., 2021). Although employees may be aware that GSAs assist patrons with gambling problems, they may be unaware that GSAs also receive extensive training in patron-focused RG with the end of educating players about and encouraging players to adopt beliefs and behaviors that reduce gambling-related harms. Relatedly, employees may believe that GameSense is for patrons who have developed gambling problems, especially given their training often includes identifying and responding to patrons displaying behaviors indicative of risk for problem gambling (Beckett et al., 2020; O'Mahoney & Ohtsuka, 2015; Quilty et al., 2015). For programs like GameSense to be effective, it is important that casino employees understand the purpose of the program and have a broader understanding of not only GameSense services, but the responsibilities of GSAs (Gray et al., 2020).

Indeed, employees play an essential role in encouraging RG beliefs and behaviors, including referring them to essential RG resources such as GameSense (see Delfabbro et al., 2007; Quilty et al., 2015; Song et al., 2012). Specifically, player-facing employees possess a unique advantage in building trust and engagement with players through regular interactions. This trust allows for meaningful conversations about responsible and problematic gambling (see Hing & Nuske, 2012; Riley et al., 2018). Furthermore, player-facing employees are trained to identify early signs of potential gambling-related issues, enabling timely intervention and personalized assistance. By understanding each player's individual situation, they can make relevant referrals to RG programs like GameSense, tailoring the support to address specific needs. As educators and advocates, they also play a critical role in raising awareness about RG and its benefits.

#### 2. Overview of Current Research

In the current research, we examined the proportion of player-facing employees who have engaged with GameSense and employees' reasons for visiting and for not visiting a GSIC. Importantly, we also examined whether employees differed in their reasons for visiting a GSIC or not visiting a GSIC, allowing for a nuanced understanding about whether they refer patrons. These segmentations may help facilitate targeted interventions, addressing specific motivations and barriers to visiting a GSIC, and inform the development of tailored training programs to enhance employee engagement and promote RG programming. We also assessed perceptions of the program and the RG materials and tools provided that aim to reduce gambling-related harms.

Lastly, we assessed the extent to which player-facing employees who engage with GameSense (by way of visiting a GSIC and speaking to a GSA about RG) refer patrons to GameSense. It is important to examine whether employees have interacted with a GSA about RG

in relation to referrals to GameSense because GSAs are the communicators of RG programming at the casino, and GSAs are not restricted to the GSIC, but frequently roam the casino to speak to patrons and employees. Thus, it is possible that an employee may visit a GSIC but not engage with a GSA or any RG material, or that an employee may engage with the GameSense program by way of an interaction with a GSA outside of the GSIC.

This research was conducted with player-facing casino employees at the three casinos in Massachusetts. In Massachusetts, each licensed casino operator has allocated on-site space for a GSIC, which is staffed by GSAs. Casino employees at each casino are provided with approximately 30 minutes of RG training during their new employee orientation but are not required to engage with GameSense (e.g., speak to a GSA directly about RG or visit a GSIC) following this short training session.

Data and materials reported in the study are available on the Open Science Framework: <u>https://osf.io/kpyqd/?view\_only=af2cb96abda84cea9f68a04f131d9747</u>. The current research was approved by the Carleton University Research Ethics Board (#117682).

#### 3. Methods & Results

#### 3.1 Method and Results Structure

The following section outlines the method and results structure used in this report. The analysis proceeded in two main stages: Sample Characteristics and GameSense Evaluation. In the first stage, we present descriptive information about the sample. Descriptive information included information about the age and gender composition of the sample as well as job title.

In the second stage, we evaluated knowledge about and uptake of GameSense. Specifically, we examined the proportion of player-facing employees who expressed awareness of GameSense. Among those who reported being aware of GameSense, we assessed the

perceived purpose of the program. Thereafter, we assessed the perceived target audience for Gamesense among all participants.

Next, we assessed engagement with GameSense. We did so both in terms of visits to a GSIC and interactions with a GSA. Specifically, we examined the proportion of players who reported visiting a GSIC and their reasons for doing so (or their reason for not visiting a GSIC), and the type of interactions respondents had with a GSA. Additionally, we report the results of two latent class analyses (LCAs): one that assessed reasons for visiting and the other that assessed reasons for not visiting. We did so to identify possible subgroups (called 'classes'). For instance, we examined whether the reasons why people visited a GSIC can be meaningfully clustered or grouped together. A detailed description of model selection is provided in Appendix A.

Lastly, we examined the proposition of player-facing employees who referred patrons to a GSA as well as factors that may have influenced their decision to refer (or not). For example, we assessed whether the proportion of employees who refer patrons varies as a function of whether they have visited a GSIC or not.

#### 3.2 Recruitment

To recruit respondents, an email was sent to player-facing employees (i.e., a staff member who interacts directly with casino customers; e.g., dealers, slot attendants, cashiers, hosts, security personnel) at one of the three casinos in Massachusetts. Potential respondents were told that the purpose of the study was to get their "thoughts about the GameSense brand, the GameSense Information Centers, and the GameSense Advisors" and that input was welcome even if the player had never heard about GameSense. They were offered a US\$10 Amazon.com gift card for participating in the survey. A link to the survey was provided in the body of the

email, and those who accessed the link were directed to an online consent form that provided further detail about the purpose of the study, compensation for participation, data security, and their right to withdraw. Those who consented to participate were directed to the online survey (see Appendix B for the survey).

The study was launched on October 24, 2022 and closed on November 26, 2022.

### **3.3 Sample Characteristics**

A total of 327 employees from across the three casinos in Massachusetts responded to our invitation to participate. Of these, five respondents did not consent to the study and four respondents consented to participate but did not respond to any of the survey items. We also removed 27 respondents who were not customer-facing employees and five respondents who did not provide their job title or the time they had worked at the casino. Additionally, six respondents were identified as duplicates. Because there was no manipulation involved, we kept the most completed entry (instead of keeping the first entry) and the other entry was removed. Thus, our analyses were based on a sample of 280 individuals ( $M_{age} = 39.5$ , SD = 12.24). Demographic and job title information are provided in Table 1.

## Table 1

	п	%
Age		
21-24	15	5.4
25-34	71	25.4
35-44	65	23.2
45-54	38	13.6
55-64	24	8.6
65+	9	3.2
Did not indicate	58	20.7
Gender		
Man	120	42.8
Woman	96	34.2
Other	9	3.2
Did not indicate	5	1.8
Job title		
Dealer	85	39
Manager	60	22.6
Customer Services	40	14.3
Security	18	6.4
Environmental Services	6	2.1
Marketing	5	1.86
Other	4	1.4
Time worked at the casino <sup>1</sup>	38.7 (31.36)	

*Note*. <sup>1</sup>Mean time worked in months provided.

## 3.4 Possible Correlates of Awareness and Engagement with GameSense

The following variables were included to assess whether they were associated with player-facing employees' awareness and perceptions of GameSense, as well as their engagement with the program (i.e., why employees engaged with GameSense or not) and whether they referred players to the program.

3.4.1 *Perceptions about Positive Play.* The Positive Play Scale (PPS; Wood et al., 2017)

assesses the extent which players hold two RG beliefs: Gambling Literacy (i.e., the extent to

which a player has an accurate understanding about the nature of gambling) and Personal

Responsibility (i.e., the extent to which a player believes they should take ownership of their gaming behaviour). It also assesses two RG behaviors: Honesty & Control (i.e., the extent to which players are honest with others about their gaming behavior and feel in control of their behavior) and Pre-Commitment (i.e., the extent to which a player considers how much money and time they should spend gambling). In the current study, we used a modified version of the PPS to assess perceptions about the extent to which employees believe players should hold such beliefs and engage in such behaviors. We call this the Perceptions about Positive Play Scale (P-PPS).

#### 4. Assessment of GameSense

In this section, we report the extent to which respondents reported awareness of GameSense and the perceived purpose of GameSense among those who were aware. After describing GameSense to all players, they were then asked to report who they think the target audience is for GameSense. We then assessed engagement with GameSense in terms of visits to a GSIC and interactions with a GSA. Lastly, we assessed the likelihood of referring players to GameSense (to either a GSIC or a GSA).

#### 4.1 GameSense Awareness

To assess awareness of GameSense, respondents were first asked whether they had heard about the program. Almost all employees (96.1%; n = 269) indicated they had heard of GameSense, 10 (3.6%) indicated that they have not, and one (0.4%) did not provide a response.

Employees who were familiar with GameSense were asked where they heard about the program. They were provided eleven possible places they may have heard about the program (plus an 'other' category) with a "yes" or "no" response option on each possibility (see Table 2 for a full list and percent endorsement). The most endorsed response (84.0%; n = 216) was

learning about GameSense during employee training. The second most endorsed means of becoming informed about the program (74.3%) was from a GSA. Notably, a large proportion of employees were informed about the program from managers (71.6%) or another employee (69.6%). Most of those who indicated 'other' indicated they became aware of GameSense at work, either around the casino, on the website, or during orientation.

## Table 2

Sources:	% agreement
Training	84.0
A GameSense Advisor	74.3
Manager	71.6
Other employees	69.6
Players	42.4
Print advertisements	30.0
MassGaming.com	26.0
Friends	24.1
Social Media	21.4
Radio advertisements	11.0
TV advertisements	8.6
Other	2.3

Where Respondents Heard About GameSense

*Note.* N = 257 who responded to at least one item. Percentages add to more than 100% because respondents could list more than one reasons.

*4.1.1 Perceived Purpose of GameSense.* For those (n = 269) who indicated awareness of GameSense, we asked what they believed to be the purpose of GameSense. They were provided eight response options (see Table 3). Six of the options reflected the true purpose(s) of GameSense and one reflected an incorrect purpose: "It offers a place where players can bet on sports". Also included was an item that asked whether "It offers a place where players can relax away from the gaming floor". Although initially included as an incorrect purpose, following data

collection it was decided that players may be using GSICs to take a break from the gaming floor (a known RG strategy). Because it was not known whether players were using it in such a manner, we ultimately decided this item as neither correct nor incorrect. Respondents were asked to indicate whether each statement was a purpose of GameSense (yes or no). We scored these responses as +1 for a correct response, -1 for an incorrect response, and 0 if the response was neither right nor wrong.

Results showed that most respondents correctly checked that GameSense helped educate players about RG (92.6%), provided RG tools (i.e., PlayMyWay; 84.4%), offered supports for those who develop gambling related problems (89.6%), and that GameSense helped facilitate voluntary self-exclusion (87.7%). A lower proportion of respondents (59.1%) knew that GameSense helps players understand how games work or helps dispel gambling-related myths (66.0%). A very low proportion (6.7%) incorrectly endorsed the item about GameSense being a place where players can bet on sports. However, a relatively large proposition of employees endorsed that GameSense was a place where players can relax away from the gaming floor (27.1%).

## Table 3

## Purposes of GameSense

Purposes:	% agreement
It's a program that educates players about how to gamble responsibly	92.6
It offers a place where players can find where to get support if they believe their gaming has become problematic	89.6
It's a program that allows players to voluntarily exclude themselves from the gaming floor at all casinos in Massachusetts	87.7
It's a program that includes PlayMyWay	84.4
It's a program that helps dispel gaming-related myths	66.0
It's a program that teaches players how games work	59.1
It offers a place where players can relax away from the gaming floor (i.e., a lounge)	27.1
It offers a place where players can bet on sports*	6.7

*Note.* N = 269. \* indicates incorrect purpose.

## 4.2 Perceived Target Audience for GameSense

All respondents read the following brief description of the program:

GameSense is a comprehensive responsible gaming strategy. GameSense Advisors work at a GameSense Info Center located at MGM Springfield/Encore Boston Harbor/Plainridge Park Casino. GameSense Advisors receive extensive training in the areas of responsible gaming techniques, problem gaming behavior and local resources for help. Many GameSense Advisors come to the position with professional gaming experience which is useful in understanding patrons' needs.

They were then asked to respond to five items that assessed the perceived target audience for

GameSense. These items, together with their means (on a 7-point Likert scale where 1 =

"strongly disagree" and 7 = "strongly agree") and the percentage agreeing (i.e., > than the

"neutral" midpoint) are provided in Table 4.

#### Table 4

Perceived	' Target Aud	lience for	GameSense

Sources:	M(SD)	% agreement	
People who have trouble controlling their gaming.	5.76 (1.74)	83.7	
People who gamble on a regular basis.	5.37 (1.60)	74.8	
All people who gamble.	5.04 (1.82)	67.3	
People who gamble occasionally.	4.38 (1.69)	50.0	

*Note. Ns* range from 250 to 257. Means are on a 7-point scale where 1 = "strongly disagree" and 7 = "strongly agreeing". Percent agreement was based on responses of 5 or higher on the scale.

The purpose of GameSense is to help the full spectrum of players. Although most employees (83.7%) correctly agreed that GameSense helps people who are having trouble controlling their gambling, only half of all employees agreed that GameSense helps people who gamble occasionally (50%) and only approximately two-thirds correctly agreed that GameSense is for all people who gamble (67.3%).

#### 4.3 Engagement with GameSense

We assessed engagement with GameSense in two ways. The first way was in terms of whether employees visited a GSIC. The second way was in terms of interactions with a GSA at either a GSIC or on the gaming floor. Of the 280 employees, 165 (58.9%) noted that they had visited a GSIC, 91 indicated that they had not visited a GSIC (32.5%), and 24 (8.6%) did not provide a response to this query.

**4.3.1 Reasons for Visiting.** Respondents who indicated they visited a GSIC were asked to indicate the reasons why they visited from a list of ten possible reasons (plus an 'other' option) with a "yes" or "no" response option on each possibility (see Table 5 for a full list and percent endorsement). Of the 165 respondents who indicated they had visited, 5 indicated "no" to all reasons; thus, a total of 160 respondents provided at least one response.

The most frequently endorsed reason for player-facing employees to visit a GSIC was to become better informed to pass RG information to players (71.3%). Least often endorsed reason for visiting was to learn about how games work (29.4%) or because employees stumbled across the GSIC and were curious (31.2%).

#### Table 5

Reasons for	Visiting a GSIC	
0	0	

Reasons:	% agreement
To be better informed should I need to pass information to players.	71.3
players.	
I heard about the Info Center and was curious.	54.4
To learn about supports for problem gaming.	51.9
To learn about voluntary self-exclusion.	50.0
To learn more about responsible gaming	49.4
To learn about gaming-related myths.	42.5
To get swag (e.g., a lanyard).	36.3
To learn about and enroll in PlayMyWay	34.4
I stumbled upon one and was curious.	31.2
To learn more about how games work.	29.4
Other	12.5

*Note.* N = 160 who provided at least one reason. Percentage adds to more than 100 because respondents could endorse more than one reason.

To determine whether there were distinct groups of employees who visited GSICs for different sets of reasons, we conducted a LCA. The LCA looks for common response patterns in a sample. Of the 165 employees who indicated that they visited a GSIC, we excluded five from the LCA because they did not provide a response to any of the provided reasons for visiting a Center. Thus, we included the data of 160 employees in the LCA. We determined three distinct groups could be identified (see Appendix A for details). Group 1 (n = 57) included employees who endorsed all the reasons to visit the GSIC. We labelled this group "Comprehensive

Interests". Group 2 (n = 50) was similar to Group 1 except that members of Group 2 were less likely than those in Group 1 to endorse that they visited a GSIC for non-RG reasons such as curiosity, to learn how games work, and to get swag. We labelled employees in this group as having "RG Interests". Those in Group 3 (n=53) were less likely to indicate they visited a GSIC for all of the provided reasons compared to those in Groups 1 and 2. The most endorsed reason for visiting a GSIC among employees in Group 3 was "To be better informed should I need to pass information to players". Thus, we labelled employees in Group 3 as having "Focused Interests".

See Table 6 for the full list of reasons why employees visited and the extent to which members of each group endorse various reasons for visiting a GSIC. Figure 1 provides a graphic description of these proportions. Specifically, the distance from the origin (middle) of the graph indicates the proportion of the respondents in that group that endorsed each specific reason as to why they have visited the GSIC.

#### Table 6

Reason	Comprehensive	RG Interests	Focused Interests
	Interests $(n = 57)$	(n = 50)	(n = 53)
To be better informed should I need to pass			
information to players	1.00	.92	.64
To learn about supports for problem gaming	1.00	.95	.18
To learn about voluntary self-exclusion	1.00	.91	.19
To learn more about responsible gaming	1.00	.82	.16
To learn about gaming-related myths	1.00	.78	.10
To learn more about how games work	1.00	.25	.06
I stumbled upon one and was curious	.99	.11	.37
I heard about the Info Center and was curious	.91	.73	.47
To get swag (e.g., a lanyard)	.82	.26	.43
To learn about and enroll in PlayMyWay	.77	.56	.10
Note DC - Decreasible Combline			

Proportion Who Affirmed Each Reason for Visiting a GSIC by Group

*Note*. RG = Responsible Gambling.

#### Figure 1

Results of the LCA Examining Reasons for Visiting a GSIC with Three Groups



To better understand the three groups, we examined whether they differed in terms of demographic variables (gender and age) and their score on the P-PPS. A series of ANOVA tests were conducted to assess whether there were differences in perceived positive play between the three groups of employees who visited a GSIC identified by way of the LCA. There was not a statistically significant main effect of group on gambling literacy, F(2, 144) = 1.29, p = .28, honesty and control, F(2, 143) = 0.81, p = .45, or pre-commitment, F(2, 142) = 1.69, p = .19. However, there was a statistically significant group membership effect on personal

responsibility, F(2, 145) = 5.77, p = .004. Least square difference tests (LSD) revealed that those who were Focused Interests believed in personal responsibility less than those who were Comprehensive Interests (p = .01) and those who were RG Interests (p = .002). There was no significant difference between those who fell under the Comprehensive Interests and RG Interests groups (p = .45). Means and standard deviations of personal responsibility across three groups are in Table 7.

#### Table 7

Means and Standard Deviations (SD) of P-PPS Subscales and Age Across Three Groups of

Empl	loyees	who	Visited	a	GSIC
------	--------	-----	---------	---	------

	Foc	ocused Interests Comprehensive Interests		RG Interests		
	п	M (SD)	п	M (SD)	п	M (SD)
Personal responsibilities	53	5.57 <sub>a</sub> (0.93)	49	$5.99_{b}(0.90)$	46	6.13 <sub>b</sub> (0.73)
Gambling literacy	52	5.74 (1.35)	49	5.37 (1.58)	46	5.80 (1.43)
Honesty and control	51	6.32 (0.15)	49	6.29 (0.16)	46	6.53 (0.11)
Pre- commitment	51	6.37 (1.14)	48	6.66 (0.79)	46	6.65 (0.60)
Age	53	37.04 (10.98)	47	40.34 (14.76)	44	44 (12.15)

*Note.* Means with different subscripts are different at p < .05.

To examine the relations between group membership and employees' gender, we conducted a chi-square test. Results indicated that there was no association,  $c^2(2) = 5.19$ , p = .08.

**4.3.2** *Reasons for not Visiting.* Employees who reported they had not yet visited a GSIC were asked to indicate their reasons for not visiting one. Seven possible reasons were provided (and an 'other' option) with a "yes" or "no" response option on each possibility (see Table 8 for a full list, percent endorsement, and the number of respondents who endorsed a particular reason). Of the 91 respondents who reported they had yet to visit a GSIC, ten did not endorse any

reason. Thus, the data of 81 respondents were examined. The most frequently endorsed reasons for not visiting a GSIC was that no one had asked them to do so (59.3%) and already knowing how games work (59.3). A very low proportion of employees who had yet to visit a GSIC endorsed the reason that GSAs do not help players (4.9%) or that a GSIC should not be at the casino (4.9%).

#### Table 8

Reasons:	% agreement
No one has asked me to check GameSense out.	59.3
I already know how games work.	59.3
I already know about PlayMyWay	58
I already know about gaming-related myths.	56.8
I don't think a GameSense Advisor would be able to teach me anything.	17.3
I don't think GameSense Advisors help players.	4.9
I don't agree with the presence of a GameSense Info Center at the casino.	4.9
Other	6.2

Reasons for Not Visiting a GSIC

*Note.* N = 81 who provided at least 1 reason; Percent agreement adds to more than 100 because respondents could endorse more than one reason.

We then conducted a LCA to examine whether there were subgroups of employees who differed in terms of the reasons for not visiting GSICs (see Table 9 and Figure 2). Two groups emerged from our analysis. Group 1 (n = 53) comprised employees who largely endorsed the following reasons "I already know how games work," "I already know about gaming-related myths," and "I already know about PlayMyWay – a budgeting tool that allows a player to set a money limit and track their play." We labelled members of this class as having "RG Proficiency Beliefs." Group 2 (n = 32) endorsed the same reasons for not visiting a GSIC, but to a much

lesser extent than those in Group 1. We labelled members of this class as having "Tempered RG

Proficiency Beliefs."

## Table 9

Proportion Who Affirmed Each Reason for Not Visiting a GSIC by Group

Reason	RG Proficiency	Tempered RG
	Beliefs $(n = 53)$	Proficiency
		Beliefs $(n = 32)$
No one asked me to check GameSense out	.70	.55
I already know how games work	.89	.34
I already know about gaming-related myths	1	.20
I already know about PlayMyWay	.84	.38
I don't think a GameSense Advisor would be		
able to teach me anything	.37	.00
I don't think GameSense Advisors help players	.05	.06
I don't agree with the presence of a		
GameSense Info Center at the casino	.08	.03

#### Figure 2





To examine whether group membership is related to participants' gender, age, and scores on the four subscales of P-PPS, we ran a series of *t*-tests. There was no statistically significant effect of group membership on age, t(72) = 0.44, p = .67, Personal Responsibility, t(75) = 0.77, p = .44, gambling literacy, t(75) = 1.69, p = .10, and Honesty and Control, t(75) = 1.73, p = .09. However, there was a significant effect of group membership on Pre-Commitment such that employees who had Tempered RG Proficiency Beliefs were more likely to endorse the belief that players should set limits to their gambling behavior than employees who had RG Proficiency Beliefs, t(75) = 2.05, p = .04. See Table 10 for group means and standard deviations. Moreover, we conducted a chi-square test to examine the relationship between gender and group membership. There was no significant relationship between gender and group membership,  $c^{2}(1)$ 

= .04, p = .85, phi = -.02, N = 66 (for group means and standard deviations see Table 11).

## Table 10

Means and Standard Deviations (SD) of P-PPS Subscales and Age Across Two Groups of Patrons who Have not Visited a GSIC

	Tempered RG Proficiency		RG Proficiency Beliefs	
		Beliefs		
_	n	M(SD)	п	M(SD)
	30	5.88 (0.98)	47	5.68 (1.13)
Personal				
Responsibility				
Gambling	30	6.02 (1.18)	47	5.52 (1.34)
Literacy				
Honesty and	30	6.54 (0.77)	47	6.14 (1.11)
Control		× ,		· · · ·
Pre-	30	$6.66^*(0.67)$	47	6.16 (1.22)
Commitment		( )		
Age	29	37.45 (11.14)	45	36.27 (11.59)

*Note*. Means with asterisk (\*) are significantly different at p < .05.

#### Table 11

Gender Frequency Across Two Groups of Patrons who Have not Visited a GSIC

	Tempered RG Proficiency Beliefs	RG Proficiency Beliefs
Male	15	24
Female	11	16

4.3.4 Comparison Between Those who Visited and Those who did not Visit. Next, we

examined whether employees who visited a GSIC and those who did not differed in terms of the perceived purpose of GameSense. Recall, we provided eight items that assessed the perceived purpose of GameSense. These items, listed in Table 3, included six correct purposes, one incorrect purpose, and one purpose that is neither right nor wrong. Respondents were asked to

indicate whether each item was a purpose of GameSense (yes or no). We scored these responses as +1 for a correct response, -1 for an incorrect response, and 0 if they answered neither right nor wrong.

Those who had visited a GSIC (M = 5.35, SD = 1.94) were more correct in terms of the purpose of GameSense than those who had not visited a GSIC (M = 4.77, SD = 2.06), t(245) = 2.18, p = .03, d = .29, 95% CI [0.28, .560].

## 4.4 Interactions with a GSA

All 288 respondents were asked whether they had ever interacted with a GSA. A total of 198 (68.8%) indicated they had interacted with a GSA, 59 (20.5%) indicated that they had not interacted with a GSA, and 31 (10.8%) did not provide a response to this query.

They were also asked to rate the extent to which their interaction(s) made them feel more informed about how to gamble responsibly, more informed about how games worked, and made them feel that the casino cares about its patrons. Lastly, they were also asked whether they would encourage customers to speak with a GSA or visit a GSIC. Response options were anchored at 1 (*strongly disagree*) and 7 (*strongly agree*). Responses are summarized in Table 12.

## Table 12

Due to my experience(s) with a GameSense Advisor:	M (SD)	% agreement
I would encourage others to speak with a GSA.	5.82 (1.12)	87.0
I feel more informed about responsible gaming.	5.85(1.23)	85.6
I would encourage others to visit a GSIC.	5.83 (1.16)	84.9
I feel that the casino cares about its customers.	5.70 (1.33)	79.9
I feel more informed about how gaming games work.	5.40 (1.39)	68.3

Rating Experience of Interacting with GSAs

*Note. Ns* ranged from 183-188 of 198 who had interacted with a GSA. Means are on a 7-point scale where 1 = "strongly disagree" and 7 = "strongly agree". Percent agreement was based on responds of 5 or higher on the scale.

#### 4.4.1 Comparison Between LCA groups for Those who Visited a GSIC. We examined

whether there was a difference in interactions with a GSA between employees in the Comprehensive Interests, RG Interests, and Focused Interests groups. The difference between the three groups was not statistically significant,  $c^2(2) = 2.23$ , p = .33. Specifically, most employees with Comprehensive Interests (87.7%), RG Interests (94%), and Focused Interests (84.9%) have interacted with a GSA.

## 4.4.2 Comparison Between LCA Groups for Those who did not Visit a GSIC. We

examined whether there was a difference in interactions with a GSA between employees in the RG Proficiency Beliefs and Tempered RG Proficiency Beliefs groups. The difference between the two classes was not statistically significant,  $c^2(1) = .06$ , p = .80. Specifically, only half of

employees who had RG Proficiency Beliefs (52.8%) or had Tempered RG Proficiency Beliefs (50.0%) reported they interacted with a GSA.

#### 4.5 Referral to a GSA

One of the objectives of the current study was to assesses factors influencing playerfacing employees' decisions to direct patrons towards GameSense. In this section, among other things, we examine the expressed reasons why some player-facing employees refer patrons whilst other do not. Ultimately, the aim is to gain insights into how to promote and improve employee engagement with the GameSense program.

*4.5.1. Reasons for Referring.* Results showed that 70.9% (n = 100) of player-facing casino employees who both visited a GSIC and interacted with a GSA (n =141) recommended a player to GameSense. Because employees do not need to visit a Center to have a conversation about RG with a GSA, we also assessed the extent to which player-facing employees who reported they spoke to a GSA about RG (n = 187) referred patrons to GameSense. Results showed that 64.2% (n = 120) of such employees indicated that they recommended GameSense to a player. These employees were asked their reasons for doing so. They were provided with seven possible reasons for referring a patron. Responses were anchored at 1 *(never)* and 5 *(almost always/always)*. See Table 13 for a full list of items, mean endorsement of each possible reason, and percent agreeing based on number of employees who note have referred a patron for that particular reason (i.e., 2 or higher on the scale). Employees most often referred patrons to a GSA so they could either learn about voluntary self-exclusion (75.9%) or self-exclude (70.8), or because they believed the patron had a potential gambling problem (69%). Least often, employees referred players to a GSA so they could get swag (45.1%).

## Table 13

Reasons for Referring Players to a GSA

When you recommended a customer speak to a GSA, how often was	M(SD)	% agreement
it for the following reason(s):		
So they could learn about voluntary self-exclusion.	3.30 (1.27)	75.9
So they could voluntarily self-exclude.	3.12 (1.32)	70.8
I thought they had a gaming problem.	3.15 (1.30)	69.0
So they could learn about and/or enroll in PlayMyWay.	2.93 (1.27)	67.5
To have them learn about gaming-related myths.	2.73 (1.28)	62.0
To have them learn how to play a game.	2.53 (1.38)	49.1
So they could get swag (i.e., a lanyard).	2.27 (1.26)	45.1

*Note. Ns* range from 112-116. Means are on a 5-point scale where 1 = "never" and 5 = "almost always/always". Percent agreement was based on responds of 2 or higher on the scale.

We also compared the proportion who had referred among those who visited a GSIC and spoke to a GSA with those who had not visited or spoke to a GSA (outside of a GSIC). Those who indicated that they had visited a GSIC and spoke to a GSA were 1.62 times more likely to refer a player to GameSense than those who had not visited a GSIC or spoke to a GSA (i.e., relative risk ratio; 70.9% vs. 43.5%,  $c^2(1) = 11.36$ , p < .001), which is a small-to-moderate effect.

We also found a statistically significant association between the three LCA classes and whether the employee referred a player to GameSense,  $c^2(2) = 14.14 \ p < .001$ . As indicated in Table 5, 87.0% of those in the Comprehensive Interests class referred a player to GameSense compared to 72.3% of those in the RG Interests class. Only 51.1% of those in the Focused Interests class had referred a player to a GSA. The difference in proportions between the first two classes was not statistically significant, p = .08, but both classes differed significantly from the third class, ps < .05.
*4.5.2 Reasons for not Referring.* Next, we asked the 68 employees who did not refer patrons to a GSA why they had not done so. The eight possible reasons were provided (plus an 'other' option), which are listed in Table 14. Response options were anchored at 1 *(strongly disagree)* to 7 *(strongly agree)*. The most frequently endorsed items were that they never saw a need to do so (65.7%), that employees did not feel comfortable recommending a patron to a GSA (37.3%), and that patrons can become aggressive when employees recommend that they speak to a GSA (35.4%). All other means were at or below the mid-point of the scale with less than 50% endorsement. The least frequently endorsed items related to the belief that GSAs do not help players (3%) and that GSAs are not helpful in general (3.1%).

## Table 14

Reasons for not Referring Players to a GSA

Why haven't you ever recommended a	M (SD)	% agreement
customer speak with a GSA?		-
There has never been a need.	5.22 (1.55)	65.7
I don't feel comfortable suggesting that to players.	3.79 (1.68)	37.3
Players can be aggressive to staff when they recommend speaking with a GSA.	4.00 (1.60)	35.4
Players are often too 'zoned out' or engrossed in their play to approach them about GameSense.	4.28 (1.41)	35.4
It's not my place to do so.	3.36 (1.76)	26.9
Players don't respond when you try to engage with them about speaking to a GSA.	3.89 (1.12)	23.1
I don't believe that GameSense helps players	1.97 (1.18)	3
GSAs aren't helpful.	2.00 (1.12)	3.1
Other (please specify).	3.75 (1.03)	4.2

*Note. Ns* range from 24-67. Means are on a 7-point scale where 1 = "strongly disagree" and 7 = "strongly agree". Percent agreement was based on responds of 5 or higher on the scale.

#### 5. Discussion

In the current research, we assessed awareness and perceptions of GameSense as well as possible interactions with a GSA among player-facing casino employees at the three casinos currently in operation in the State of Massachusetts. Assessing awareness and perceptions of GameSense, as well as possible interactions with a GSA, among player-facing casino employees serves several important purposes. Firstly, understanding employees' awareness of GameSense allows for the tailoring of training programs, ensuring employees are well-informed about responsible gambling measures and can provide accurate information to patrons. This, in turn, may enhance the overall patron experience given that patrons' perceptions about the extent to which a casino is committed to RG is positively associated with patron satisfaction as well as willingness to use RG tools (see Abarbanel, Cain, & Philander, 2018; Hollingshead & Wohl, in press). Moreover, player-facing casino employees are often the initial point of contact for customers, making assessments of their interactions with GSAs crucial (see Luo et al., 2017; Wohl et al., 2013). By evaluating these interactions, the casino can gauge the effectiveness of employee engagement in conveying RG options such as self-awareness, limit-setting, and identifying potential gambling issues.

Furthermore, assessing employees' perceptions of GameSense contributes to identifying communication gaps and refining strategies to effectively convey RG messages. The feedback loop created through this assessment process is invaluable, as it provides insights into program effectiveness, customer reactions, and potential implementation challenges from those directly involved. Additionally, understanding how employees perceive GameSense sheds light on the program's integration within the casino's culture. Positive perceptions align RG initiatives with the casino's values, while negative perceptions indicate a need for cultural adjustments.

#### 5.1 Awareness and Perceptions of GameSense

We found that nearly all respondent expressed awareness of the GameSense program. Awareness appeared to be a product of new employee training sessions. Additionally, a large proportion of employees also noted hearing about the program from GSAs, managers, and/or other employees. Thus, employees hear about the GameSense program from many sources at the casino. Importantly, those who were aware of GameSense expressed a correct understanding about its purpose. Specifically, they believed that the purpose of GameSense is to educate players about RG, provide access to PlayMyWay (i.e., a budgeting tool) or facilitate access to voluntary self-exclusion, and provide support to those who feel their gambling has become problematic. This is in line with research by Abarbanel and colleagues (2019), who found that player-facing employees (compared to those in other areas of the casino) are more knowledgeable about the purpose of RG programs. However, this study did not examine differences in awareness between player-facing employees and back of house employees, making any such explanation in the current research speculative.

Interestingly, almost one-third of player-facing casino employees believed that the GSIC is a lounge (i.e., a place where players can relax away from the gaming floor). Although this perception may not directly align with the stated purposes of GSICs, it raises an intriguing opportunity for the RG landscape. The concept of a designated "Play Break" section within GSICs could serve as an effective way to integrate RG strategies and increase employee engagement with GameSense. Specifically, such an innovative addition to GSICs could lead to meaningful RG-oriented interactions between an employee and a GSA. Moreover, by providing a larger footprint on the gaming floor to accommodate such an area, it would demonstrate the casino's commitment to RG initiatives.

Moreover, whilst most player-facing employees correctly believed that GameSense is for people who have trouble controlling their gambling, approximately two-thirds of respondents correctly believed GameSense is for all people who gamble. These results are in line with research by Gray and colleagues (2021), who showed that although employees are aware that the purpose of GameSense is to assist patrons with gambling problems, they have a narrow view of other aspects of the program as well as the role of GSAs. Specifically, employees focus on GameSense as an intervention-based program and dismiss (or fail to understand) that GameSense provides resources, information, and assistance to casual and regular gamblers, emphasizing the importance of setting limits, managing time and money spent on gambling, and understanding the odds of various games to promote RG.

The training of new employees often focuses on identifying and responding to patrons displaying behaviors indicative of risk for problem gambling (Beckett et al., 2020; O'Mahoney & Ohtsuka, 2015; Quilty et al., 2015). Highlighting the program's broader role in promoting RG practices can help to improve employees' understanding of the program and address misconceptions, which may lead to a more inclusive understanding of GameSense's target audience. Indeed, ultimately, these results suggest a potential gap in the communication and training processes related to GameSense within the casino. That is, there may be a disconnect between the intended purpose of the GSIC and how it is being perceived by employees. This misinterpretation could lead to confusion among patrons who visit a GSIC seeking a relaxation area, only to find RG materials instead. Moreover, this misunderstanding may hinder the effectiveness of GameSense to achieve its primary objective of promoting RG. If employees themselves are not clear about the GSIC's role, their ability to guide and educate customers about RG practices could be compromised. This could inadvertently undermine efforts to foster a

safe and RG environment for its patrons. To address this issue, there's a need for targeted interventions, including improved training and communication strategies for employees. Enhancing the clarity of information provided about the purpose of GameSense and what is offered at GSICs.

#### 5.2 Engagement with GameSense

Contrary to prior work that showed a minority of casino employees (33%) engaged with the program (see Gray et al. 2020), most employees in the current research visited a GSIC and/or interacted with a GSA. One reason for this difference is that we recruited only player-facing casino staff, whereas previous research also recruited employees who had few opportunities to interact with patrons. Those who do not occupy jobs where they have contract with patrons may not see the need to visit a GSIC or interact with a GSA. Moreover, those who do not work on the gaming floor may have less opportunity to visit or have interactions. However, another (perhaps more probable) reason is that all new employees who work at casinos in Massachusetts are mandated to attend staff training where GameSense is discussed. Thus, it is unsurprising that almost all employees expressed awareness of GameSense. In contrast, not all new casino employees interact with a GSA during new staff training and/or go to a GSIC.

That not all player-facing casino employees have engaged with GameSense, despite being aware of its existence, holds important implications for the effective implementation of RG initiatives. Firstly, limited engagement by employees may result in missed opportunities to fully understand and communicate the benefits of GameSense to casino patrons. Employees who haven't interacted with GameSense may lack firsthand experience of its resources and thus may not be able to convey its value to patrons, potentially weakening the impact of the RG program.

This discrepancy could also hinder the casino's ability to create a cohesive and consistent responsible gambling environment. Inconsistencies in employee knowledge and engagement may lead to confusion among patrons seeking information about RG practices. Furthermore, if employees haven't experienced the benefits of GameSense themselves, they may not fully appreciate its role in promoting patron well-being, which can inadvertently affect the overall culture of RG within the casino.

To address these challenges, the casino management could consider a multi-faceted approach. Firstly, enhancing internal communication strategies to emphasize the significance of engaging with GameSense could encourage employees to take advantage of its resources. Providing incentives or recognition for employee involvement could also motivate staff members to interact with GameSense and better understand its offerings. Offering convenient access to GameSense resources and GSAs, such as on-site workshops, can facilitate easier employee engagement. Moreover, integrating GameSense experiences into employee training programs can ensure that all staff members are familiar with its resources and benefits. This would help align the entire player-facing team's understanding of RG practices, resulting in more consistent messaging to customers.

Importantly, the results of the current study can be leveraged to facilitate player-facing employees' engagement with RG initiatives within the casino setting. Firstly, the finding that employees' perceived need to convey accurate RG messages to players is a motivating factor for their engagement suggests a potential avenue for enhancing the effectiveness of these initiatives. By emphasizing the direct impact of their interactions on players' understanding of RG, the casino can capitalize on employees' intrinsic motivation to provide accurate information and promote safer gambling behaviors. Additionally, the fact that a considerable number of

employees visited a GSIC with the intention of being better informed to relay RG information to players reinforces the importance of this resource. This underscores the role of GSIC as a hub for gathering essential knowledge that employees can then pass on to players, creating a multiplier effect for RG messaging throughout the casino environment.

Conversely, the reasons cited for not visiting a GSIC provide valuable insights into potential barriers and opportunities for improvement. The existence of alternative sources of information (knowledge about game mechanics and gaming-related myths) and familiarity with other RG initiatives (PlayMyWay) may suggest a need for clearer differentiation between these resources and the GSIC's unique offerings. Addressing these misunderstandings and showcasing the distinct advantages of the GSIC can encourage a more holistic and comprehensive approach to RG education.

Additionally, we found three distinct groups of employees among those who visited a GSIC, which provides further insight into why some player-facing employees interacted with GameSense while others did not. Specifically, we found that there were employees who endorsed all reasons for visiting a GSIC (Comprehensive Interests), employees who were less likely to visit a GSIC for non-RG reasons, such as to get swag (RG Interests), and employees who visited a GSIC to specifically become better informed to pass information to players (Focused Interests). This finding provides important information for understanding the dynamics of player-facing employees' interactions with GameSense and how to effectively facilitate engagement. That those with Focused Interests consisted of employees who visited the GSIC to be better informed for conveying accurate information to players signifies an existing inclination among some employees to provide reliable information. The presence of such a group suggests that emphasizing the practical impact of their interactions with players (perhaps during new

employee training) and offering easily accessible information could further motivate and facilitate their engagement. Ensuring that employees perceive the GSIC as a hub for valuable knowledge to share with players aligns with their intrinsic motivation to provide accurate information. That other employees with RG Interests were focused on visiting the GSIC to specifically learn about RG, ways to assist patrons facing gambling-related harms, and communicating these insights to players, highlights the potential for specialized training and resources. These employees recognize the importance of addressing gambling-related issues and assisting affected patrons. Catering to this group's interest by offering in-depth resources, workshops, or training sessions focused on handling problem gambling situations can enhance their confidence in effectively promoting RG behaviors among casino visitors.

We conducted a LCA among those player-facing employees who has not visited a GSIC. Findings have potentially important implications for the RG efforts in Massachusetts and the potential benefits for facilitating engagement with GameSense. Specifically, two groups emerged from the data. The fact that employees in both the RG Proficiency Beliefs and the Tempered RG Proficiency Beliefs groups refrained from visiting a GSIC primarily due to their perceived existing knowledge about game mechanics, gambling myths, and familiarity with PlayMyWay signals a significant barrier to their engagement. However, this self-assessment of knowledge may not accurately reflect their true understanding of RG, as indicated by previous research by Gray et al. (2021). This underscores the necessity of offering educational opportunities that transcend employees' self-assessed expertise and address potential gaps in their understanding.

Crucially, the positive outcomes of interactions with GSAs become evident through the finding that employees who engaged meaningfully with GSAs felt more informed about RG. This effect was particularly pronounced when employees had demonstrations or exchanges with

GSAs, underscoring the value of personal interactions in enhancing employees' comprehension of RG practices. This insight underscores the role of GSAs in not only addressing potential knowledge gaps but also in fostering a culture of ongoing learning and RG promotion within the casino.

Lastly, the finding that employees who visited a GSIC exhibited a clearer understanding of GameSense's purposes compared to those who did not visit carries important implications for the effectiveness of RG initiatives within the casino environment. The observation that GSIC visitors displayed a better comprehension of the program's objectives underscores the role of GSICs as educational hubs, successfully conveying the intended message about RG to those who engage with them. This suggests that GSICs are effective in achieving their goal of educating employees about RG practices and resources.

However, the study also highlights a potential misconception among player-facing employees who believe that GameSense primarily targets individuals with gambling problems. This misunderstanding could be leading some employees to perceive that GameSense is a resource solely for helping distressed players, rather than a comprehensive initiative aimed at promoting RG practices among all players. Addressing this misconception is crucial, because it allows casinos to ensure that employees understand GameSense's broader objective of fostering informed decision-making responsible behavior, and enjoyable gambling experiences for all visitors, regardless of their gambling habits.

Accordingly, it becomes evident that while GSIC visits positively influence employees' understanding of GameSense, there is a need for targeted efforts to clarify the program's scope and purpose. Communication strategies that emphasize GameSense's role in enhancing RG practices for all players, not just those facing gambling-related issues, can rectify this potential

misconception. Ensuring that employees grasp the comprehensive nature of GameSense's objectives can lead to more effective communication with players, promoting a RG culture throughout the casino.

#### 5.3 Referring Players to GameSense

A primary aim of the current research was to shed light on the factors influencing playerfacing employees' decision to direct patrons towards GameSense, either through suggesting a visit to a GSIC or advising interaction with a GSA. Informatively, we found that a large proportion (almost two-thirds) of employees had referred patrons to a GSA. The most prevalent motivation for referring patrons was either to learn about voluntary self-exclusion or to engage in the self-exclusion process. Alternatively, employees referred patrons when they suspected signs of a gambling problem. This could indicate that employees at Massachusetts casinos are particularly attentive to identifying players exhibiting signs of distress and are more inclined to intervene in these situations. Additionally, we found that over two-thirds of employees referred patrons to a GSA to understand how games operate. Such a finding helps contextualize Abarbanel et al. (2018), who found the most common topic GSA discussed with player was about game odds. Put differently, one reason why Abarbanel et al. (2018) may have found GSAs most often speak to players about game odds is because players are being referred to them to learn about game odds.

The primary explanation for not referring patrons to a GSA centered around employees not perceiving a pressing "need" to recommend patrons to the program. What remains unclear is the employees' threshold for recognizing distress. The ambiguity lies in identifying the point at which employees consider intervention necessary and refer a player to GameSense. This threshold might differ between employees and casino operators. If the communication to

employees implies intervening only when there is a clear "need", it could inadvertently convey that GameSense is exclusively for those facing gambling-related problems. Consequently, this could contribute to the misconception that GameSense is for players with gambling problems, explaining why one of the most common reasons for referral is when players show signs of distress. To address this, shifting the focus from identifying distressed players to integrating mentions of GameSense into interactions with all players could help normalize conversations and dispel such misperceptions.

Around one-third of employees also indicated difficulties in approaching players about GameSense. They cited concerns about players reacting aggressively or ignoring them when approached. This corresponds with prior research indicating that the fear of upsetting players often deters employees from initiating conversations. Moreover, employees mentioned that players' engrossment in their games made them hesitant to discuss GameSense, fearing anger or dismissal. The hesitation to refer players also stemmed from employees feeling uncomfortable suggesting GameSense or doubting their role in intervening. Earlier studies have revealed the role ambiguity employees face in terms of referring players to RG services or intervening in gambling-related issues (e.g., Abarbanel et al., 2018; Beckett et al., 2020b; Hing & Nuske, 2012). Clarity in communicating expectations to employees and offering guidance on approaching patrons could help alleviate such uncertainty.

In summary, the current research unveils a spectrum of insights concerning employee referrals to GameSense. It underscores the need to emphasize GameSense's broader relevance to all players, reduce misperceptions, and offer support to employees in navigating sensitive interactions. This way, RG can be better integrated into the casino environment, contributing to a safer and more informed gambling experience for all patrons.

#### **5.4 Recommendations**

#### Recommendation #1: Comprehensive Specific Player-facing Employee Training.

Develop and implement comprehensive training programs for player-facing employees that go beyond basic awareness of GameSense. Provide detailed information about GameSense's objectives, resources, and its role in promoting RG for all players, not just those facing gambling problems.

**Recommendation #2: Address Misconceptions.** Design training modules specifically focused on addressing misconceptions that employees may have about GameSense. Highlight that the program is for all players, emphasizing its value in promoting informed decision-making and enhancing the overall gambling experience.

#### **Recommendation #3: Regular Communication with Player-facing Employees.**

Encourage player-facing employees to integrate mentions of GameSense into their interactions with all players. Making it a routine part of conversations can normalize discussions about RG and contribute to dispelling misperceptions.

**Recommendation #4: Guidelines for Approaching** *All* **Patrons about RG.** Provide clear guidelines on how to approach all patrons about RG in a non-intrusive manner. Offer strategies for initiating conversations and handling potentially difficult situations, addressing concerns employees may have about player reactions.

**Recommendation #5: Emphasize Value of Interactions with GSAs.** Highlight the positive impact of personal interactions with GSAs on employees' own understanding of RG. Encourage employees to engage with GSAs for continuous learning and to enhance their ability to convey accurate information to players.

**Recommendation #6: Regular Refresher Training.** Provide regular refresher training (i.e., booster) sessions to reinforce RG messages and to keep employees updated on the latest resources and information offered by GameSense.

**Recommendation #7: Promote a Supportive Environment.** Foster a supportive atmosphere where employees feel comfortable discussing RG with patrons. Communicate clear expectations and offer guidance on how to navigate challenging conversations.

**Recommendation #8: Incorporate Employee Feedback.** Establish mechanisms to gather feedback from player-facing employees regarding their experiences with GameSense and their interactions with players. Use this feedback to refine training programs and communication strategies.

**Recommendation #9: Increase the Size of GSICs to Include a "Take a Break" Sitting Area**. Expanding the footprint of GSICs to include a designated "Take a Break" sitting area aligns with the insight that nearly 30% of employees perceived GameSense as a place for relaxation away from the gaming floor. This enhancement would not only accommodate RG practices, such as taking breaks for patrons, but also provide an innovative platform for interactive engagement with players and employees.

**Recommendation #10: Measurement of Impact.** Implement a system to measure the impact of employee interactions with patrons about responsible gambling. This could include tracking referrals to GameSense, evaluating changes in player behavior, and obtaining employee feedback on the effectiveness of their interactions.

By implementing these recommendations, casinos can create a more informed and RG environment, improve employee engagement with GameSense, and enhance the overall wellbeing of their patrons.

#### **5.5 Limitations and Future Directions**

The current research presents several noteworthy limitations that warrant consideration. Firstly, the absence of longitudinal data restricts the comprehensive understanding of the underlying factors influencing employee referrals to GameSense. Longitudinal insights would provide valuable context to comprehend the dynamics that drive (or hinder) employees' decision-making in referring patrons. An extended temporal perspective could reveal shifts in motivations and behaviors over time, offering a more nuanced understanding of the complex interplay between various variables.

Secondly, it's important to acknowledge the significant presence of missing data, which could introduce biases and impact the overall sample size available for analysis. This reality could potentially skew the findings, leading to results that are disproportionately influenced by the characteristics and viewpoints of those participants who completed the survey in its entirety. The phenomenon of missing data poses challenges in reliably assessing relationships between variables, which could subsequently compromise the validity and generalizability of the study's outcomes.

To address these limitations, future research endeavors should consider strategies to mitigate the impact of missing data, potentially by refining survey length or incorporating mechanisms to encourage complete responses. In terms of participant representation, incorporating a more diverse range of casino employees, including those with limited patron interactions, would provide a more comprehensive understanding of GameSense awareness and engagement. Longitudinal studies are also recommended to illuminate the temporal evolution of employee behaviors and motivations in referring patrons to GameSense. By addressing these limitations, future research endeavors can enhance the robustness and applicability of findings,

leading to a more comprehensive understanding of the complex dynamics surrounding responsible gambling promotion within the casino environment.

### **5.6 Conclusion**

The findings from this study provide valuable insights into the factors influencing playerfacing employees' interactions with GameSense within the casino environment. The study's exploration of employee referrals to GameSense has illuminated crucial dynamics that impact RG promotion. Notably, the presence of distinct employee groups - those who visited GSICs and those who did not - revealed differing motivations and perceptions among employees. Employees who visited GSICs demonstrated a clearer understanding of GameSense's purposes, emphasizing the significance of these centers as educational hubs. However, a notable proportion of employees, despite awareness of GameSense, believed it primarily targeted players with gambling problems. This misconception highlights the need for comprehensive education to underscore that GameSense benefits all players, regardless of their gambling habits.

The research also shed light on the challenges employees face when initiating conversations about GameSense with patrons. Difficulties arose from concerns about player reactions, role ambiguity, and uncertainties in identifying distress thresholds. Aligning with previous research, fear of upsetting players often deterred employees from engaging in these discussions. This underscores the importance of fostering a supportive environment that provides employees with clear expectations and guidance for sensitive interactions.

To enhance the effectiveness of RG initiatives, casinos could capitalize on employees' intrinsic motivation to convey accurate information to players. Tailored training programs that address misconceptions and equip employees with the necessary knowledge and skills for RG conversations could bridge existing gaps. Emphasizing GameSense's comprehensive role in

enhancing RG practices for all players could counter the misconception that it solely targets distressed individuals.

Ultimately, these insights encourage a multifaceted approach. Strengthening communication, refining training modules, and encouraging employee engagement with GSAs could collectively foster a more informed and RG culture within the casino environment. By addressing misconceptions, providing support for sensitive interactions, and fostering employee engagement, casinos can make meaningful strides towards a safer and more RG experience for all patrons.

#### References

- Abarbanel, B., Gray, H. M., LaPlante, D. A., & Bernhard, B. J. (2019). Association between employee department and responsible gambling program perceptions. *International Gambling Studies*, 19(3), 471–488. doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2019.1615528
- Abarbanel, B., Kraus, S. W., Huang, Q., Gray, H. M., Louderback, E. R., LaPlante, D. A., & Bernhard, B. J. (2021). Association between employee department and responsible gambling program perceptions: Extension and follow-up study. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Insights*, 4(5), 582–600. doi.org/10.1108/JHTI-07-2020-0116
- Abarbanel, B., Soligo, M., Dassopoulos, A., Bernhard, B., Hoffman, S., & Roberts, J. (2018). *Evaluating and enhancing GameSense: A qualitative approach with employees*. Las
  Vegas: University of Nevada International Gaming Institute.
  https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1665&context=gaming\_in
  stitute
- Abarbanel, B., Xu, T., Kraus, S., Gray, H. M., Louderback, E. R., LaPlante, D., & Bernhard, B. (2022). Association between casino resort employee department and responsible gambling program perceptions: A three-year follow-up study. *International Gambling Studies*, 22(3), 390–411. doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2021.2007976
- Auer, M., Malischnig, D., & Griffiths, M. (2014). Is "pop-up" messaging in online slot machine gambling effective as a responsible gambling strategy? *Journal of Gambling Issues, 29*, 1–. doi.org/10.4309/jgi.2014.29.3
- Beckett, M., Keen, B., Angus, D. J., Pickering, D., & Blaszczynski, A. (2020a). Responsible gambling staff training in land-based venues: A systematic review. *International Gambling Studies*, 20(2), 331–367. doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2020.1737723

- Beckett, M., Keen, B., Swanton, T. B., & Blaszczynski, A. (2020b). Staff perceptions of responsible gambling training programs: Qualitative findings. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 36(1), 405–419. doi.org/10.1007/s10899-019-09874-9
- Blaszczynski, A., Collins, P., Fong, D., Ladouceur, R., Nower, L., Shaffer, H. J., Tavares, H., & Venisse, J.-L. (2011). Responsible gambling: General principles and minimal requirements. *Journal of Gambling Studies, 27*(4), 565–573.
  doi.org/10.1007/s10899-010-9214-0
- Blaszczynski, A., Ladouceur, R., & Shaffer, H. J. (2004). A science-based framework for responsible gambling: The Reno model. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 20(3), 301–317. doi.org/10.1023/B:JOGS.0000040281.49444.e2
- Christensen, D. R., Nicoll, F., Williams, R. J., Shaw, C. A., Belanger, Y. D., el-Guebaly, N., Hodgins, D. C., McGrath, D. S., Smith, G. J., & Stevens, R. M. G. (2022). Harm minimization training, knowledge, and behaviour of Canadian casino employees. *Journal* of Gambling Studies. doi.org/10.1007/s10899-022-10128-4
- Dawson, M., & Abbott, J. (2011). Hospitality culture and climate: A proposed model for retaining employees and creating competitive advantage. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Administration*, 12(4), 289–304.
  doi.org/10.1080/15256480.2011.614533
- Delfabbro, P., Borgas, M., & King, D. (2012). Venue staff knowledge of their patrons' gambling and problem gambling. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 28(2), 155–169. doi.org/10.1007/s10899-011-9252-2
- Delfabbro, P. H., Osborn, A., Nevile, M., Skelt, L., & McMillen, J. (2007). Identifying problem gamblers in gambling venues. *Gambling Research Australia*.

- Dickson-Gillespie, Rugle, L., Rosenthal, R., & Fong, T. (2008). Preventing the incidence and harm of gambling problems. *The Journal of Primary Prevention, 29*(1), 37–55. doi.org/10.1007/s10935-008-0126-z
- Dufour, J., Ladouceur, R., & Giroux, I. (2010). Training program on responsible gambling among video lottery employees. *International Gambling Studies*, 10(1), 61–79. doi.org/10.1080/14459791003743037
- Gainsbury, S. M., Jakob, L., & Aro, D. (2018). Understanding end-user perspectives to enhance perceived value uptake of harm-minimization tools: Considering gambler's views of a pre-commitment system. *International Gambling Studies*, 18(1), 22–38. doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2017.1370723
- Giroux, I., Boutin, C., Ladouceur, R., Lachance, S., & Dufour, M. (2008). Awareness training program on responsible gambling for casino employees. *International Journal of Mental Health & Addiction, 6*(4), 594–601. doi.org/10.1007/s11469-008-9165-1
- Gray, H. M., Juliver, J., & LaPlante, D. A. (2021). Gambling industry employees' experiences with an onsite responsible gambling program. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *37*(2), 369–386. doi.org/10.1007/s10899-020-09969-8
- Gray, H. M., Tom, M. A., LaPlante, D. A., & Shaffer, H. J. (2015). Using opinions and knowledge to identify natural groups of gambling employees. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 31(4), 1753–1766. doi.org/10.1007/s10899-014-9490-1
- Hing, N. (2004). The efficacy of responsible gambling measures in NSW clubs: The gambler's perspective. *Gambling Research*, *16*, 32-46.
  https://www.researchgate.net/publication/41083361\_The\_efficacy\_of\_responsible\_ga mbling\_measures\_in\_NSW\_clubs\_The\_gambler's\_perspective

- Hing, N., & Nuske, E. (2012). Responding to problem gamblers in the venue: Role conflict, role ambiguity, and challenges for hospitality staff. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism, 11*(2), 146–164. doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2012.648896
- Hollingshead, S. J. & Wohl, M. J. A. (in press). Leveraging loyalty programs for harm minimization: The lure of rewards increases willingness to use responsible gambling tools and attitudinal loyalty. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*.
- Ladouceur, R., Boutin, C., Doucet, C., Dumont, M., Provencher, M., Giroux, I., & Boucher, C.
   (2004). Awareness promotion about excessive gambling among video lottery retailers.
   *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 20(2), 181–185.

doi.org/10.1023/B:JOGS.0000022309.25027.25

- LaPlante, D. A., Gray, H. M., LaBrie, R. A., Kleschinsky, J. H., & Shaffer, H. J. (2012).
  Gaming industry employees' responses to responsible gambling training: A public health imperative. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 28(2), 171–191. doi.org/10.1007/s10899-011-9255-z
- Lee, C.-K., Song, H.-J., Lee, H.-M., Lee, S., & Bernhard, B. J. (2013). The impact of CSR on casino employees' organizational trust, job satisfaction, and customer orientation: An empirical examination of responsible gambling strategies. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*.

doiorg.proxy.library.carleton.ca/10.1016/j.ijhm.2012.10.011.

Luo, J. M., Lam, C. F., Chau, K. Y., Shen, H. W., & Wang, X. (2017). Measuring corporate social responsibility in gambling industry: Multi-items stakeholder based scales. *Sustainability*, 9(11), 2012–. doi.org/10.3390/su9112012

- Manian, W., Li, X., & Zeng, Z. (2023). Employee perceptions of responsible gambling in
   Macao: Concepts, indicators, and intervention barriers. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 39(1), 431–446. doi.org/10.1007/s10899-022-10114-w
- Mulkeen, J. J. (2013). An investigation of employee and consumer perceptions of responsible internet gambling. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Nower, L., & Blaszczynski, A. (2010). Gambling motivations, money-limiting strategies, and precommitment preferences of problem versus non-problem gamblers. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 26(3), 361–372. doi.org/10.1007/s10899-009-9170-8
- Oehler, S., Banzer, R., Gruenerbl, A., Malischnig, D., Griffiths, M. D., & Haring, C. (2017).
   Principles for developing benchmark criteria for staff training in responsible gambling.
   *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 33(1), 167–186. doi.org/10.1007/s10899-016-9617-7
- O'Mahony, B., & Ohtsuka, K. (2015). Responsible gambling: Sympathy, empathy or telepathy? *Journal of Business Research, 68*(10), 2132–2139. doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.03.012
- Ponting, S. S.-A., Ponting, J., & Spilde, K. (2016). Identifying opportunities to inform and inspire: Tribal casino employee perceptions of tribal self sufficiency and philanthropy. UNLV Gaming Research & Review Journal, 20(2), 85–.
- Prentice, C., & Wong, I. A. (2016). Embracing or fighting the urge: A multilevel investigation on casino service, branding and impulsive gambling. *International Journal of Hospitality Management, 56*, 109–118. doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2016.04.009
- Quilty, L. C., Robinson, J., & Blaszczynski, A. (2015). Responsible gambling training in Ontario casinos: Employee attitudes and experience. *International Gambling Studies*, 15(3), 361–376. doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2015.1056206

Riley, B. J., Orlowski, S., Smith, D., Baigent, M., Battersby, M., & Lawn, S. (2018).
Understanding the business versus care paradox in gambling venues: A qualitative study of the perspectives from gamblers, venue staff and counsellors. *Harm Reduction Journal*, *15*(1), 49. doi.org/10.1186/s12954-018-0256-4

- Song, H.-J., Lee, H.-M., & Lee, J.-Y. (2012). Investigating the role of responsible gambling strategy in perspective of employees. *International Journal of Tourism Sciences*, 12(2), 107–126. doi.org/10.1080/15980634.2012.11434660
- Stewart, M. J. & Wohl, M. J. A. (2013). Pop-up messages, dissociation, and craving: How monetary limit reminders facilitate adherence in a session of slot machine gambling. *Psychology of Addictive Behavior*, 27, 288-273. doi.org/10.1037/a0029882
- Wohl, M. J. A., Christie, K.-L., Matheson, K., & Anisman, H. (2010). Animation-based education as a gambling prevention tool: Correcting erroneous cognitions and reducing the frequency of exceeding limits among slots players. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 26(3), 469–486. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-009-9155-7
- Wohl, M. J. A., Sztainert, T., & Young, M. M. (2013). The CARE model: How to improve industry–government–health care provider linkages. In *The Wiley-Blackwell Handbook of Disordered Gambling* (pp. 263–282). John Wiley & Sons Ltd. doi.org/10.1002/9781118316078.ch12
- Wong, I. L. K., & Poon, M. (2014). Awareness promotion about problem gambling for casino employees: An Asian experience. Asian Journal of Gambling Issues and Public Health, 2(1), 61–67. doi.org/10.1186/BF03342126

# Appendix A: LCA

# Table A1

Fit indices for 2, 3, and 4 class models for those visited and who did not visit a GSIC

Number of groups	BIC	LMRT <i>p</i> -value	BLRT P-	Entropy	Class size < 1%
			value		
Visited a GSIC					
2	1469.79	<.001	< .001	.83	No
3	1454.06	<.001	<.001	.77	No
4	1486.81	.12	.43	.77	No
Did not Visit a GSIC					
2	544.22	.004	<.001	.72	No
3	559.86	.06	.02	.82	No
4	580.89	.37	.07	.82	No

## **Appendix B: Survey**

## **GameSense: Employee Survey**

## Present Study: GameSense Employee Survey

**\*\*\*Anonymity/Confidentiality\*\*\*** The information you provide will be kept confidential. All information gathered will be aggregated (i.e., combined) with the information collected from other participants and used only for research and knowledge translation purposes. All information collected will be stored securely on Qualtrics' servers located in Toronto, and thus not subject to the Patriot Act. The anonymized data will be stored on a password-protected computer at Carleton University where it will remain indefinitely, and not be released to anyone outside the research team. Your name will not be linked to the stored data.

**Research personnel:** The following people are involved in this study, and may be contacted at any time if you have questions or concerns:

Dr. Michael Wohl (Principal Investigator; michael.wohl@carleton.ca; 613-520-2600, ext. 2908);

Dr. Nassim Tabri (Principal Investigator; nassim.tabri@carleton.ca; 613-520-2600, ext. 1727); Dr. Chris Davis (Principal Investigator; chris.davis@carleton.ca; 613-520-2600, ext. 2251); Grace Gaudett (Other research personnel; GraceGaudett@cmail.carleton.ca); Lauren Belyea (Other research personnel; LaurenBelyea@cmail.carleton.ca).

**Concerns:** Should you have any ethical concerns about this research, please contact the Carleton University Ethics Board (ethics@carleton.ca).

**Purpose and Task Requirements**: We are asking for some input from employees about GameSense. We are interested in your thoughts about the GameSense brand, the GameSense Information Centers, and the GameSense Advisors. Even if you have never heard of any of these, we welcome your input.

**Potential Risk/Discomfort:** We anticipate no physical discomfort to you as a result of your participation in this study.

**Benefits/Compensation:**\* We are offering a \$10 Amazon.com Gift Card for completing this online survey, which should take you approximately 10 minutes. Your gift card will be emailed to you should you provide us with a valid email address.

**Right to withdraw**: Participation in this study is entirely voluntary. You may decline to answer certain questions or to withdraw your data upon completion of the survey. To withdraw your

data, please email the researchers. Upon withdrawal, all your information will be permanently deleted.

If you would like to withdraw during the study, you may click the "withdraw" button at the bottom of each page. By clicking "withdraw" you will automatically be re-directed to the debriefing page including the links to access support services.

**Data Storing and Sharing:** The data will be stored on the computers of the researchers and research assistants involved with this project. As there will be no personal information associated with the data, this dataset will be stored electronically and kept indefinitely. Additionally, we will upload this anonymized dataset to an online data repository called Open Science Framework (<u>http://osf.io/</u>) for research and teaching purposes. Aggregate data may also be used in publications, presentations, and future research. The (fully anonymized) data from this study may be released to journals upon request. Lastly, anonymized data may be shared with trusted colleagues.

Funding. This research is supported funding from the Massachusetts Gaming Commission.

This study has received clearance by the Carleton University Research Ethics Board B (Reference #117682) and is being funded by Massachusetts Gaming Commission. The survey has the support of MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC.

By checking this box, you agree to the following terms:

○ I have read the above form and understand the conditions of my participation. I understand that I will be compensated with a \$10 Amazon.com Gift Card for my participation in this study. My participation in this study is voluntary. (1)

 $\bigcirc$  I do not consent to the study. (2)

## **Ineligibility Debriefing**

Thank you for accessing the GameSense: Employee Survey. It is unfortunate that you do not consent to participate. For more information on the GameSense: Players Survey, please contact the Gaming Lab at Carleton University at gaming.lab@carleton.ca.

Have you heard about GameSense?

 $\bigcirc$  Yes, I have heard about GameSense. (1)

 $\bigcirc$  No, I have never heard about GameSense. (2)

I heard about GameSense from ...

Resp	onse
Yes (1)	No (2)

Friends (1)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Players (2)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Other casino employees (3)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
A superior/manager (4)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Casino staff training (5)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
A GameSense Advisor (6)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Massgaming.com (7)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Social media (8)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Print advertisements (9)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Radio advertisements (10)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
TV advertisements (11)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Other source (please specify): (12)	0	$\bigcirc$

Based on your current understanding of GameSense, what is its purpose?

Res	ponse
Yes (1)	No (2)

It offers a place where players can relax away from the gaming floor (i.e., a lounge) (1)	0	$\bigcirc$
It's a program that teaches players how games work (2)	0	$\bigcirc$
It's a program that educates players about how to gamble responsibly (e.g., within an affordable money and/or time limit) (3)	0	0
It offers a place where players can bet on sports (4)	0	$\bigcirc$
It's a program that includes PlayMyWay – a budgeting tool that you track your play and receive notifications you get closer to the budget you've set (5)	0	0
It's a program that helps dispel gaming-related myths (6)	0	$\bigcirc$
It offers a place players can find where to get support if they believe their gaming has become problematic (7)	0	0
It's a program that allows players to voluntarily exclude themselves from the gaming floor at all casinos in Massachusetts (8)	0	$\bigcirc$
Other (please specify): (9)	0	$\bigcirc$

GameSense is a comprehensive responsible gaming strategy.

**GameSense Advisors** work at a **GameSense Info Center** located at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC. GameSense Advisors receive extensive training in the areas of responsible gaming techniques, problem gaming behavior and local resources for help. Many GameSense Advisors come to the position with professional gaming experience which is useful in understanding patrons' needs.

	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Somewhat Disagree (3)	Neither Disagree nor Agree (4)	Slightly Agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly Agree (7)
People who have trouble controlling their gaming. (1)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
People who gamble on a regular basis. (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0
People who gamble occasionally (3)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
All people who gamble (4)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

I think that the target audience for GameSense is...

Have you visited a GameSense Info Center at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC?

○ Yes, I visited the GameSense Info Center at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC. (1)

○ No, I have not visited a GameSense Info Center at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC. (2)

Please indicate your reasons for visiting a GameSense Info Center

Response

	Yes (1)	No (2)
I heard about the Info Center and was curious (1)	0	$\bigcirc$
I stumbled upon one and was curious (2)	0	$\bigcirc$
To learn more about how games work (3)	0	$\bigcirc$
To learn more about responsible gaming (e.g., within an affordable money and/or time limit) (4)	0	0
To learn about and enroll in PlayMyWay (i.e., a money budgeting tool for your slot play that works with your rewards card) (5)	0	0
To get swag (e.g., a lanyard) (6)	0	$\bigcirc$
To learn about gaming- related myths (7)	0	$\bigcirc$
To learn about supports for problem gaming (8)	0	$\bigcirc$
To be better informed should I need to pass information to players (9)	0	$\bigcirc$
To learn about voluntary self- exclusion (10)	0	$\bigcirc$
Other (please specify): (11)	0	$\bigcirc$

Please indicate your reasons for NOT visiting a GameSense Info Center

Res	ponse
Yes (1)	No (2)

No one has asked me to check GameSense out (1)	0	$\bigcirc$
I already know how games work (2)	0	$\bigcirc$
I already know about gaming- related myths (3)	0	$\bigcirc$
I already know about PlayMyWay – a budgeting tool that allows a player to set a money limit and track their play (4)	0	0
I don't think a GameSense Advisor would be able to teach me anything (5)	0	0
I don't think GameSense Advisors help players (6)	0	$\bigcirc$
I don't agree with the presence of a GameSense Info Center at the casino (7)	0	0
Other reasons (please specify): (8)	0	$\bigcirc$

I would visit a GameSense Info Center if...

Response		
Yes (1)	No (2)	-

My manager asked me to (1)	0	$\bigcirc$
A player asked me a question for which I didn't know the answer about how games work (2)	0	$\bigcirc$
A player asked me a question about responsible gaming (e.g., playing within an affordable money and/or time limit) that I didn't know how to answer (3)	0	0
A player was in distress and I didn't know how to respond (4)	0	$\bigcirc$
I wanted learn more about how to gamble responsibly (e.g., playing within an affordable money and/or time limit) (5)	0	0
I could get swag (e.g., a lanyard) (6)	0	$\bigcirc$
I wanted to learn more about PlayMyWay – a budgeting tool that allows a player to set a money limit and track their play (7)	0	0
I wanted learn more about gaming-related myths (8)	0	$\bigcirc$
I wanted to learn about supports for problem gaming (9)	0	$\bigcirc$
I wanted to learn more about voluntary self-exclusion for players (10)	0	0
Other (please specify): (11)	0	$\bigcirc$

Have you recommended a customer speak to a GameSense Advisor?

 $\bigcirc$  Yes, I have recommended a customer speak with a GameSense Advisor. (1)

 $\bigcirc$  No, I have never recommended a customer speak with a GameSense Advisor. (2)

Approximately, how many customers have you recommended speak with a GameSense Advisor?

	Never (1)	Rarely (2)	Sometimes (3)	Often (4)	Almost Always/Always (5)
To have them learn how to play a game. (1)	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0
So they could get swag (e.g., a lanyard). (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
I thought they had a gaming problem. (3)	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
To have them learn about gaming- related myths. (4)	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0
So they could learn about and/or enroll in PlayMyWay. (5)	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
So they could learn about voluntary self- exclusion. (6)	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0
So they could voluntarily self-exclude. (7)	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

When you recommended a customer speak with a GameSense Advisor, how often was it for the following reason(s).

What was the main reason you recommended a customer speak with a GameSense Advisor?

Why haven't you ever recommended a customer speak with a GameSense Advisor?
	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Slightly Disagree (3)	Neither Agree nor Disagree (4)	Slightly Agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly Agree (7)
There has never been a need. (1)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
It's not my place to do so. (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
I don't feel comfortable suggesting that to players. (3)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
I don't believe that GameSense helps players. (4)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Players can be aggressive to staff when they recommend speaking with a GameSense Advisor. (5)	0	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$
Players don't respond when you try to engage with them about speaking to a GameSense Advisor. (6)	0	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$

Players are often too "zoned out" or engrossed in their play to approach them about GameSense. (7)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
GameSense Advisors aren't helpful. (8)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Other (please specify): (9)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

Have you ever had an interaction with a GameSense Advisor (i.e., a trained responsible gaming specialist who works at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC)?

 $\bigcirc$  Yes, I have had an interaction with a GameSense Advisor at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC. (1)

 $\bigcirc$  No, I have never had an interaction with a GameSense Advisor at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC. (2)

Please indicate the (approximate) number of interactions you have had with a GameSense Advisor at MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC using the following categories (Please respond with a digit; e.g., 10).

Simple (i.e., a short, communication from a GameSense Advisor about issues unrelated to gaming). Number of times = (1)

Demonstration (i.e., a longer, communication from a GameSense Advisor about how a game, responsible gaming tool, or concept works). Number of times = (2)

Exchange (i.e., a two-way communication with a GameSense Advisor about responsible gaming or problem gaming). Number of times = (3)

Now we want you to think about an interaction you have had with a GameSense advisor that has had the greatest influence on your beliefs about gaming or your gaming behavior.

Please take a moment to think about the most impactful interaction you have had with a GameSense Advisor.

What was the nature of this influential interaction with a GameSense Advisor?

L It was a simple interaction (i.e., a short, communication from a GameSense Advisor about issues unrelated to gaming). (1)

L It was a demonstration (i.e., a longer, communication from a GameSense Advisor about how a game, responsible gaming tool, or concept works). (2)

I had an exchange with a GameSense Advisor (i.e., a two-way communication with a GameSense Advisor about responsible gaming or problem gaming). (3)

Please tell us a bit more about this influential interaction. Who started the interaction? What was it about?

	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Slightly Disagree (3)	Neither Disagree nor Agree (4)	Slightly Agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly Agree (7)
I feel more informed about responsible gaming. (1)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
I feel more informed about how gaming games work. (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0
I feel that the casino cares about its customers. (3)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0
I would encourage customers to speak with a GameSense Advisor. (4)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$
I would encourage customers to visit a GameSense Info Center. (5)	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$

Due to my experience(s) with a GameSense Advisor...

Please indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with the following items. Because MGM Springfield/EBH/PPC has adopted GameSense ....

	Strongl y Disagre e (1)	Disagre e (2)	Slightly Disagre e (3)	Neither Disagre e nor Agree (4)	Slightl y Agree (5)	Agre e (6)	Strongl y Agree (7)
I consider MGM Springfield/EBH/PP C a good place to gamble. (1)	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0
I am more trusting of MGM Springfield/EBH/PP C. (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$
I am more satisfied with MGM Springfield/EBH/PP C. (3)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0
I have a stronger sense of connection to MGM Springfield/EBH/PP C. (4)	0	0	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
MGM Springfield/EBH/PP C meets or exceeds my expectations for a gaming operator. (5)	0	0	0	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$
I feel more loyal to MGM Springfield/EBH/PP C. (6)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$
I feel MGM Springfield/EBH/PP C wants its customers to keep their gaming within an affordable limit. (7)	0	0	0	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$

On the following pages, we are now going to ask you some questions about your beliefs and behaviors as they pertain to gaming.

The following statements have to do with your beliefs and opinions about gaming. Please indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with each statement.

I believe that...

	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Slightly Disagree (3)	Neither Disagree nor Agree (4)	Slightly Agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly Agree (7)
Players should be able to walk away from gaming at any time. (1)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Players should be aware of how much money I spend when I gamble. (2)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0
It's the player's responsibility to spend only money that they can afford to lose. (3)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0
Players should only gamble when they have enough money to cover all their bills first. (4)	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
Gaming is not a good way to make money. (5)	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0

A player's chances of winning get better after they have lost. (6)	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
If someone gambles more often, it will help them to win more than they lose. (7) I believe that	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

	Never (1)	Rarely (2)	Occasionally (3)	Sometimes (4)	Frequently (5)	Usually (6)	Always (7)
A player should feel in control of their gaming behavior. (1)	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0
Players should be honest with their family and/or friends about the amount of MONEY they spend gaming. (2)	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
Players should be honest with their family and/or friends about the amount of TIME they spend gaming. (3)	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

Players should only gamble with MONEY that I can afford to lose. (4)	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0
Players should only spend TIME gaming that they can afford to spend. (5)	0	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0	0
Players should consider the amount of MONEY they are willing to lose BEFORE they gamble. (6)	0	$\bigcirc$	0	0	0	0	0

Players should considered the amount of TIME they are willing to spend BEFORE they gamble. (7)

Do you gamble?

 $\bigcirc$  Yes, I gamble. (3)

 $\bigcirc$  No, I do not gamble. (4)

Have you ever had to lie to people important to you about how much you gambled?

○ Yes (1)

O No (2)

Have you ever felt the need to bet more and more money?

○ Yes (1)

O No (2)

What is your gender identity?

 $\bigcirc$  Man (1)

 $\bigcirc$  Woman (2)

 $\bigcirc$  Gender-fluid (3)

 $\bigcirc$  Trans man (4)

 $\bigcirc$  Trans woman (5)

 $\bigcirc$  Nonbinary (6)

 $\bigcirc$  Two-spirit (7)

 $\bigcirc$  Prefer to specify: My gender is \_\_\_\_ (8)

 $\bigcirc$  Prefer not to answer (9)

What is your age?

How long have you worked at MGM Springfield? \_\_\_\_\_ years \_\_\_\_\_ months

What is your job title at MGM Springfield?

Thank you for completing the GameSense Players Survey!

The information you have provided in this survey will help us provide better tools to promote positive play. Your feedback will help us improve GameSense.

To receive your \$10 Amazon.com Gift Card, please provide an email address below (gift cards will be distributed within 48 hours. We appreciate your patience):

In three and six months from now, we will conduct follow-up surveys. You will receive a \$15 Amazon.com Gift Card for completing each follow-up survey.

I grant permission to be contacted for follow-up surveys:

 $\bigcirc$  Yes, please contact me at the email address listed above (1)

 $\bigcirc$  Yes, but please contact me at this email address instead (2)

 $\bigcirc$  No, I would prefer not to be contacted for follow-up surveys (3)

## Thank you for participating in this research!

## What is the purpose of this research?

This study aims to better understand what casino employees in Massachusetts think about GameSense.

## If I have any further questions, please feel free to contact us:

If you have any questions or comments about this research, please feel free to contact the research team at <u>gaming.lab@carleton.ca</u> (should you wish to contact us at a later date, please make note of this email address).

More information about GameSense can be found at: <u>https://gamesensema.com</u>

**Ethical concerns:** This study has received ethics clearance by the Carleton University Research Ethics Board-B (CUREB-B Reference #117682). If you have any ethical concerns about this study, please contact the Carleton University Research Ethics Board-B (<u>ethics@carleton.ca</u>).

## Giving GameSense Advisors and Managers Voice:

## Feedback About GameSense and the GameSense Evaluation

Michael J. A. Wohl

Christopher G. Davis

Nassim Tabri

Carleton University

Reference as:

Wohl, M. J. A., Davis, C. G., & Tabri, N. (2023). *Giving GameSense Advisors and Managers voice: Feedback about GameSense and the GameSense evaluation* [Report]. Massachusetts Gaming Commission.

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Study Overview	5
1.1.1 Research Questions	5
2. Method: Participants and Procedures	6
2.1 Survey of GSAs and GSMs	7
2.1.1 Perceived GameSense Awareness and Engagement	8
2.1.2 Perceptions of the Type of Interaction GSAs and GSMs are Having with Players	
2.1.2.1 Estimated Percent of Simple Interactions That Became a Meaningful Interact	
2.1.3 Response to Researcher-Generated Recommendations	11
2.1.3.1 Response to Recommendation About Increasing Player Engagement	11
2.1.3.2 Response to Recommendation About Increasing Employee Engagement	15
2.1.4 Perceptions About the Evolving Gambling Landscape in Massachusetts	19
2.2 Focus Group Results: GSAs	20
2.2.1 Perceived Success of GameSense by GSAs	21
2.2.2 Perceived Challenges with Implementing GameSense by GSAs	22
2.2.3 GSA Reaction to Player and Employee Survey Results	24
2.2.3.1 Perceived Means to Improve Engagement With Players	24
2.2.3.2 Perceived Means to Address Misconception That Gamesense is for Problem	
Gamblers	25
2.2.3.3 Perceived Means to Improve Engagement With Casino Employees	27
2.2.4 Perceived Support for Doing their Job as a GSA	29
2.2.5 GSA's Feelings About Their Job	30
2.3 Focus Group Results: GSMs	32
2.3.1 Perceived Successes of GameSense by GSMs	32
2.3.2 Perceived Challenges GSMs Have with GameSense	33
2.3.3 GSMs' Reaction to Player and Employee Survey Results	35
2.3.4 GSMs' Feelings About Their Job	37
3. Discussion	38
3.1 Summary of GSA and GSM Recommendations	40
3.2 Conclusion	43
References	44

# Table of Contents

## List of Tables

Table 1. Perceived Awareness and Engagement.	9
Table 2. Estimate of the Type of Interaction Had with Patrons.	11
Table 3. GSA and GSM Responses to Recommendations to Increase Engagement Among	
Patrons.	13
Table 4. GSA and GSM Response to Recommendations to Increase Engagement Among	
Employees	17
Table 5. Percent Agreement Regarding Specific Concerns About the Evolving Gambling	
Landscape in Massachusetts	20

# List of Appendices

Appendix A: Survey Completed by the GSAs and GSMs	.46
Appendix B: Semi-Structured Interview Questions	.59

## Authorship and Acknowledgements

## Authorship

**Dr. Michael J. A. Wohl**, Professor of Psychology at Carleton University. Work in his Carleton University Gambling Laboratory (CUGL) focuses on, among other things, factors that predict disordered gambling (e.g., erroneous beliefs, financial focus), facilitators of responsible gambling (e.g., monetary limit setting and adherence), and means to overcome barriers to behavior change (e.g., nostalgia for life lived before the addictive behavior took hold). Members of CUGL also examine the potential pitfalls and possible harm-minimization utility of rewards program membership. Dr. Wohl is the lead author of this report.

**Dr. Christopher G. Davis**, Professor of Psychology at Carleton University. Dr. Davis' research lies at the intersection of social, personality, and health psychology. In general terms, he explores the social, contextual, and personality factors that influence our psychological health. Relevant to the present context, he studies the psychological factors that affect gambling and substance use behavior. With respect to this report, he was responsible for data analysis and the production of tables and figures, editing drafts of the report, and provided analytic and other support.

**Dr. Nassim Tabri**, Associate Professor of Psychology at Carleton University. Work in his Mental Health and Addictions Laboratory focuses on transdiagnostic risk and maintenance factors for health-compromising behaviors, with a focus on disordered gambling and eating. Another focus of the Mental Health and Addictions Laboratory is on the role of money and financial success in the etiology and maintenance of disordered gambling. Dr. Tabri's contributions to this report included data analysis and the production of tables and figures, reviewing drafts of the report, as well as providing analytic and other support.

### Acknowledgements

Financial support for this study comes from the Massachusetts Gaming Commission (RFR 20211222).

Data could not have been collected without the support and cooperation of GameSense Advisors, GameSense Managers, and the Massachusetts Council on Gaming and Health (MACGH). Specific thanks go out to Marlene D. Warner (Chief Executive Officer, MACGH) and Ray Fluette (Director of Player Health, MACGH).

Lastly, thank you to Bonnie Andrews, Long Banh, and Mark Vander Linden for all that you have done to ensure that this project was successful from start to finish. To say you three are responsible gambling champions is an understatement.

## **Executive Summary**

#### What was the purpose of this evaluation of GameSense?

GameSense Advisors (GSAs) and GameSense Managers (GSMs) are the face of the GameSense responsible gambling program at the three casinos in Massachusetts. Among other things, they talk to patrons about how to gamble responsibly and about support services should their gambling become problematic (e.g., voluntary self-exclusion). They also offer demonstrations to patrons about how games work and how to minimize the risks associated with gambling. The purpose of the current study was to better understand the experiences of GSAs and GSMs. Specifically, we asked GSAs and GSMs about the extent to which regular players are aware of and engage with GameSense, their reactions to the main findings of assessments of regular player and casino employee engagement with GameSense (undertaken by the current research team), and the perceived utility of the recommendations put forward to improve GameSense in Massachusetts. Lastly, we asked GSAs and GSMs to express what they perceived as the successes of GameSense and any challenges they have experienced implementing GameSense. Ultimately, the present study was designed to give GSAs and GSMs voice in the ongoing evaluation and evolution of GameSense in Massachusetts.

#### How were data collected and analyzed?

**Design and Participants.** We employed a mixed methods approach. First, the population of GSAs (N=21) and GSMs (N=3) in Massachusetts were recruited through the Massachusetts Council on Gaming and Health GameSense listserv to complete an online survey. Subsequently, three in-person focus groups were conducted with approximately half of all GSAs (n=10), and one online focus group was conducted with all GSMs (n=3). We were not able to include all GSAs in the focus group sessions due to scheduling conflicts.

vi

*Data Analysis*. Descriptive (summary) statistics were calculated from the survey data to gain an initial understanding of GSA and GSM perceptions of the extent to which regular players are aware of and engage with GameSense, reactions to the main findings of assessments of regular players and casino employee engagement with GameSense (undertaken by the current research team), and the perceived utility of the recommendations put forward to improve GameSense in Massachusetts. During the focus groups, both facilitators diligently took extensive notes capturing the discussions. These notes served as our primary data source. Subsequently, the notes were rigorously read and re-read to identify recurring patterns, key concepts, and underlying themes. Through iterative analysis, common meanings emerged, allowing for the extraction and interpretation of central themes that encapsulated participants' perspectives and experiences.

## What did we find?

### Survey Insights

*Perceived GameSense Awareness and Engagement.* On average, GSAs and GSMs estimated that approximately two-thirds (70.3%) of regular players (i.e., patrons who have visited a casino in Massachusetts at least three time in the last 3 months) are aware of GameSense, and 43.5% engage with GameSense. However, there was a large variance in estimates, suggesting that GSAs and GSMs are not uniform in their estimates. Moreover, the true percentage of patrons who are aware of GameSense or who engage with GameSense is unknown. Thus, it is difficult to gauge the accuracy of GSA and GSM estimates. However, understanding GSA and GSM estimates are important because it helps contextualize their feelings about the utility of GameSense. *Perceptions of the Type of Interaction GSAs and GSMs are Having with Players.* GSAs and GSMs estimated that, on average, 52.0% of their interactions with all players are demonstrations, and 45.5% are exchange interactions. They also stated that simple interactions often pave the way for meaningful ones, with an estimated 53.8% of simple interactions evolving into demonstrations or exchanges.

*Response to Researcher-Generated Recommendations.* Based on the results of a survey the research team conducted of regular players at the three casinos in Massachusetts (see Wohl et al., 2024a) as well as a survey of front-line casino employees in Massachusetts (see Wohl et al., 2024b), recommendations for improving engagement with GameSense were created and provided to MGC. GSAs and GSMs were asked for their feedback about these recommendations.

GSAs and GSMs endorsed recommendations for increasing player engagement, with collaborative (with the casino) promotions, enhanced GameSense Information Center (GSIC) visibility, and interactive activities receiving strong support. For employee engagement, collaborative initiatives and feedback loops garnered strong support. Most GSAs and GSMs (80.9%) perceived there will be challenges with the introduction of sports betting, anticipating an increase in gambling-related issues and acknowledging the need for enhanced educational resources and support. Two-thirds highlighted the importance of ongoing education initiatives to keep them well informed.

#### **GSA** Focus Group Insights

*Perceived Success of GameSense.* GSAs were asked to reflect on what they perceived to be some of the most successful or rewarding aspects of GameSense and of their work as a GSA. Two themes emerged: 1) deep interpersonal connections that have been built with players, and 2) players shifting from seeing GSAs as a potential adversary to trusted ally.

viii

*Perceived Challenges with Implementing GameSense.* Three themes emerged in terms of challenges GSAs experience implementing GameSense. These were: 1) difficulty with research and engaging with players, in part, due to misperceptions among players that imply GameSense is solely for people with a gambling problem, 2) players are often vulnerable during moments of significant loss, requiring tact and sensitivity (i.e., GSAs navigate multifaceted roles, serving as counselors and facing blame for losses), and 3) there are operational challenges with the voluntary self-exclusion program including players not understanding the duration and rules associated with voluntary self-exclusion, which is exacerbated with phone interactions.

*Means to Improve Player Engagement with GameSense*. Based on a recent study on players in Massachusetts, GSAs were told that although players know about GameSense, very few engage in deeper interactions (demonstration and/or exchange) with GSAs or use the tools available (e.g., PlayMyWay). We then asked them to discuss how engagement can be increased. They suggested there was a need to 1) reduce stigma about using GameSense and responsible gambling tools, 2) improve the accessibility of the responsible gamble tools (e.g., PlayMyWay) by simplifying enrollment and providing more real-time feedback on their budget limit, 3) improve the physical location and accessibility of GameSense Information Centers, and 4) increase community engagement about GameSense.

*Means to Improve Employee Engagement with GameSense.* Based on a recent study with casino employees in Massachusetts, GSAs were told that there was relatively low employee engagement with GameSense. They were asked how to increase employee engagement. Three themes emerged: 1) there is a need to expand employee training beyond the 30 minutes allocated during new employee training, 2) there is a need for employee re-training opportunities, and 3)

ix

there is a need to increase opportunities for GSA-casino employee interaction to build their relationship.

*Perceived Support for Doing their Job as a GSA.* We asked GSAs the extent to which they feel supported. They expressed a strong sense of support from the casino-based responsible gambling team (i.e., those who work for the casino to ensure they are compliant with Massachusetts responsible gambling regulations). However, there was also a tendency to express that casino management viewed GameSense as a threat to the success of their casino, which creates challenges. GSAs reported positive experiences with the Massachusetts Council on Gaming and Health, highlighting regular updates, encouragement for attendance in seminars, and openness to feedback. However, they did note that support in the form of more GameSense staff (i.e., increasing the number of GSAs) was desired.

*Feelings About Compensation for Doing their Job.* GSAs generally expressed satisfaction with compensation (i.e., pay) but desire improved health benefits. They also expressed concern about increased workload due to sports betting, emphasizing the need for them to receive education and training about sports betting, additional resources to contend with the additional workload.

#### **GSM** Focus Group Insights

*Perceived Successes of GameSense.* Akin to the GSAs, the GSMs were asked to reflect on what they perceived to be some of the most successful or rewarding aspects of GameSense and of their work as a GSM. Four themes emerged: 1) the voluntary self-exclusion program is very successful helping players in need, 2) there is a diversity in the GameSense team (i.e., GSAs and GSMs), allowing guests to see themselves represented in the GameSense team, 3) GameSense evolving to meet the changing needs of players, and 4) a positive transformation in

Х

the casino management's perception of GameSense, whereas previously seen as the "enemy," most casinos now demonstrate significant buy-in.

*Perceived Challenges GSMs have with GameSense.* GSMs expressed a few challenges they have encountered in their role. They expressed a need to: 1) reduce patron skepticism and stigma about GameSense (i.e., overcoming the (mis)perception that GameSense is solely for problem gamblers), 2) increase staffing and resource allocation (i.e., GSMs expressed challenges in obtaining adequate staffing and support for the GSICs), 3) improve communication and collaboration with the Massachusetts Council on Gaming and Health (MACGH) about GameSense administration and promotion, and 4) create a partnership with the casino management about advancing responsible gambling.

*Means to Improve Player Engagement with GameSense*. Akin to the GSAs, the GSMs were told that although players know about GameSense, very few engage in deeper interactions (demonstration and/or exchange) with GSAs or use the tools available (e.g., PlayMyWay). We then asked them to discuss how engagement can be increased. They suggested there is a need: 1) for more and better community outreach about the purpose of GameSense, 2) for improved GameSense project management, focus, and prioritization (e.g., more efficient project initiation, development, and completion), 3) to improve GameSense employee satisfaction and retention (i.e., despite strong affection for GameSense, frustrations with project management and incomplete initiatives led to employee dissatisfaction and turnover), and 4) for internal casino outreach and education (i.e., continuous education of casino personnel, including refreshers) to keeping casino staff informed about GameSense initiatives and responsible gambling practices.

xi

*GSM's Feelings About Their Job.* GSMs expressed that their pay had not changed, despite the significant expansion of the skill set required for the evolving gambling landscape in Massachusetts.

#### What are some take home messages?

GSAs and GSMs highlighted key areas for attention and improvement by MGC. GSAs underscored the success of relationship-building and the voluntary self-exclusion program while facing challenges in overcoming negative perceptions and streamlining operational processes. Survey feedback suggests the need for destigmatizing GameSense, improving tools like PlayMyWay, and enhancing community engagement. On the other hand, GSMs emphasized the success of the voluntary self-exclusion program, positive transformations in the casino's perception of GameSense, and the diverse makeup of the GameSense team. However, they encounter challenges with guest skepticism, staffing issues, and communication with MACGH. Their recommendations for the MGC include prioritizing educational efforts, streamlining operational processes, increasing community engagement, fostering collaboration, and ensuring robust support for both GSAs and GSMs. These measures collectively aim to enhance the effectiveness of the GameSense program, making it more player-friendly and impactful in promoting responsible gambling.

#### What do GSAs and GSMs recommend?

 Strengthen Educational Outreach: Focus on destigmatizing GameSense through targeted educational campaigns. Emphasize the role of GameSense in responsible gambling education for all players to increase engagement.

xii

- Optimize Tools and Accessibility: Improve existing tools like PlayMyWay for better accessibility. Consider strategic placement of GameSense Information Centers on gaming floors to enhance visibility and accessibility.
- 3. *Boost Community Engagement*: Enhance community outreach efforts, forming partnerships with local organizations. Integrate multilingual support for diverse communities to improve communication and accessibility.
- 4. *Innovate to Combat Stigma*: Develop innovative strategies to combat guest skepticism and stigma associated with GameSense. Position GameSense as a pioneering force in responsible gambling, exceeding industry standards.
- 5. Streamline Communication and Collaboration: Address challenges related to communication and collaboration between GSMs and the casino, but particularly with the MACGH. Foster a more streamlined communication process, emphasizing transparency, and ensuring frequent program evaluations and climate surveys.
- 6. *Increased Support for GSAs and GSMs*: Recognize unique challenges faced by GSAs and GSMs, providing continuous education, streamlined project management, and strategies for employee satisfaction and retention.
- 7. *Strengthen Leadership and Team Dynamics*: Implement effective leadership strategies to boost morale among GSMs, addressing concerns related to project management and ensuring a positive work environment.
- Monitor Workload and Resource Allocation: Regularly assess workload distribution for GSAs, considering resource allocation challenges with the potential expansion of the GameSense program.

9. Annual "Voice" Assessment by a Third-Party: To ensure the ongoing credibility and effectiveness of the GameSense program, it is recommended that the Massachusetts Gaming Commission engage a third-party entity for annual evaluations. This practice will provide an impartial assessment, reinforcing transparency and facilitating continuous program enhancements.

## What have we learned?

Insights from the survey and focus groups with GSAs and GSMs illuminate the strengths and challenges of implementing GameSense in Massachusetts. The findings emphasize the dynamic nature of player-GSA interactions, the significance of collaboration between GSMs and MACGH, and the imperative for adaptability in navigating the evolving gambling landscape. GSAs and GSMs expressed that continuous assessment of GameSense, and subsequent refinement will be pivotal in ensuring sustained program success.

#### 1. Introduction

In recent years, the gambling industry has witnessed unprecedented growth, captivating audiences across the globe with innovative technologies and immersive experiences. As the gambling landscape evolves, so does the need for responsible gambling practices to help protect the well-being of players. Put differently, as gambling platforms and experiences become more sophisticated, so do the potential risks associated with excessive or problematic gambling behavior. Increasingly, the gambling industry is stepping up its duty of care to foster responsible gambling practices. Responsible gambling initiatives, for instance, have gained prominence as a proactive approach to address these concerns and help safeguard the well-being of players. One such initiative is GameSense—a responsible gambling program developed by the British Columbia Lottery Corporation (BCLC). The program aims to empower players with the knowledge and tools to make informed decisions about their gambling activities. Specifically, the objective of GameSense is to enhance player awareness and promote responsible gambling behaviors (e.g., setting and adhering to a pre-set money limit) and offering problem gambling support services (e.g., voluntary self-exclusion).

In response to the expansion of gambling in Massachusetts, regulatory provisions were instituted requiring newly licensed gaming operators to dedicate on-site facilities to independent counseling services addressing substance abuse, compulsive gambling, and mental health concerns. To comply with this legal mandate, the Massachusetts Gaming Commission (MGC) implemented the GameSense program, which is operated autonomously by the Massachusetts Council on Gaming and Health (MACGH)—a statewide non-profit entity.

GameSense Advisors (GSAs) and GameSense Managers (GSMs) are instrumental actors within the GameSense program. GSAs are at the forefront of player interaction both on the gaming floor and at on-site resource areas called GameSense Information Centers (GSICs). The primary role of GSAs is to engage with players and provide them with educational resources and tools to help them make informed decisions about their gambling activities. For instance, among other tasks, GSAs will try to engage players in an exchange interaction—marked by two-way communication about responsible or problem gambling. In a similar vein, GSAs may try to interact with players by way of a demonstration that explains the mechanics of gaming, responsible tools available to players, and related concepts like gambling-related myths.

GSMs operate at a managerial level, orchestrating the integration of GameSense within the broader gambling establishment. Their responsibilities include overseeing the training and deployment of GSAs, implementing and refining program protocols, and liaising with other stakeholders to promote the holistic success of the initiative. As custodians of the program's strategic vision, GSMs reinforce the successes and navigate the challenges at an organizational level, shaping the overarching culture of responsible gambling within a given casino.

As Massachusetts endeavors to maintain a robust responsible gambling framework, understanding the experiences, successes, and challenges encountered by GSAs and GSMs becomes paramount. This is because they are the face of GameSense at the three casinos in Massachusetts as they interact directly with players and implement the program's principles on a day-to-day basis. Their experiences offer unique insights into the practical challenges and successes encountered in promoting responsible gambling behaviors. By delving into the perspectives of GSAs and GSMs, a nuanced understanding of how the program translates from theory to practice can be gained and areas for improvement can be identified. Moreover, their

experiences and observations provide a real-world context, offering a practical foundation for refining and enhancing the GameSense initiative to better align with the dynamic and evolving landscape of the gambling industry.

In essence, the experiences of GSAs and GSMs serve as a crucial guide for shaping the future trajectory of responsible gambling programs and contribute to the ongoing discourse on player well-being in the gambling community. Although the body of knowledge on player and casino employee perceptions of GameSense has grown in recent years (e.g., Abarbanel et al., 2019; Abarbanel et al., 2022; Gray et al., 2020; Louderback et al., 2022a; Louderback et al., 2022b; Wohl et al., 2024a, Wohl et al., 2024b), a notable gap in this literature is studies examining the experiences of the individuals who directly deliver GameSense to players and casino employees (i.e., GSAs and GSMs). Specifically, there is a dearth of research investigating GSAs' and GSMs' perceptions regarding the program's efficacy in promoting responsible gambling behaviors, its overall success, and the challenges they encounter in implementing it effectively.

We contend that the absence of studies that provide voice to GSAs and GSMs cannot (and should not) be filled by existing research that has given voice to those who work in other support settings, such as safe injection sites (e.g., Perlmutter et al., 2023) or bars (Gehan et al., 2020). This is because the dynamics of GSAs and GSMs within the casino environment are notably distinct. One fundamental distinction lies in the primary goal of GSAs and GSMs, which centers on the prevention of gambling-related harm. Unlike scenarios where support is primarily reactive to immediate risks or harms, such as overdose prevention or addressing intoxicated patrons, GSAs and GSMs proactively engage in educational efforts aimed at all players to promote responsible gambling behaviors. Their focus is on fostering an environment where

players are empowered with knowledge and strategies to gamble responsibly, thereby mitigating the likelihood of problematic gambling behaviors emerging in the first place.

Additionally, the nature of the gambling environment introduces unique challenges and considerations for GSAs and GSMs. Unlike settings where addictive behaviors may manifest more visibly or immediately, such as in substance use contexts, identifying and addressing gambling-related harm in a casino environment can be inherently complex. The discretionary nature of gambling, coupled with the allure of potential rewards, requires GSAs and GSMs to navigate subtle cues and behaviors to effectively engage players in discussions about responsible gambling practices. Moreover, the social and recreational nature of gambling activities may present additional barriers to recognizing and addressing problematic behaviors, highlighting the need for tailored approaches to prevention and support within the gambling industry.

Understanding the successes and challenges experienced by GSAs and GSMs is paramount to the success of the GameSense program. GSAs, as the frontline advocates, navigate the complex terrain of player interactions, translating program principles into tangible educational experiences. Their successes may reveal the program's efficacy in fostering player self-awareness and responsible gambling behaviors. Conversely, their challenges may illuminate areas where the program may face resistance or encounter obstacles, providing insights into potential refinements to the GameSense program.

On a managerial level, GSMs coordinate the macro-level integration of GameSense within the casino and the wider community, and their successes and challenges may shed light on the organizational support structures necessary for program success. Their experiences may highlight not only the impact of GameSense on individual players but also the broader institutional factors that influence the program's effectiveness. Their experiences are essential for

refining strategies, implementing targeted training, and adapting the program to evolving industry landscapes. Ultimately, we hoped that by delving into the experiences of GSAs and GSMs it may provide information that can be used by MGC to refine and optimize responsible gambling initiatives for a safer and more enjoyable gambling environment.

To the point, a gap in knowledge exists regarding GSA and GSM perceptions and experiences implementing GameSense. This gap underscores the need for a study that gives voice to those directly involved in the delivery of this responsible gambling program. To this end, we conducted a survey of GSAs and GSMs as well as a series of focused interviews with these GameSense ambassadors. By engaging directly with those on the front lines of the GameSense initiative, this report seeks to synthesize their insights—insights that can inform the future development and refinement of the GameSense program.

#### 1.1 Study Overview

The primary purpose of the present study was to give GSAs and GSMs voice about the successes and challenges they face implementing GameSense. From dispelling misconceptions about the nature of gambling (e.g., the odds of winning) to discussing support services with players who may be experiencing gambling-related problems by way of directly interacting with players on the gaming floor or at the GSIC, GSAs and GSMs play a pivotal role in shaping the gaming environment at casinos in Massachusetts. The present study sought to provide GSAs and GSMs with a platform to shed light on the intricacies of their roles, providing insights that can potentially inform program enhancements and further align GameSense with the evolving needs of players in Massachusetts. To that end, we surveyed the full population of GSAs and GSMs and conducted a series of focus groups with a subset of GSAs and a focus group with all GSMs.

#### 1.1.1 Research Questions

- How do GSAs and GSMs perceive the impact of the GameSense program on players? More specifically, does GameSense meet its objective to enhance player awareness and promote responsible gambling behaviors (e.g., setting and adhering to a pre-set money limit) and offering problem gambling support services (e.g., voluntary self-exclusion)?
- 2. What are the primary challenges faced by GSAs and GSMs?
- 3. In what ways do GSAs and GSMs believe the GameSense program could be refined to improve its utility?

In analyzing the results, our main aim was to ensure that GSAs and GSMs were given a platform to express their perspectives and experiences. Hence, it is crucial to highlight that our role as researchers was solely to facilitate this process. Consequently, we intentionally refrained from adding any personal commentary or interpretation to the results presented. By doing so, we aimed to maintain the integrity of the voices shared by the GSAs and GSMs, ensuring that their thoughts and feelings remained authentic and unfiltered. Moreover, the recommendations stemming from the present study originate directly from the insights and observations voiced by the GSAs and GSMs themselves. We emphasize that these recommendations are not formulated or endorsed by the research team; rather, they represent the genuine needs and desires expressed by the GSAs and GSMs. Our approach underscores our commitment to centering the voices of GSAs and GSMs.

#### 2. Method: Participants and Procedures

A mix-method design was employed to assess the thoughts and feelings GSAs and GSMs operating within the Massachusetts casinos have about GameSense. First, we conducted an online survey of the population of GSAs (N=21) and GSMs (N=3). To this end, a link to the survey was distributed by MACGH via their GSA/GSM listserv. Surveys were completed

between October 2<sup>nd</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup>, 2023. The survey did not distinguish between GSAs and GSMs. A \$20 Amazon.com gift card was provided as remuneration.

Second, focus group discussions were conducted with a subset of GSAs at the three distinct casinos in Massachusetts (*n*=10). We were only able to conduct focus groups with a subset of GSAs due to scheduling difficulties. Focus group sessions with GSAs were conducted on October 27<sup>th</sup> and 28<sup>th</sup>, 2023. A separate focus group with all GSMs was conducted online on November 8<sup>th</sup>, 2023. As remuneration for participating in the focus groups, each attendee was provided \$20 cash.

It is important to note that the researchers did not tape record or directly quote from the focus group sessions. This was because in the context of a small, easily identifiable population (as is the case herein), it is crucial to prioritize confidentiality and privacy. Recording or directly quoting from a focus group could breach the trust and privacy of participants, especially if their identities or sensitive information could be revealed. Participants may not feel comfortable expressing their opinions candidly if they thought words or phrases may be quoted (which, rightly or wrongly, may be attributed to them). Thus, in collaboration with MGC (and the Research Review Committee, in particular), it was decided to employ an alternative method—note-taking and summarizing key points anonymously—to maintain confidentiality while still capturing valuable insights from the discussion. To help maintain the anonymity of the GSAs and GSMs who completed the survey and those who participated in the focus groups, we did not analyze the data by site (i.e., casino) at which they work.

## 2.1 Survey of GSAs and GSMs

The aim of the survey was to assess the perceived impact of the GameSense program on players through the perspectives of GSAs and GSMs. To help answer Research Question 1, we

assessed the extent to which GSAs and GSMs believe patrons are aware of and interact with GameSense, along with their perceived understanding of the GameSense program's purpose among those who are aware. Additionally, we sought insights into the interactions GSAs and GSMs are having with players. For instance, we asked GSAs and GSMs to estimate the proportion of simple interactions that became more meaningful interactions about responsible gambling or support services, or both. Lastly, we presented recommendations generated by the research team aimed at enhancing both player and casino employee engagement with the GameSense program. Through our survey, we sought not only to understand current perceptions but also to gather feedback on potential strategies for improvement, thereby facilitating continuous enhancement of the GameSense program's effectiveness.

All GSAs (N=21) and GSMs (N=3) completed the survey. To facilitate anonymity of responses (due to the low number of GSAs and GSMs), we did not ask them to report what casino they worked at, and we asked for the participant's age using age ranges. Seven (33.3%) indicated they were 25-34, nine (42.9%) reported an age between 35 and 44, three (14.3%) noted they were 45-54, and two (9.6%) were 55+. Three participants (12.5%) did not indicate their age range. We also asked how long they worked as a GSA or GSM. Five (25%) noted they have been employed as a GSA or GSM for less than 6 months. Two (10%) noted being employed for 6 months to a year, while six (30%) noted working as a GSA or GSM for 1-2 years, four (20%) for 3-5 years, and three (15%) for 5 or more years.

#### 2.1.1 Perceived GameSense Awareness and Engagement

On average, GSAs and GSMs estimated that approximately two-thirds (70.3%) of regular patrons are aware of GameSense, and that 58.3% of regular players believe GameSense is for all players. In terms of engaging with GameSense to learn about responsible gambling, GSAs and
GSMs estimated that 43.5% of regular players do so, whilst estimating that 36.9% of regular players engage with GameSense for information on supports for problem gambling. It is important to note that the standard deviation of responses was rather high (18.9 to 25.9), suggesting considerable variability in perceptions about player awareness and engagement with GameSense among GSAs and GSMs. See Table 1 for a summary.

## Table 1

	Mean %	SD	
What percent of regular players are aware of GS?	70.3	18.9	
What percent of regular players correctly believe GS is for all players?	58.3	24.7	
What percent of visits to a GSIC are because regular players want to learn more about RG?	42.5	25.8	
What percent of visits to a GSIC are because regular players want to learn about supports for problem gaming?	36.9	25.9	

## Perceived Awareness and Engagement

## 2.1.2 Perceptions of the Type of Interactions GSAs and GSMs are Having with Players

In Massachusetts, interactions are categorized as simple (i.e., a short communication from a GSA about issues unrelated to gambling), a demonstration (i.e., a longer communication from a GSA about how a game, responsible gambling tool, or concept works), or an exchange (i.e., a two-way communication with a GSA about responsible gambling or problem gambling). Because we were interested in having GSAs and GSMs estimate the percent of meaningful interactions they were having with players, we asked them to only estimate the percentage of interactions they were having that could be categorized as either a demonstration or an exchange (see Table 2).

GSAs and GSMs estimated that, on average, 52% of their interactions with players are demonstrations, whilst 45.5% of their interactions were exchange interactions. It is important to note that an exchange interaction can turn into a demonstration interaction and vice versa. In other words, these two types of interactions are not necessarily mutually exclusive. One patron could be counted as having both a demonstration and an exchange interaction.

#### 2.1.2.1 Estimated Percent of Simple Interactions That Became a Meaningful

**Interaction.** Simple interactions initiated by GSAs or GSMs may serve as a conduit for more substantial demonstrations or exchanges related to responsible gambling. Specifically, these casual interactions (that are not gambling-related) may build a foundation of trust and familiarity between the GSA and the player, creating a comfortable environment for more in-depth discussions about gambling. We asked GSAs and GSMs to estimate the percent of simple interactions they have had that translated into a demonstration or exchange interaction. They reported that over half (53.8%) of simple interactions have led to more meaningful conversations about responsible gambling or problem gambling, or both.

## Table 2

	М	SD
What percentage of your interactions with players could be considered a demonstration interaction?	52.0	25.5
What percentage of your interactions with players could be considered an exchange interaction?	45.5	24.6
What percentage of simple interactions can you translate into demonstration or exchange interactions?	53.4	27.9

## Estimate of the Type of Interaction Had with Patrons

## 2.1.3 Response to Researcher-Generated Recommendations

Based on the results of a survey the research team conducted of regular players at the three casinos in Massachusetts (see Wohl et al., 2024a) as well as a survey of front-line casino employees in Massachusetts (see Wohl et al., 2024b), recommendations for improving engagement with GameSense were created and provided to MGC. To help answer Research Question 3 (i.e., in what ways should GameSense be refined?), we asked for feedback from GSAs and GSMs about these recommendations.

# 2.1.3.1 Response to Recommendation About Increasing Player Engagement. First,

we provided GSAs and GSMs with a researcher-generated list of recommendations to increase patron engagement with GameSense. GSAs and GSMs were asked to indicate whether the recommendation would or would not work, whether they were already implementing what we suggested (and it works), or they were already implementing or tried to implement what we suggested (and it does not work). See Table 3 for a summary of the results. The most highly endorsed recommendations in terms of those who indicated the recommendation would work or that our recommendation was already being implemented and it works were:

- Collaborate with promotions (e.g., coordinate with casino marketing and promotions teams to integrate GSIC information into ongoing casino promotions; 100%, n = 21)
- 2. Enhance the visibility of GSICs (e.g., give them a more prominent location in the casino environment; 95.2%, n = 19),
- 3. Promote interactive activities (e.g., organize interactive activities or games within GSICs to attract patrons and encourage them to engage with responsible gambling resources; 90.5%, n = 20),
- 4. Integrate information about the GSIC onto apps (e.g., make information about GSIC locations, services, and benefits more visible on the casino's mobile app; 90.5%, n = 19), and
- 5. Use social media (e.g., use social media platforms to share success stories, testimonials, and engaging content related to GSIC visits; 90.5%, n = 19).

The recommendation that was least endorsed was hosting guest speakers (i.e., arranging talks or presentations by experts on responsible gambling topics to draw patrons' attention to GSICs). Although 61.9% (n=13) of GSAs and GSMs indicated that this was a good idea, 38.1% (n=8) indicated that guest speakers will not increase patron engagement with GameSense.

## Table 3

## GSA and GSM Responses to Recommendations to Increase Engagement Among Patrons

Recommendation	Yes, I	We	No, I	We
	think this	already do	don't	already
	will work	this, and I	think this	do this,
		think it	will	and I
		works	work	think it
				doesn't
				work
Offer Informative Workshops: Conduct workshops or sessions to casino	38.1%	28.6%	33.3%	0%
patrons that highlight the benefits of visiting a GSIC and provide insights into	( <i>n</i> =8)	( <i>n</i> =6)	( <i>n</i> =7)	( <i>n</i> =0)
responsible gambling practices.				
Promote Interactive Activities: Organize interactive activities or games within	19.0%	76.2%	4.8%	0%
GSICs to attract patrons and encourage them to engage with responsible	( <i>n</i> =4)	( <i>n</i> =16)	( <i>n</i> =1)	( <i>n</i> =0)
gambling resources.				
Enhance the visibility of GSICs: Give them a more prominent location in the	61.9%	28.6%	9.5%	0%
casino environment.	( <i>n</i> =13)	( <i>n</i> =6)	( <i>n</i> =2)	( <i>n</i> =0)
Collaborate with Promotions: Coordinate with marketing and promotions	76.2%	23.8%	0%	0%
teams to integrate GSIC information into ongoing casino promotions.	( <i>n</i> =16)	( <i>n</i> =5)	( <i>n</i> =0)	( <i>n</i> =0)
Host Guest Speakers: Arrange talks or presentations by experts on responsible	61.9%	0%	38.1%	0%
gambling topics to draw patrons' attention to GSICs.	( <i>n</i> =13)	( <i>n</i> =0)	( <i>n</i> =8)	( <i>n</i> =0)
Utilize Social Media: Use social media platforms to share success stories,	61.9%	28.6%	0%	9.8%
testimonials, and engaging content related to GSIC visits.	( <i>n</i> =13)	( <i>n</i> =6)	( <i>n</i> =0)	( <i>n</i> =2)
Offer Incentives: Provide casino incentives such as discounts, giveaways, or	42.9%	28.6%	23.8%	4.8%
reward program points for players who have an RG-based interaction with a GSA	( <i>n</i> =9)	( <i>n</i> =6)	( <i>n</i> =5)	( <i>n</i> =1)
or GSM.				
Integrate GSIC Info on Apps: Make information about GSIC locations,	81.0%	9.5%	4.8%	4.8%
services, and benefits more visible on the casino's mobile app.	( <i>n</i> =17)	( <i>n</i> =2)	( <i>n</i> =1)	( <i>n</i> =1)

Leverage Patron Feedback: Actively seek input from patrons to tailor GSIC	60.0%	15.0%	25.0%	0%
offerings to their preferences and needs.	( <i>n</i> =12)	( <i>n</i> =3)	( <i>n</i> =5)	( <i>n</i> =0)
Cross-Promote with Amenities: Collaborate with dining, shopping, or other	61.9%	4.8%	33.3%	0%
amenities within the casino to cross-promote GSICs.	( <i>n</i> =13)	( <i>n</i> =1)	( <i>n</i> =7)	( <i>n</i> =0)
Implement Ambassador Programs: Train select casino staff to serve as GSIC	42.9%	23.8%	33.3%	0%
ambassadors, guiding patrons toward GSIC visits.	( <i>n</i> =9)	( <i>n</i> =5)	( <i>n</i> =7)	( <i>n</i> =0)
<b>Provide Virtual Tours:</b> Offer virtual tours or online previews of GSICs to	66.7%	0%	33.3%	0%
encourage patrons to explore in-person.	( <i>n</i> =14)	( <i>n</i> =0)	( <i>n</i> =7)	( <i>n</i> =0)
Add a "Take a Break" sitting area: Increase the size of the GSIC to have a	65.0%	15.0%	15.0%	5.0%
dedicated "Take a Break" sitting area that would be advertised as a place where	( <i>n</i> =13)	( <i>n</i> =3)	( <i>n</i> =3)	( <i>n</i> =1)
players can take a break from gambling.				

*Note*. N per answer shifts due to missing data on some items

#### 2.1.3.2 Response to Recommendation About Increasing Employee Engagement.

Akin to the recommendations for increasing player engagement, we provided GSAs and GSMs a list of researcher-generated recommendations to increase employee engagement with GameSense. Once again, GSAs and GSMs were asked to indicate whether the recommendation would work, the recommendation would not work, they are already implementing what we suggested (and it works), or they are already implementing or tried to implement what we suggested (and it does not work). See Table 4 for a summary of the results.

The most highly endorsed recommendations in terms of those who indicated the recommendation would work or that our recommendation is already being implemented and it works were:

- Collaborative Initiatives (i.e., encouraging collaboration between GSAs and GSMs on the one hand and various casino departments on the other hand to reinforce the importance of responsible gambling). Almost all GSAs and GSMs (94.7%; n = 18) endorsed this recommendation, whilst only 5.3% did not believe this would work.
- 2. Feedback loop (i.e., establishing a feedback mechanism where casino employees can share their experiences with GSAs and suggest areas for improvement). A clear majority (89.5%; n = 17) mentioned that this would be a means to engage employees.
- 3. Employee wellness focus (i.e., positioning responsible gambling interactions as part of overall casino employee wellness, emphasizing the positive impact on their work environment). A total of 89.7% (n = 17) liked this recommendation, with 14 of those individuals noting that this was a novel idea that would increase employee engagement with GameSense.

It should be noted that several other recommendations were highly endorsed as well, including integrating responsible gambling topics into existing training programs (84.3%), regular workshops or training sessions with employees (84.2%), encouraging managers to lead by example by engaging with GameSense (84.2%), and specialized training for front-line casino employees (84.2%).

The recommendations that did not receive high endorsement were:

- Team Challenges (i.e., organizing team-based challenges or competitions that encourage casino employees to seek information from GSAs and apply it in their interactions). Only 47.3% of GSAs and GSMs endorsed this recommendation, while 52.7% did not.
- Recognition Programs (i.e., establishing a casino employee recognition program that acknowledges and rewards those who actively engage with GameSense and promote it). A low 21% of GSAs and GSMs endorsed this recommendation, while 78.9% did not believe this was a viable way to increase employment engagement with GameSense.

## Table 4

## GSA and GSM Response to Recommendations to Increase Engagement Among Employees

Recommendation	Yes, I think	We already	No, I don't	We
	this will	do this, and	think this	already do
	work	I think it	will work	this, and I
		works		think it
				doesn't
				work
Mandatory Training: Make interactions with GSAs or GSMs a mandatory	26.3%	52.6%	10.5%	10.5%
part of casino employee training, emphasizing the importance of responsible	( <i>n</i> =5)	( <i>n</i> =10)	( <i>n</i> =2)	( <i>n</i> =2)
gambling education.				
Regular Workshops: Conduct regular workshops or training sessions for	52.6%	31.6%	15.8%	8.2%
casino employees on the benefits of interacting with GSAs and promoting	( <i>n</i> =10)	( <i>n</i> =6)	( <i>n</i> =3)	( <i>n</i> =0)
responsible gambling.				
<b>Recognition Programs:</b> Establish casino employee recognition programs	10.5%	10.5%	78.9%	0.0%
that acknowledge and reward those who actively engage with GSAs and	( <i>n</i> =2)	( <i>n</i> =2)	( <i>n</i> =15)	( <i>n</i> =0)
promote responsible gambling.				
Team Challenges: Organize team-based challenges or competitions that	36.8%	10.5%	47.4%	5.3%
encourage casino employees to seek information from GSAs and apply it in	( <i>n</i> =7)	( <i>n</i> =2)	( <i>n</i> =9)	( <i>n</i> =1)
their interactions.				
<b>Referral Rewards:</b> Offer rewards or incentives to casino employees who	57.9%	21.1%	15.8%	5.3%
successfully refer players to GSAs for responsible gambling assistance.	( <i>n</i> =11)	( <i>n</i> =3)	( <i>n</i> =4)	( <i>n</i> =1)
Educational Campaigns: Launch casino educational campaigns that	68.4%	10.4%	21.1%	00%
highlight the role of GSAs and GSMs and the value of their interactions in	( <i>n</i> =13)	( <i>n</i> =2)	( <i>n</i> =4)	( <i>n</i> =0)
enhancing the casino environment.				
Managerial Support: Encourage casino managers to lead by example and	47.4%	36.8%	15.8%	0.0%
engage with GSAs themselves, setting a precedent for their teams.	( <i>n</i> =9)	( <i>n</i> =7)	( <i>n</i> =3)	( <i>n</i> =0)
<b>Cross-Training:</b> Integrate responsible gambling topics into existing training	63.2%	21.1%	10,5%	5.3%
programs to create a holistic approach to employee education.	( <i>n</i> =12)	( <i>n</i> =4)	( <i>n</i> =2)	( <i>n</i> =1)
Feedback Loop: Establish a feedback mechanism where casino employees	89.5%	0.0%	10.5%	0.0%
can share their experiences with GSAs and suggest areas for improvement.	( <i>n</i> =17)	( <i>n</i> =0)	( <i>n</i> =2)	( <i>n</i> =0)

Specialized Training: Provide specialized training to front-line casino	42.1%	42.1%	10.5%	5.3%
employees on how to effectively approach players about responsible	( <i>n</i> =8)	( <i>n</i> =8)	( <i>n</i> =2)	( <i>n</i> =1)
gambling and refer them to GSAs and GSMs.				
GSA Open House: Organize regular open house sessions where GSAs	57.9%	21.1%	21.1%	0.0%
interact with employees, share insights, and build relationships.	( <i>n</i> =11)	( <i>n</i> =4)	( <i>n</i> =4)	( <i>n</i> =0)
Peer Mentoring: Implement a peer mentoring program where experienced	63.2%	5.3%	31.6%	0.0%
casino employees guide newcomers on responsible gambling interactions.	( <i>n</i> =12)	( <i>n</i> =1)	( <i>n</i> =6)	( <i>n</i> =0)
Collaborative Initiatives: Encourage collaboration between GSAs and	57.9%	36.8%	0.0%	5.3%
GSMs and various casino departments to reinforce the importance of	( <i>n</i> =11)	( <i>n</i> =7)	( <i>n</i> =0)	( <i>n</i> =1)
responsible gambling.				
Employee Wellness Focus: Position responsible gambling interactions as	73.9%	15.8%	10.5%	0.0%
part of overall casino employee wellness, emphasizing the positive impact on	( <i>n</i> =14)	( <i>n</i> =3)	( <i>n</i> =2)	( <i>n</i> =0)
their work environment.				

*Note*. N per answer shifts due to missing data on some items

## 2.1.4 Perceptions about the Evolving Gambling Landscape in Massachusetts

As Massachusetts continues to reshape its gambling landscape (i.e., the introduction of mobile and retail sports betting), it is important to understand whether GSAs and GSMs believe these changes will affect the level of problem gambling in the Commonwealth as well as affect how GameSense is offered. Consequently, we asked them to respond to four items about the changing gambling landscape in Massachusetts. Specifically, we asked them to indicate (on a 5-point Likert scale) the extent to which they believe that the introduction of sports betting: 1) will increase gambling-related issues, 2) will require GSAs and GSMs to adapt current educational strategies, and 3) will require GSAs and GSMs to provide additional educational resources and support for players. We also asked whether they believe GSAs and GSMs are adequately informed and educated to handle the evolving gambling landscape.

Almost all GSAs and GSMs agreed that additional education resources will be needed to support players (90.5%). There was also a high level of agreement that legalized sports betting will increase gambling-related issues among players (80.9%) and that the legalization will present challenges for GSAs and GSMs (76.2%). Two-thirds of GSAs and GSMs were confident that they were adequately informed and educated about how to handle the evolving gambling landscape. See Table 5 for a summary.

## Table 5

Percent Agreement Regarding Specific Concerns About the Evolving Gambling Landscape in

Massachusetts

Item:	n	M (SD)	% agreement
I am concerned that the introduction of mobile and retail sports betting has increased gambling-related issues among players	21	4.14 (1.11)	80.9%
The evolving gambling landscape presents challenges that may require GSAs and GSMs to adapt current educational strategies	21	4.19 (0.81)	76.2%
I believe the introduction of sports betting has required GSAs and GSMs to provide additional educational resources and support for players	21	4.43 (0.68)	90.5%
I am confident that GSAs and GSMs are adequately informed and educated to handle the evolving gambling landscape	21	3.95 (1.02)	66.7%

*Note.* All responses were on a Likert scale from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). % agreement refers to the percentage who indicated that they agreed or strongly agreed (i.e., selected option 4 or 5 of 5-point Likert scale).

## 2.2 Focus Group Results: GSAs

A couple of weeks after completing the survey, two members of the research team (MW

& CD) conducted an in-person focus group with GSAs at each of the three casinos and one

virtual focus group with GSMs. It was decided to conduct the GSM meeting virtually because

the GSMs are dispersed across Massachusetts.

We conducted focus groups alongside the survey because focus groups provide a valuable complementary dimension to understanding the experiences, successes, and challenges of GSAs and GSMs in their roles (i.e., Research Question 2). Although the surveys offered insightful quantitative data, focus groups can delve deeper into the GSAs and GSMs experiences, allowing them to express their thoughts, share anecdotes, and provide nuanced perspectives. Focus groups facilitate a dynamic discussion where participants can interact with each other, potentially revealing shared concerns, alternative viewpoints, and deeper context to survey responses. This qualitative approach captures a range of their experiences not captured by the earlier survey. Additionally, the interactive nature of focus groups encouraged participants to elaborate on their responses, offering a more comprehensive understanding of the issues faced and potential solutions. Combining survey data with insights from focus groups creates a more holistic and informed basis for decision-making and improvement initiatives in the context of GSAs' and GSMs' professional experiences.

What follows is a summary of the GSA focus groups. Any commentary or recommendations noted come from the GSAs. The research team has tried to remain objective in its summary of the focus groups. Recall, the purpose of the focus groups was to give the GSAs voice. Thus, we have tried to minimize any interpretation of their voice, instead letting what they noted stand on its own.

## 2.2.1 Perceived Success of GameSense by GSAs

Focus group participants were asked to reflect on what they perceived to be some of the most successful or rewarding aspects of GameSense and of their work as a GSA. The responses from the focus group participants revealed a couple themes related to the perceived successes and rewarding aspects of their roles as GSAs. They are summarized below:

1) Deep interpersonal connections have been built with players. GSAs often described engaging in deep conversations with players about gambling issues and positioning themselves as a supportive presence, offering breaks during play to prevent excessive gambling. They noted that this approach extends beyond mere interactions about responsible gambling because GSAs see themselves as a trusted resource for various player concerns, even beyond gambling.

2) Players shifting from seeing GSAs as a potential adversary to trusted ally. Several focus group participants emphasized the significance of building personal relationships with players over time, leading to more meaningful discussions about gambling, thus highlighting the gradual shift from negative perceptions to positive associations. They also noted the effectiveness of various responsible gambling initiatives, including the voluntary self-exclusion program. GSAs expressed satisfaction in being able to provide valuable information to gamblers about responsible gambling practices, contributing to a positive perception of RG efforts within the casino environment.

The human aspect of their role as GSAs emerged as a recurring theme, emphasizing the satisfaction derived from helping patrons and being a voice of reason. GSAs find reward in educating individuals about responsible gambling behaviors, explaining game mechanics, and utilizing strategies like the 4-2-1 approach for effective communication.

In summary, GSAs underscored the importance of relationship-building, the transformation of perceptions, the effectiveness of responsible gambling initiatives, and the inherent reward in the human aspect of the GSA role.

## 2.2.2 Perceived Challenges with Implementing GameSense by GSAs

We also asked focus group participants about some of the most significant challenges that they faced in their efforts to assist players with responsible gambling. Emergent themes are summarized below:

1) There is often difficulty reaching and engaging players. A common challenge expressed by GSAs concerned reaching those who may need assistance but are reluctant to initiate a conversation about gambling (responsible or problematic). They noted that this challenge is compounded by the (mis)perception among some players that (1) GSAs are

adversaries rather than supportive figures promoting responsible gambling, and (2) being seen speaking with a GSA implies that that player has a gambling problem, which is stigmatizing.

2) Players are often vulnerable during moments of significant loss. GSAs noted that they often find themselves interacting with individuals at their lowest points, particularly when players are attempting to recover losses by chasing further wins. Dealing with such situations requires tact and sensitivity. Misperceptions and misunderstandings also emerge as challenges, with players expressing skepticism about the fairness of games and questioning the credibility of GSAs. Overcoming these misperceptions and establishing trust is a recurring difficulty. Moreover, because the role of GSAs is multifaceted, encompassing responsibilities that extend beyond providing information on responsible gambling, GSAs often find themselves in the position of counselors and support figures while facing challenges such as being blamed for losses and the misconception that they work for the casino (and thus cannot be trusted).

**3)** There are operational challenges related to the voluntary self-exclusion program. GSAs mentioned issues with the duration of exclusion, confusion surrounding voluntary selfexclusion rules, and difficulties associated with the conversion of voluntary self-exclusion to sportsbook exclusion. Additionally, the lack of coordination between GSA systems and casino systems poses challenges, particularly regarding the reenrollment of players following voluntary self-exclusion. Phone interactions present their own set of challenges, with a preference for inperson communication as it humanizes the experience. The confusion caused by the presence of the GameSense phone number on ATMs, especially in the context of online betting, is highlighted as an area for improvement. Specifically, because the GameSense phone number is posted on the ATMs, players often mistakenly believe that 1) GameSense owns and operates the

ATMs (which causes responsible gambling message confusion) and/or 2) GSAs can provide ATM tech support.

In summary, focus group responses reveal that challenges faced by GSAs encompass interpersonal dynamics, misperceptions, operational issues, and the multifaceted nature of their role. GSAs noted that recognizing and addressing these challenges is crucial for refining the effectiveness of GameSense in promoting responsible gambling and addressing the needs of players in a complex gambling landscape.

#### 2.2.3 GSA Reaction to Player and Employee Survey Results

We highlighted some of the results from the surveys we conducted with regular players (Wohl et al., 2024b) as well as front-line casino employees (Wohl et al., 2024a) and asked GSAs for their reaction to those results. We did so to probe why, despite a high level of awareness of GameSense, they think so few players take advantage of the products and services that GameSense provides. We also asked for input about how to increase the number of meaningful interactions (demonstration or exchange, or both) players have with GSAs. Below are several key themes expressed by participants.

**2.2.3.1 Perceived means to improve engagement with players.** First, we told GSAs that our surveys with players suggest that most know about GameSense, but very few engage in deeper interactions (demonstration or exchange, or both) with GSAs or use the tools available (e.g., PlayMyWay). We then asked them to discuss how engagement can be increased. They noted the following ways:

1) Reduce stigma and increase education to combat it. A prevalent theme is the stigma associated with GameSense, where players are anxious about being labeled as having a gambling problem if they engage with GSAs or use the available tools. This perception hampers patrons'

willingness to participate in deeper interactions. GSAs noted the importance of conducting demonstrations to counteract the stigma. They emphasize the need for ongoing education, framing GameSense in a non-threatening manner, and ensuring that players understand the purpose and functionality of the tools available, such as the PlayMyWay program.

2) Improve RG tool accessibility. Concerns about the effectiveness of existing tools, such as PlayMyWay, were highlighted by the GSAs. They suggested reworking the mobile app to simplify the sign-up process, improving accessibility, and providing more real-time feedback on budget limits. The current flaws, including the continuation of play after reaching the budget limit, were seen as counterproductive.

**3) Improve the physical location and accessibility of GSICs.** The location of GameSense Information Centers (GSICs) was considered a potential obstacle, contributing to the reluctance of players to seek assistance. Suggestions included placing GSICs on the gaming floor and creating a more welcoming environment, such as a lounge area, to encourage players to take breaks and discuss responsible gambling.

4) Increase community engagement and multilingual support. To address expanded gaming (e.g., sports betting) and increase the visibility of GameSense, GSAs proposed community outreach efforts, including partnerships with local organizations and increased presence in (social) media. Additionally, there was a recognized need for greater language and cultural sensitivity, suggesting the integration of employees who speak different languages to assist in translating and connecting with diverse communities.

**2.2.3.2 Perceived means to address misconception that GameSense is for problem gamblers.** We then told GSAs that many players and employees think that the main reason for GameSense is to help problem gamblers. We asked them whether this was true according to their

experience, why they think this misunderstanding exists, and what can be done to address this misconception. Analysis elucidates several themes:

1) Reduce stigma about GameSense. A prevalent theme is the existence of a stigma attached to GameSense, primarily stemming from the perception that it is solely focused on addressing problem gambling. Participants attribute this misunderstanding to the way GameSense is portrayed in advertisements and marketing materials. The consensus is that the educational component of GameSense needs to be emphasized separately from problematic gambling, positioning it as a resource for all players, including those seeking information about the games and how they work.

2) Improve communication with casino employees. GSAs highlighted the crucial role of casino employees in shaping player perceptions. There was consensus that employees often direct players to GameSense only when they suspect a gambling problem, neglecting to recommend it for general education about games. To address this, participants suggest incorporating information about GameSense on casino video boards and implementing direct communication channels with employees, ensuring that they are well-informed about the broader educational aspects of GameSense.

3) Increase visibility of GameSense and space allocated to GameSense Information Centers. GSAs expressed a need for improved visibility and recommended regular get-togethers with employees and incorporating GameSense activities during these sessions. Additionally, the GSAs stress the importance of physical space, citing challenges in dealing with more than one person at a time. Suggestions offered by GSAs included creating lounges where players can engage with GameSense advisors in a relaxed setting, away from the gaming floor. They also

expressed a need for an (aesthetically pleasing and relaxing) space where they have confidential one-on-one discussions with players about problem gambling and support services.

4) There are limitations to online chat service. GSAs acknowledged the difficulty of explaining the multifaceted nature of GameSense through online chat services. They expressed a need for alternative communication methods or a refined approach to effectively convey the diverse roles and services offered by GameSense.

**5) Restructure employee training.** GSAs suggested restructuring employee training sessions to incorporate GameSense information more prominently. They also recommend creating dedicated spaces and opportunities for engagement, such as monthly employee gatherings and lounges where players can learn about GameSense in a more casual setting.

In summary, analysis highlighted the need to combat the stigma associated with GameSense by emphasizing its educational components, improving employee communication, enhancing visibility through various channels, and creating inviting spaces for meaningful interactions. Implementing these strategies could help broaden the understanding of GameSense and encourage a more diverse range of players to engage with its services.

**2.2.3.3 Perceived means to improve engagement with casino employees.** Because there was relatively low casino employee engagement with GameSense, we asked GSAs whether there are ways to engage employees to advance the goals of GameSense and challenges they currently experience when trying to engage employees. The focus group responses shed light on aspects of casino employee training regarding GameSense and suggest opportunities for enhancement. The following themes emerged:

1) Need to expand employee training. GSAs highlight the limitation of the current employee training, emphasizing that it is only 30 minutes long and provided during new

employee onboarding. There was consensus that the training needs to extend beyond this initial session, with a focus on providing refreshers. Additionally, GSAs suggested that the training should cover a broader range of topics, including not only the basics of GameSense but also ongoing discussions about what employees are observing and the information they might need to assist players more effectively.

2) Need for re-training opportunities. GSAs mentioned that setting up a desk in the employee break room may be a practical way to enhance accessibility and encourage interactions with GameSense. They also suggested the need for re-training sessions, acknowledging that employees may benefit from ongoing education and reinforcement of GameSense principles. The idea of facilitating events and roundtable discussions was proposed as an alternative to traditional re-training, fostering open conversations about employee experiences and insights related to player interactions.

There was also a suggestion to integrate refreshers during Responsible Gambling Education Month events. GSAs envisioned this as an opportunity for open conversations and discussions rather than a formal re-training session, allowing for a more collaborative and interactive approach.

3) Increase opportunities for GSA-casino employee interaction to build their relationship. GSAs highlighted the importance of making employees aware of GSICs and creating a culture that encourages employees to seek out GameSense resources for ongoing learning and support. A noted challenge was that many employees are stationary (i.e., dealers stay behind the gaming table) and thus may have difficulty accessing GameSense resources. They noted that although efforts are made to go to stationary employees, GSAs expressed

concern about the physical layout, such as the corral, making it challenging for employees to engage with GameSense.

In summary, GSAs expressed a need for enhanced accessibility, extended training duration, and ongoing support mechanisms for casino employees regarding GameSense. They emphasized the importance of physical presence, open dialogues, and the integration of refreshers into existing events to ensure continuous education and empowerment of employees in assisting players responsibly.

#### 2.2.4 Perceived Support for Doing their Job as a GSA

We asked GSAs the extent to which they feel supported. We first asked them the extent to which they feel supported within the casino environment and then asked them the extent to which they feel supported by the Massachusetts Council on Gambling and Health. Only one theme was generated, which reflected feeling they are supported. GSAs expressed a strong sense of support within the casino environment, particularly from those responsible for regulatory compliance. A positive relationship was highlighted, with frequent interactions, support from various departments, and inclusion in casino events. The Responsible Gambling team actively collaborates with GSAs, sending individuals for discussions on disordered gambling and facilitating referrals, such as for voluntary self-exclusion. These interactions contribute to a sense of integration within the broader casino community. However, GSAs note a challenge in the perception of their role, especially in online chat interactions, where some individuals mistakenly view them as customer support for the casino rather than impartial advisors focused on responsible gambling education.

Regarding support from the MACGH, GSAs report positive experiences. Specifically, GSAs noted that MACGH provides regular updates, actively encourages attendance in seminars

and training sessions, and prioritizes education on interactions with underrepresented communities and those facing discrimination. MACGH's openness to feedback is acknowledged, fostering a collaborative and constructive relationship. Despite recognizing a hierarchy, GSAs find this understanding and acceptance of organizational dynamics reasonable. Overall, the support from both the casino environment and external organizations contributes to an environment where GSAs feel empowered and equipped to fulfill their responsibilities in promoting responsible gambling and assisting players effectively.

#### 2.2.5 GSA's Feelings About their Job

Lastly, we asked GSAs about resourcing of GameSense and their overall satisfaction with their job. They provided valuable insights into various aspects of compensation, resource allocation, and challenges faced by GSAs. The following themes emerged:

Satisfaction with their compensation and benefits. GSAs generally express
 satisfaction with their compensation (i.e., pay), highlighting the provision of holiday pay.
 However, there was a notable desire for better benefits, particularly in terms of health benefits, indicating that improvements in non-monetary aspects of compensation are sought.

2) Adequacy of resource allocation but expansion of gambling may stretch those resources. GSAs acknowledged that the current funding for GameSense is adequate, but they foresee potential challenges if the program expands to another casino as well as the expansion of gambling in Massachusetts (e.g., sports betting), indicating a need for additional resources in such cases. They appreciated the consideration of their input in cost-related decisions but expressed a desire for more budget allocation, especially for personnel (i.e., the need to hire additional GSAs).

**3)** Workload strain on the horizon. Related to the need to hire additional GSAs, they noted the introduction of sports betting as a significant factor impacting workload and the need for additional resources. Increased numbers of interactions, including voluntary self-exclusions, calls, and online chats, contribute to heightened demands on GSAs' time and energy. Indeed, GSAs identified specific challenges related to the nature of their roles, such as the need for a dedicated position for online chat interactions due to their length and complexity. Balancing various responsibilities, including floor duties, desk work, phone calls, and chats, is described as draining, indicating a need for additional support or a re-evaluation of workload distribution.

4) Need for additional training and education. There was a recognized need for more education and training, particularly in understanding certain terms and concepts (e.g., for sports betting). GSAs express a desire for regular meetings to enhance communication, address misunderstandings, and improve their overall understanding of expectations and terminology.

**5)** Challenges present with the casino. Some focus group members noted that they perceived that some casino staff see GSAs as a threat to the casino's revenue. One or two individuals noted that they had overheard casino staff referring to GSAs as "the enemy." This perception, along with the feeling of being an afterthought, raises challenges in the relationship between GSAs and casino management.

In summary, GSA responses highlight a mix of satisfaction and challenges in the resourcing of GameSense. Although compensation is generally viewed positively, there are specific needs for additional benefits, more budget allocation for personnel, and better support in addressing the challenges posed by sports betting and evolving responsibilities.

## 2.3 Focus Group Results: GSMs

Two members of the research team (MW & CD) conducted a single online focus group with all GSMs (*n*=3). It was decided to conduct the GSM meeting virtually because the GSMs are dispersed across Massachusetts. To help answer Research Question 2, the same discussion prompts used with the GSAs were used with GSMs. Because the purpose of the focus group was to give GSMs voice, we did not attempt to direct the conversation to cover all the questions we asked the GSAs. Below we outline the topics we were able to cover in the allocated one-hour session. Note, however, that the session ran almost 2 hours. The GSMs had a lot to say, and we wanted to give them the opportunity to express their thoughts. This sentiment was also expressed among GSAs.

As with the reporting of the focus groups with GSAs, any commentary or recommendations noted come from the GSMs. The purpose of this focus group was to give GSMs a voice. Thus, we have tried to minimize any interpretation of their voice, instead letting what they noted stand on its own.

### 2.3.1 Perceived Successes of GameSense by GSMs

Akin to the GSAs, the GSMs were asked to reflect on what they perceived to be some of the most successful or rewarding aspects of GameSense and of their work as a GSM. The responses from the focus group participants reveal several themes related to the perceived successes and rewarding aspects of their roles as GSAs. They are summarized below:

1) The voluntary self-exclusion program is successful. GSMs highlighted the success of the voluntary self-exclusion program as a significant achievement. The program was praised for its non-intimidating, non-accusatory or belittling nature, offering a unique approach that contrasts with procedures in other states. The emphasis is on making individuals feel less like

they are in trouble, contributing to a more approachable and supportive environment for responsible gambling interventions. All three GSMs were proud of the supportive approach taken towards voluntary self-exclusion in Massachusetts.

2) There is diversity in the GameSense team. GSMs expressed pride in the diversity of the GameSense team, reflecting the broader diversity within the casino. This inclusivity allows guests to see themselves represented in the GameSense team, fostering a sense of connection and understanding. The diverse makeup of the team is considered a positive and impactful aspect of their role.

**3) GameSense is an ever-evolving program.** The dynamic nature of GameSense and its ability to evolve in response to changes, both in technology and external factors like COVID-19, was highlighted. GSMs see themselves as driving positive changes and innovations within the program. The commitment to continuous improvement and adaptation to new challenges is considered a rewarding aspect of their role.

4) There has been a positive shift in the casino's perceptions of GameSense. GSMs noted a positive shift in the casino's perception of GameSense. In contrast to GSAs, GSMs expressed that the past perception of being seen as adversarial to the success of the casino has transformed to the point that the casinos now generally see significant buy-in for the GameSense program. This shift indicates a successful integration and collaboration between GameSense and the casino, emphasizing a more harmonious relationship focused on responsible gambling.

In summary, GSMs highlighted the voluntary self-exclusion program's success, the importance of diversity within the GameSense team, the adaptability and evolution of GameSense, and the positive transformation in the casino's perception of GameSense.

### 2.3.2 Perceived Challenges GSMs Have with GameSense

The responses from the GSMs shed light on various challenges encountered in their role. We summarize them below:

1) Patron skepticism and stigma about GameSense. A recurring theme is guest skepticism about GameSense due to its perceived association with the casino operator. Another challenge expressed was the need to overcome the perception that GameSense is solely for problem gamblers and emphasizing its availability for all players. Addressing the stigma associated with problem gambling was also noted, requiring persistent efforts and a personable approach to break down barriers.

2) There are staffing and resource allocation challenges. GSMs expressed challenges in obtaining adequate staffing and support from management for the GSIC. Concerns about resource allocation and the need for more transparency in decision-making processes, particularly regarding projects like the Augmented Reality initiative, were highlighted. They noted that difficulty in keeping the center open, covering staff absences, and understanding resource allocation decisions pose operational challenges.

3) There is a need to improve communication and collaboration with MACGH. Issues related to communication and the relationship with the MACGH were prominent. GSMs expressed the need for more collaboration with MACGH, emphasizing the importance of candid conversations. There is a perceived disconnect between MACGH working remotely and the onsite operations, leading to feelings of being misunderstood. This disconnect was noted as a factor in morale issues—feeling undervalued. GSMs emphasize the need for candid conversations, suggesting that surface-level solutions and lack of follow-through contribute to a decline in morale. Concerns about upper management's attendance and commitment to meetings indicate a desire for more effective leadership and team support. There was a desire for more frequent

program evaluations and climate surveys. GSMs expressed a need for centralized messaging and autonomy in decision-making, advocating for a streamlined communication process and more independence in executing GameSense initiatives. They noted challenges that arise from conflicting instructions and a perceived lack of responsiveness from external organizations.

4) Need to strengthen the partnership with the casino management. There was a desire to strengthen the partnership with casino management, to exceed industry standards as it relates to responsible gambling programming, and to pioneer innovative approaches to help players gamble responsibly. GSMs stressed the importance of collaboration for events and experimenting with new strategies to distinguish GameSense as a unique and pioneering program in the responsible gambling landscape.

In summary, GSMs noted challenges related to guest perceptions, staffing, communication with MACGH, team morale, and the need for innovation. Their recommendations include transparent communication, addressing staffing concerns, fostering a positive work environment, and enhancing collaboration with external partners to ensure the continued success and impact of the GameSense program.

## 2.3.3 GSMs' Reaction to Player and Employee Survey Results

Akin to the GSA focus groups, we wanted to highlight some of the results from the surveys we conducted with regular players (Wohl et al., 2024b) as well as front-line casino employees (Wohl et al., 2024a) and asked GSMs for their reactions to those results. Due to time pressures, however, we were only able to ask GSMs to comment on the survey results that suggest very few regular players engage with GSAs in deeper interactions (demonstration or exchange, or both) or use the tools available. We asked for input about how to increase the

number of meaningful interactions (demonstration or exchange, or both) players have with GSAs. The following themes were identified:

1) There is a need for more and better community outreach. GSMs emphasized the importance of community outreach as a central strategy for increasing player engagement with GameSense. This includes initiatives such as going to malls, visiting schools to educate children about responsible gambling (despite challenges and pushback), and engaging with diverse linguistic communities. The need for a centralized structure for outreach efforts was highlighted, along with the call for more thoughtful resource allocation, considering linguistic diversity. Improved coordination and collaboration between outreach directors, GameSense managers, and representatives from the MACGH were suggested to enhance the effectiveness of outreach initiatives.

2) Need for improved management of GameSense projects. GSMs expressed frustration with the multitude of projects on their plate, some of which are unrelated to GameSense, and the challenge of completing projects. This theme highlights the need for improved project management, focus, and prioritization within the GameSense program. They suggested that a more targeted approach would be helpful to ensure that projects are initiated, developed, and brought to successful completion. This theme underscores the importance of efficiency and strategic planning in the execution of initiatives to enhance the overall effectiveness of the GameSense program.

3) Need for improved GameSense employee satisfaction and retention. GSMs expressed a strong affection for the GameSense program, but the frustrations related to project management and incomplete initiatives have led to employee dissatisfaction and, in some cases, staff turnover. This theme highlights the importance of addressing employee satisfaction and

retention within the GameSense team. It emphasizes the need for a supportive work environment, streamlined processes, and effective management to retain experienced staff and sustain a positive team dynamic.

4) Need for internal casino outreach and education. Recognizing the importance of internal outreach, GSMs emphasized the need to educate casino employees and provide ongoing training. This theme suggests the significance of continuous education, including refreshers in addition to new hire orientation, to keep casino staff informed about GameSense initiatives and responsible gambling practices. Internal outreach serves as a strategy not only for employee education but also for fostering a collaborative relationship between GameSense and other casino departments.

## 2.3.4 GSMs' Feelings About their Job

Lastly, we asked GSMs about resourcing of GameSense. We had limited time (this issue was raised during the last few minutes of the focus group) and thus, more may have been mentioned if there was more time. However, in the time dedicated to this issue, GSMs noted that their pay had not changed even though the skill set required to be a GSM has expanded greatly over the years, in part, due to the changing gambling landscape in Massachusetts.

Each of our focus groups (with GSAs and with GSMs) went well beyond the intended time limits—not because we had too many questions to ask but rather because participants had a lot they wanted to express. At the conclusion of the focus groups with both GSAs and GSMs, participants spontaneously expressed their desire for more such meetings. The anonymous nature of the meetings and the fact that we were independent gave participants the confidence to speak freely with the hope that their voices would be heard. The GSAs and GSMs are proud of the work that they are doing, and they sincerely hope that their suggestions to improve GameSense will be given due consideration. As the gambling landscape continues to evolve in Massachusetts, they expressed a desire for more of these focus groups in the future.

#### 3. Discussion

In the current research, we surveyed GSAs and GSMs and then followed up with focus groups with these GameSense ambassadors. By directly involving individuals actively engaged in the GameSense initiative, this report aims to consolidate their perspectives, offering valuable insights to guide future enhancements and adjustments to the GameSense program. Moreover, the purpose was to give GSAs and GSMs voice about the successes and challenges they face implementing GameSense.

The survey aimed to evaluate the perceived impact of the GameSense program on players from the perspectives of GSAs and GSMs, addressing Research Question 1. Specifically, the purpose of the survey was to get a breadth of knowledge about the perceived effectiveness of the GameSense program in Massachusetts. We did so by exploring the extent to which they believed patrons were aware of and engaged with GameSense. GSAs and GSMs estimated that approximately two-thirds of regular players are aware of GameSense and approximately half of all regular patrons have had a demonstration and/or exchange interaction with a GSA. Moreover, GSAs felt that more than half of simple interactions lead to more meaningful demonstrations or exchanges, indicating the potential for gradual progression in responsible gambling discussions.

GSAs and GSMs provided specific recommendations for increasing patron and employee engagement. Collaborative initiatives, enhancing GSIC visibility, promoting interactive activities, integrating information into apps, and using social media were strongly endorsed by GSAs and GSMs. These recommendations highlight the need for a multifaceted approach to maximize outreach and impact. As Massachusetts undergoes changes in its gambling landscape,

GSAs and GSMs foresee increased gambling-related issues and acknowledge the need for additional educational resources to support players. The evolving gambling landscape necessitates continuous education and training for GSAs and GSMs to ensure they are wellequipped to address emerging challenges effectively.

We then conducted focus groups with GSAs and GSMs (separately) to gain depth in understanding their experiences and perspectives, and to give them voice about the future of GameSense in Massachusetts. GSAs expressed positive sentiments regarding their relationships within the casino environment. They highlighted good rapport with casino Responsible Gambling representatives and participation in various casino events. However, challenges arose from the misconception among patrons that GSAs are primarily customer support (e.g., for ATM-related problems), pointing to the need for improved clarity of their role. GSAs also reported satisfactory support from the MACGH. The MACGH provided updates, training opportunities, and welcomed feedback. Although acknowledging hierarchical considerations, GSAs expressed a need for more education and better understanding of MACGH terminology.

The resourcing of GameSense emerged as a significant theme. GSAs appreciated compensation but expressed concerns about budget constraints, especially with the introduction of sports betting. Suggestions included additional staff, specialized positions, and improved working conditions to enhance morale.

Many of the themes expressed by GSAs were echoed by GSMs. However, there were some differences. GSMs highlighted successes such as the non-intimidating voluntary selfexclusion program, whilst GSAs noted some operational challenges with the program (e.g., confusion about some players about the rules and difficulties associated with the conversion of voluntary self-exclusion to sportsbook exclusion). Additionally, whilst GSMs expressed a

positive shift in casino perception towards GameSense, they also expressed that some casino staff still see GSAs as a threat. The variation in beliefs about casino buy-in may be that the two groups are interacting with different casino-staff groups. Specifically, GSMs were referring to casino management, including employees of the casino whose job it is to meet responsible gambling regulations in Massachusetts (e.g., those who work in responsible gambling compliance), whilst the GSAs were referencing employees who work on the gaming floor (e.g., dealers). Lastly, although GSAs noted feeling supported by MACGH, GSMs (i.e., those who are directly responsible for the management of the program at the three casinos) expressed internal challenges including concerns about resource allocation and a desire for clearer communication from the MACGH, and the need to have their voices regularly heard (e.g., about how to increase engagement with patrons).

Lastly, both GSAs and GSMs suggested a need for targeted efforts in marketing and messaging to dispel the myth that GameSense is solely for problem gamblers. They argued that education and awareness campaigns should be prioritized, emphasizing its contribution beyond problem gambling mitigation. Internal strategies, such as regular employee gatherings and reconsideration of GSIC locations, may contribute to altering public perceptions and encouraging proactive engagement.

#### 3.1 Summary of GSA and GSM Recommendations

Based on their survey responses and focus group insights, GSAs and GSMs offered several recommendations:

1. *Strengthen Educational Outreach*: Prioritize efforts to destigmatize GameSense, emphasizing its role in responsible gambling education for all players. Invest in ongoing

education campaigns to clarify misconceptions, particularly focusing on the nonthreatening nature of the program.

- 2. *Optimize Tools and Accessibility:* Address concerns raised by GSAs regarding the effectiveness of existing tools, such as PlayMyWay. Invest in the reworking of mobile apps for simplicity, accessibility, and real-time feedback on budget limits. Consider strategic placement of GameSense Information Centers on gaming floors for improved accessibility.
- Boost Community Engagement: Boost community outreach efforts, including collaborations with local organizations, to increase visibility. Prioritize partnerships to engage diverse linguistic communities, integrating employees who speak different languages to enhance communication and accessibility.
- 4. Innovate to Combat Stigma: Develop innovative strategies to combat guest skepticism and the stigma associated with GameSense. Pioneer new approaches to distinguish GameSense as a unique and pioneering program in responsible gambling, exceeding industry standards.
- 5. Streamline Communication and Collaboration: Address challenges related to communication and collaboration between GSMs and the casino, but particularly with MACGH. Foster a more streamlined communication process, emphasizing transparency, and ensuring frequent program evaluations and climate surveys (i.e., assessments of GSA and GSM perceptions and experiences of the workplace environment; e.g., leadership, communication, job satisfaction).
- 6. *Increased support for GSAs and GSMs*: Acknowledge the unique challenges faced by GSAs and GSMs. Provide additional support and resources, including opportunities for

continuous education, streamlined project management, and strategies for employee satisfaction and retention.

- 7. *Strengthen Leadership and Team Dynamics*: Implement effective leadership strategies to improve morale among GSMs. Strengthen internal team dynamics by addressing concerns related to project management, ensuring completion of initiatives, and providing ongoing support for a positive work environment.
- 8. *Monitor Workload and Resource Allocation*: Regularly evaluate workload distribution for GSAs, particularly with the introduction of sports betting. Ensure adequate resource allocation, considering the potential challenges associated with the expansion of the GameSense program.
- 9. Annual "Voice" Assessment by a Third-Party: To further enhance the transparency and credibility of the GameSense program evaluation, it is strongly recommended that the Massachusetts Gaming Commission consider engaging a third-party entity to conduct similar comprehensive assessments on an annual basis. The feedback from both GSAs and GSMs highlighted the value they placed on having an impartial third party conduct the evaluation, fostering a sense of trust and objectivity. Annual evaluations conducted by an external entity can provide ongoing insights into the program's strengths and areas for improvement, ensuring a consistent and unbiased approach to the assessment process. This practice not only maintains a commitment to transparency but also demonstrates a proactive stance in continuously refining the GameSense program to meet evolving needs and challenges within the gambling landscape.

## **3.2** Conclusion

The purpose of the research outlined in the current report was to provide GSAs and GSMs voice in the evaluation of the GameSense program in Massachusetts. GSAs and GSMs offered valuable insights that illuminate both the successes of GameSense and areas for enhancement. GSAs and GSMs underscored the significance of support structures and clearer communication channels. For instance, they stressed the importance of building a relationship with patrons, which can help interactions progress from casual exchanges to in-depth discussions about responsible gambling. However, challenges persist, necessitating a closer examination of resource allocation and tailored training programs to fortify the GSAs' capacity.

As the MGC navigates the evolving gambling terrain, the introduction of sports betting is an emergent issue for GSAs and GSMs. They anticipate an increase in gambling-related issues as a result, which demands a proactive approach. Consequently, there is a desire to be well equipped to address this evolving gambling landscape in Massachusetts. Based on the desires of the GSAs and GSMs, we recommend refining communication strategies and boosting GSIC visibility to leverage interactive activities and social media for outreach. The call for continuous education initiatives echoed loudly, underscoring the commitment required to align expectations and empower both patrons and GSAs for responsible gambling practices.

GSAs and GSMs believe GameSense is a dynamic and indispensable program, and that the program is at a juncture where strategic interventions can propel GameSense into a transformative phase. There is a firm commitment to the program and a belief that by proactively embracing the recommendations, GameSense has the potential to not only meet but exceed expectations, cultivating a safer and more informed gambling landscape for the players in Massachusetts.

#### References

- Abarbanel, B., Gray, H. M., LaPlante, D. A., & Bernhard, B. J. (2019). Association between employee department and responsible gambling program perceptions. *International Gambling Studies*, 19(3), 471–488. https://doi.org/10.1080/14459795.2019.1615528
- Abarbanel, B., Xu, T., Kraus, S., Gray, H. M., Louderback, E. R., LaPlante, D., & Bernhard, B. (2022). Association between casino resort employee department and responsible gambling program perceptions: A three-year follow-up study. *International Gambling Studies*, 22(3), 390–411. https://doi.org//10.1080/14459795.2021.2007976
- Gehan, J. P., Toomey, T. L., Jones-Webb, R., Rothstein, C., & Wagenaar, A. C. (1999). Alcohol outlet workers and managers: Focus groups on responsible service practices. *Journal of Alcohol and Drug Education*, 60-71. https://www.jstor.org/stable/45092248
- Gray, H. M., Keating, L., Shaffer, H. J., & LaPlante, D. A. (2020). Observations of the first GameSense-branded responsible gambling centre in a US casino. *Health Education Journal*, 79(1), 104–120. https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896919863121
- Louderback, E. R., Gray, H. M., LaPlante, D. A., Abarbanel, B., & Bernhard, B. J. (2022a).
  A comparison of two GameSense implementation approaches: How program awareness and engagement relate to gambling beliefs and behaviors. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 38(1), 153–183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-021-10013-6
- Louderback, E. R., LaPlante, D. A., Abarbanel, B., Kraus, S. W., Bernhard, B. J., & Gray, H. M. (2022b). Examining responsible gambling program awareness and engagement trends and relationships with gambling beliefs and behaviors: A three-wave study of customers from a major gambling operator. *Journal of Gambling Studies, 1–29*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-022-10109-7
- Perlmutter, D., Wettemann, C., Fockele, C. E., Frohe, T., Williams, W., Holland, N., Oliphant Wells, T, Meischke, H., & van Draanen, J. (2023). "Another tool in the toolkit"—
  Perceptions, suggestions, and concerns of emergency service providers about the implementation of a supervised consumption site. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, *115*, 104005.
- Wohl, M. J. A., Gaudett, G. E., Davis, C. G., Orazani, S. N., & Tabri, N. (2024a). Player-facing employees' awareness of and engagement with GameSense in Massachusetts casinos
   [Report]. Massachusetts Gaming Commission.
- Wohl, M. J. A., Gaudett, G. E., Davis, C. G., & Tabri, N. (2024b). *Players' awareness of and* engagement with GameSense in Massachusetts casinos [Report]. Massachusetts
   Gaming Commission.

# GameSense: GSA/GSM Survey

# **Start of Block: Informed Consent**

**Research personnel:** The following people are involved in this study, and may be contacted at any time if you have questions or concerns:

Dr. Michael Wohl (Principal Investigator; <u>michael.wohl@carleton.ca</u>; 613-520-2600, ext. 2908);

Dr. Nassim Tabri (Principal Investigator; <u>nassim.tabri@carleton.ca</u>; 613-520-2600, ext. 1727);

Dr. Chris Davis (Principal Investigator; <u>chris.davis@carleton.ca</u>; 613-520-2600, ext. 2251); Gray Gaudett (Other research personnel; <u>GrayGaudett@cmail.carleton.ca</u>); Nima Orazani (Other research personnel; <u>NimaOrazani@cunet.carleton.ca</u>); Amy Ortis (Other research personnel; <u>AmyOrtis@cunet.carleton.ca</u>);

**Concerns:** Should you have any ethical concerns about this research, please contact the Carleton University Ethics Board (<u>ethics@carleton.ca</u>).

**Purpose and Task Requirements:** We are asking for some input from GameSense Advisors (GSAs) and GameSense Managers (GSMs) about GameSense. We are interested in your thoughts about the GameSense brand, the GameSense Information Centers (GSICs), and your interactions with patrons. We will also present you with the results of surveys we have conducted with patrons and ask for your thoughts on those results. We welcome your input.

**Potential Risk/Discomfort:** We anticipate no physical discomfort to you as a result of your participation in this study.

**Benefits/Compensation:** We are offering a \$20 Amazon.com Gift Card for completing this online survey, which should take you approximately 10 min. Your gift card will be emailed to you should you provide us with a valid email address.

**Anonymity/Confidentiality:** The information you provide will be kept confidential. This information will be aggregated with the information collected from other GSAs and GSMs and used only for research and knowledge translation purposes. All information collected will be stored securely on Qualtrics servers located in the United States. Data will be stored on the lead researcher's secure MS Teams channel dedicated to this project.

Because there will be no personal information associated with the data, the dataset will be stored electronically and kept indefinitely. Additionally, we will upload this anonymized dataset to an online data repository called Open Science Framework (http://osf.io/) for research and teaching purposes. Aggregate data may also be used in publications, presentations, and future research. The (fully anonymized) data from this study may be released to journals upon request. Lastly, anonymized data may be shared with trusted colleagues.

**Right to withdraw:** Participation in this study is entirely voluntary. You may decline to answer certain questions or to withdraw your data upon completion of the survey. To withdraw your data, please email the researchers. Upon withdrawal, all your information will be permanently deleted. If you would like to withdraw during the study, you may click the "withdraw" button at the bottom of each page. By clicking "withdraw" you will automatically be re-directed to the debriefing page including the links to access support services. If you would like to withdraw but still be compensated for the survey, please continue to the end of the survey (without answering any questions) and provide us with your email address.

This study has received clearance by the Carleton University Research Ethics Board B (Reference **#119970**) and is being funded by Massachusetts Gaming Commission.

Consent By checking this box, you agree to the following terms:

I have read the above form and understand the conditions of my participation. I understand that I will be compensated with a \$20 Amazon.com Gift Card for my participation in this study (please note that you will need to provide an email address to be compensated). My participation in this study is voluntary. (1)

I do not consent to the study. (2)

**End of Block: Informed Consent** 

**Start of Block: Instruction Block 1** 

Thank you for agreeing to participate!

We greatly value your expertise and experience as frontline ambassadors of the GameSense program.

You interact with players daily and possess a wealth of knowledge that can help us make recommendations about the program.

Your input will play a vital role in shaping the future of responsible gambling initiatives and ensuring that GameSense continues to make a positive impact.

On the next page, we will ask you some questions about your experience with GameSense. Specifically, we will ask you about your experiences with regular players as well as casino employees.

**End of Block: Instruction Block 1** 

**Start of Block: GSA Experience Block** 

**INSTRUCTIONS:** This block of items asks you about your experience with *regular players*.

A regular player = an individual who has gambled at your home casino at least 3 times in the last 3 month.

\*\*\*Respond to these items based on what you think is currently true, and *not* what you hope will be true in the future\*\*\*

[All responses will be on a slider scale from 0% to 100%]

Aware In your experience, what percent of regular players are aware of GameSense?

Target In your experience, what percent of *regular players* correctly believe GameSense is for all players (i.e., from recreational gamblers to those who are living with a gambling disorder)?

Visit\_RG In your experience, what percent of visits to a GameSense Information Center (GSIC) are because *regular players* want to know more about responsible gambling (e.g., know how a game works, learn about RG, learn about gambling-related myths)?

Visit\_Non-RG In your experience, what percent of visits to a GSIC by *regular players* are for non-responsible gambling reasons (e.g., they wanted to get swag)?

Visit\_lounge In your experience, what percent of visits to a GSIC by *regular players* are for the purpose of using the GSIC as place to take a break from the gaming (e.g., as a lounge, as a place to connect with GSAs they consider friends)?

Visit\_DG In your experience, what percent of visits to a GSIC are because *regular players* want to know more about supports for problem gambling (e.g. voluntary self-exclusion)? [use a slider scale from 0% to 100%]

# INSTRUCTIONS: This block of items asks you about your experience with *all players* who gamble at your home casino (i.e., all individuals who come to the casino to gamble).

Demonstration In your experience, what percentage of your interactions with players could be considered a demonstration interaction (i.e., a longer, communication from a GSA or GSM about how a game, responsible gaming tool, or concept works)?

[use a slider scale from 0% to 100%]

Exchange In your experience, what percentage of your interactions with players could be considered an exchange interaction (i.e., a two-way communication with a GameSense Advisor about responsible gaming or problem gaming)?

[use a slider scale from 0% to 100%]

Translate What percentage of non-RG related interactions with players are you able to translate into an exchange or demonstration interaction (i.e., a player approaches you with a non-RG question and you are able to shift that interaction to one about RG)?

[use a slider scale from 0% to 100%]

**End of Block: GSA Experience Block** 

**Start of Block: Results Block** 

# Below are some high-level findings from the survey of players and front-line casino employees.

Our evaluation of GameSense revealed valuable insights. We highlight some insights below:

- 1. A significant portion of players were aware of GameSense, with the majority recognizing its role in educating individuals who gamble about responsible gambling.
- 2. Only half of regular players as well as front-line casino employees believed that GameSense is relevant to all individuals who gamble. The remainder tend to believe it is mostly for individuals with gambling problems.
- 3. A small percentage of regular players and half of the front-line casino employees reported visiting a GSIC, with common reasons for visits including stumbling upon the center and going out of curiosity.
- 4. Common reasons players and front-line casino employees mentioned for not visiting a GSIC include the belief that they already know all that they need to know about responsible gambling and how games work.

- 5. In terms of interactions with GSAs and GSMs, a small percentage of regular players and front-line employees reported that they engaged with a GSA and/or GSM. Most of these interactions were simple in nature.
- 6. Those who had a meaningful interaction with a GSA or GSM (i.e., had demonstration or exchange interaction) felt more informed about responsible gambling compared to those who had only a simple interaction.

Overall, when people engage with GSAs and GSMs, they have a positive experience and come away more informed.

**End of Block: Results Block** 

**Start of Block: Impression of Results Block** 

# **INSTRUCTIONS:** On the next couple of pages, we will ask you to provide feedback on the results we just presented to you.

Gut Overall, what is your initial reaction to the results we just provided to you?

Surprise Overall, what result surprised you the most (if any)?

Challenge Were there any specific findings that stood out to you as a clear challenge or opportunity for you as a GSA or GSM or for GameSense as a whole?

Improve What is one thing you think can be done to close the gap between awareness of GameSense and engagement with it (i.e., visiting a GSIC or interacting with a GSA or GSM)?

Page Break

INSTRUCTIONS: Below is a list of ways to potentially increase the number of players who engage with GameSense (i.e., visit a GSIC and/or having a Responsible Gambling-based interaction with a GSA or GSM).

[Response options "Yes, I think this will work" "No, I don't think this will work" "We already do this, and I think it works" "We already do this, and I think it doesn't work"]

- 2. **Offer Informative Workshops:** Conduct workshops or sessions to casino patrons that highlight the benefits of visiting a GSIC and provide insights into responsible gambling practices.
- 3. **Promote Interactive Activities:** Organize interactive activities or games within GSICs to attract patrons and encourage them to engage with responsible gambling resources.
- 4. Enhance the visibility of GSICs: Give them a more prominent location in the casino environment.
- 5. **Collaborate with Promotions:** Coordinate with marketing and promotions teams to integrate GSIC information into ongoing casino promotions.
- 6. **Host Guest Speakers:** Arrange talks or presentations by experts on responsible gambling topics to draw patrons' attention to GSICs.
- 7. **Utilize Social Media:** Use social media platforms to share success stories, testimonials, and engaging content related to GSIC visits.
- 8. **Offer Incentives:** Provide casino incentives such as discounts, giveaways, or reward program points for players who have an RG-based interaction with a GSA or GSM.
- 9. Integrate GSIC Info on Apps: Make information about GSIC locations, services, and benefits more visible on the casino's mobile app.
- 10. Leverage Patron Feedback: Actively seek input from patrons to tailor GSIC offerings to their preferences and needs.
- 11. **Cross-Promote with Amenities:** Collaborate with dining, shopping, or other amenities within the casino to cross-promote GSICs.
- 12. **Implement Ambassador Programs:** Train select casino staff to serve as GSIC ambassadors, guiding patrons toward GSIC visits.

- 13. **Provide Virtual Tours:** Offer virtual tours or online previews of GSICs to encourage patrons to explore in-person.
- 14. Add a "Take a Break" sitting area: Increase the size of the GSIC to have a dedicated "Take a Break" sitting area that would be advertised as a place where players can take a break from gambling.
- 15. Other (please specify): \_\_\_\_\_

Page Break

INSTRUCTIONS: Below is a list of ways to potentially increase the proportion of frontline casino employees who interact with GameSense Advisors (GSAs) about responsible gambling.

**Front-line casino employee** = An individual who may interact with casino patrons in various capacities within the casino environment.

[Response options "Yes" "No" "We already do this, and I think it works" "We already do this, and I think it doesn't work"]

- 1. **Mandatory Training:** Make interactions with GSAs or GSMs a mandatory part of casino employee training, emphasizing the importance of responsible gambling education.
- 2. **Regular Workshops:** Conduct regular workshops or training sessions for casino employees on the benefits of interacting with GSAs and promoting responsible gambling.
- 3. **Recognition Programs:** Establish casino employee recognition programs that acknowledge and reward those who actively engage with GSAs and promote responsible gambling.
- 4. **Team Challenges:** Organize team-based challenges or competitions that encourage casino employees to seek information from GSAs and apply it in their interactions.
- 5. **Referral Rewards:** Offer rewards or incentives to casino employees who successfully refer players to GSAs for responsible gambling assistance.
- 6. **Educational Campaigns:** Launch casino educational campaigns that highlight the role of GSAs and GSMs and the value of their interactions in enhancing the casino environment.

- 7. **Managerial Support:** Encourage casino managers to lead by example and engage with GSAs themselves, setting a precedent for their teams.
- 8. **Cross-Training:** Integrate responsible gambling topics into existing training programs to create a holistic approach to employee education.
- 9. **Feedback Loop:** Establish a feedback mechanism where casino employees can share their experiences with GSAs and suggest areas for improvement.
- 10. **Specialized Training:** Provide specialized training to front-line casino employees on how to effectively approach players about responsible gambling and refer them to GSAs and GSMs.
- 11. **GSA Open House:** Organize regular open house sessions where GSAs interact with employees, share insights, and build relationships.
- 12. **Peer Mentoring:** Implement a peer mentoring program where experienced casino employees guide newcomers on responsible gambling interactions.
- 13. **Collaborative Initiatives:** Encourage collaboration between GSAs and GSMs and various casino departments to reinforce the importance of responsible gambling.
- 14. **Employee Wellness Focus:** Position responsible gambling interactions as part of overall casino employee wellness, emphasizing the positive impact on their work environment.
- 15. Other (please specify): \_\_\_\_\_

# **Start of Block: Instruction Block X**

As part of MGC's and MACGH's ongoing commitment to providing the best possible support to players, we will now ask you for your insights and perspectives on the changing gambling landscape (i.e., the introduction of mobile and retail sports betting).

Your valuable input will help tailor GameSense strategies and resources to effectively address these changes and continue promoting responsible gambling practices.

**End of Block: Instruction Block X** 

Start of Block: Evolving Landscape Block

Concern I am concerned that the introduction of mobile and retail sports gambling in Massachusetts has lead to increased gambling-related issues among players.

- Strongly Disagree
- o Disagree
- o Neutral
- o Agree
- o Strongly Agree

Adapt The evolving gaming landscape, including mobile sports gambling, presents challenges that may require GSAs and GSMs to adapt current educational strategies.

- Strongly Disagree
- o Disagree
- o Neutral
- o Agree
- Strongly Agree

GS1 I believe that the introduction of sports betting has required GSAs and GSMs to provide additional educational resources and support for players.

- Strongly Disagree
- o Disagree
- o Neutral
- o Agree
- o Strongly Agree

GS2 I am confident that GSAs and GSMs are adequately informed and educated to handle the evolving gambling landscape in Massachusetts.

- Strongly Disagree
- o Disagree
- o Neutral
- o Agree
- o Strongly Agree

GS2 Do you have any other concerns about GameSense as it relates to the changes in the gambling landscape in Massachusetts?

**Start of Block: Demographics** 

Age What is your age?

- 1. 18-24
- 2. 25 34
- 3. 35 44
- 4. 45 54
- 5. 55 64
- 6. 65 and above

Job How long have you been a GSA or GSM (GSMs should include the time they were a GSA too, if applicable)?

- 1. Less than 6 months
- 2. 6 months 1 year
- 3. 1 2 years
- 4. 3-4 years
- 5. 5 years or more

**End of Block: Demographics** 

**Start of Block: Compensation** 

# Thank you for completing the GSA/GSM Survey!

The information you have provided in this survey will help us provide better tools to promote positive play. Your feedback will help us improve GameSense-branded services.

Email To receive your \$20 Amazon.com Gift Card, please provide an email address below (gift cards will be distributed within 48 hours. We appreciate your patience):

**End of Block: Compensation** 

**Start of Block: Debriefing** 

# Thank you for participating in this research!

# What is the purpose of this evaluation?

The purpose of this research is to gather your valuable insights and perspectives as GameSense Advisors and GameSense Managers on the evolving gambling landscape, specifically in the context of Massachusetts. We aim to understand your concerns, thoughts, and potential challenges related to the introduction of mobile and retail sports betting. By seeking your input, we strive to adapt our GameSense initiatives to effectively address emerging trends and ensure that our responsible gambling education remains relevant and impactful. Your feedback will play a vital role in shaping the strategies and resources we develop to enhance the well-being of players and promote responsible gaming practices. Thank you for your essential contributions to this important endeavor.

# If I have any further questions, please feel free to contact us:

If you have any questions or comments about this research, please feel free to contact Dr. Michael Wohl @ <u>michael.wohl@carleton.ca</u>

Should you wish to contact us at a later date, please make note of Michael's email address or ask Ray Fluette for his email address.

# Ethical concerns:

This study has received ethics clearance by the Carleton University Research Ethics Board-B (CUREB-B Reference **#119970**). If you have any ethical concerns about this study, please contact the Carleton University Research Ethics Board-B (<u>ethics@carleton.ca</u>).

**End of Block: Debriefing** 

### **Appendix B: Semi-Structured Interview Questions**

### **General Questions:**

- Can you describe what you believe has been the most significant success in your role as a GameSense Advisor? [follow-up] what do you find most rewarding about your role as a GSA?
- 2. On the flip side, what's the most significant challenge you've encountered while assisting players with responsible gambling? [follow-up] What do you find the least rewarding or most difficult about your role as a GSA?
- 3. **Time permitting:** From your perspective, how have players generally responded to the GameSense program? What have players found the most useful or helpful? What do you think is important about having GSAs available at the casinos?

# **Specific to Research Findings:**

- 4. It seems from our surveys with players that most know about GS, but very few engage in deeper interactions (demonstration and/or exchange) with advisors or use the tools available. Why do you think so few players take advantage of the products and services that GS provides? How do you think we can increase the number of meaningful interactions (demonstration and/or exchange) players have with GSAs?
- 5. Many players and employee think that the main reason for GameSense is to help problem gamblers. Is that your experience? Why do you think this misunderstanding exists? What are the consequences? What can be done about this?
- 6. **Time permitting:** The surveys found that, in addition to responsible-gaming-related reasons, many players engage with GameSense Advisors to obtain promotional items and

swag. How does this align with your experiences, and how effective is this (if effective) to motivate players to learn more about what GS has to offer?

7. The surveys indicated a challenge in attracting younger patrons to responsible gambling programs. What do you think contributes to this? What strategies do you think would be effective in engaging younger players and promoting responsible gambling?

#### **Specific to Recommendations:**

- 11. **Time permitting:** We recommended the development clear communication strategies to highlight GameSense's independence from the casinos and clarify GSAs' employment status. Do you find that players (and employees) think you are employee by the casino? If so, what effect do you think it has, and what can be done about it?
- 12. We understand that all casino employees receive training on GS when they are hired. What (if anything) do you know about new employee training about GS? Are there ways that this training could be enhanced to help you do your job (during the conversation prompt the notion of re-training or GSA facilitated events; not that employees to talk to GSAs were more likely to refer)?
- 13. A recommendation from the research was to promote GSIC as a lounge and then leverage that to initiate conversations. What are your thoughts about such a recommendation? Do you have specific strategies or ideas you believe would be particularly effective in engaging players with varying motivations?

### **Specific to Attracting Players:**

16. In your experience, what approaches or strategies do you believe can be effective in attracting more players to practice responsible gambling? [this is kinda like #8]

### Specific to Support in the Casino Environment:

17. How supported do you feel within the casino environment in your role as a GameSense Advisor? How integrated do you feel into the casino environment (might better integration result in better uptake of GS)? Are their activities you want to engage in that are stifled by being a third party in the casino?

# Specific to Support from Massachusetts Council on Gambling and Health:

18. Time permitting: Could you share your experiences regarding the support you've received from the Massachusetts Council on Gambling and Health? How could their support be improved to enhance your role as a GameSense Advisor?

# **Blue Sky Questions:**

- 20. What innovative methods or tools would you like to see implemented to promote responsible gambling and attract players to GameSense?
- 21. How can GameSense be better integrated into the community and/or other forms of gaming (e.g., sports wagering)?
- 22. We would like to turn your attention to resourcing of GS. Do you feel sufficiently compensated for your time? What additional resources do you think would be valuable for the GameSense program to achieve its goals?